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Created on 3 September 2007 from the merger  
of First Choice Holidays PLC and the Tourism 
Division of TUI AG, TUI Travel PLC (TUI Travel)  
has become one of the world’s leading 
international leisure travel groups operating  
in over 180 countries with more than 30 million 
customers in 25 source markets. 

Through market-leading Mainstream brands and 
an unparalleled portfolio of specialist businesses 
the Group is focused on providing customers with 
a wide choice of differentiated and flexible travel 
experiences to meet their changing needs, while 
leveraging its flexible business model to manage 
supply in line with demand. 

Led by a management team with a track record of 
delivering shareholder value and a clear strategy 
for delivering significant margin improvement and 
growth, TUI Travel is well positioned to maximise 
returns for shareholders.

The Annual Report contains forward-looking 
statements that are subject to risk factors associated 
with, amongst other things, the economic and 
business circumstances occurring from time to 
time in countries and Sectors in which the Group 
operates. It is believed that the expectations 
reflected in these statements are reasonable but 
they may be affected by a wide range of variables 
which could cause actual results to differ from those 
currently anticipated.
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Mainstream Sector

65%
Percentage of Group 
underlying operating profit**

Financial Highlights* Revenue

£13,932m +9%

Making travel 
experiences
special

 07
 08

 £12,840m
 £13,932m

Underlying earnings per share 

20.4p +42%
 07
 08

 14.4p
 20.4p

Underlying operating profit 

£398.0m +53%
 07
 08

 £260.5m
 £398.0m

Dividend per share 

9.7p +16%
 07
 08

 8.4p
 9.7p

Underlying profit before tax 

£319.7m +43%
 07
 08

 £222.8m
 £319.7m

*  The financial highlights are underlying results for the year  
ended 30 September 2008. Underlying operating profit excludes 
separately disclosed items, amortisation of IFRS 3 intangibles, 
goodwill impairment and taxation of results of the Group’s  
joint ventures and associates. Underlying profit before tax 
also excludes an acquisition related put option interest charge. 
Underlying earnings per share excludes the same items as  
excluded from underlying profit before tax, net of related taxation.

  The comparative information is presented on an unaudited pro 
forma basis for 12 months to 30 September 2007. As set out in 
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the statutory 
comparative period included in the financial statements is  
nine months to 30 September 2007 and includes the results  
of First Choice from 3 September 2007 only.

Mainstream Sector:
Leading tour operators and ‘power’  
brands with strong product differentiation 
and flexible business models.
Revenue: £11.8bn
Underlying operating profit: £277.4m
Margin: 2.3%

Specialist Sectors

35%
Percentage of Group 
underlying operating profit**

Specialist & Emerging Markets Sector:
Niche brands specialising in either  
destinations, premium travel experiences  
or customer demographic segments often  
with differentiated and exclusive product. 
Revenue: £0.8bn
Underlying operating profit: £26.1m
Margin: 3.2%

Activity Sector:
Market-leading brands within Marine,  
Adventure, Ski, Student and Sport segments 
operating in a rapidly growing market.
Revenue: £0.8bn
Underlying operating profit: £49.5m
Margin: 6.3%

Online Destination Services Sector (ODS): 
Comprehensive portfolio of businesses  
providing destination services and 
accommodation to tour operators,  
travel agents and consumers worldwide.
Revenue: £0.5bn
Underlying operating profit: £57.4m
Margin: 11.4%

Joint Ventures:
Underlying operating profit: £14.8m

**  Excluding corporate overheads
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...International 
scale

Source markets
Global tourism in the first part of 2008 continued to grow at 
a strong rate despite the economic uncertainty and turmoil 
in the financial markets. Despite a recent deterioration in 
demand growth, tourism has resisted the downturn better 
than other sectors and, history suggests, leisure travel is 
more resilient to consumer pressures than other discretionary 
purchases in times of recession. 

TUI Travel has a unique combination of differentiated content 
and specialist product offerings, catering to a wide range of 
customers across 25 source markets which means we are 
not overly reliant on any one source market or customer 
segment. Our business model contains a high degree of 
flexibility due to low bedstock commitments, third-party 
flying arrangements and the well balanced lease-expiry 
profile of our aircraft fleet and retail portfolio. As a result  
we can manage supply in line with changes in demand.

Mainstream market
The mainstream market has experienced a year of 
considerable change. Following the mergers of the major 
European tour operators, consolidation across Europe has  
led to a less fragmented marketplace and all major 
participants are focused on growing profits. Accordingly 
capacity is being managed within the marketplace to ensure 
supply matches demand. 

TUI Travel businesses are either the number one or number 
two operator in each key mainstream market in terms of 
market share. This scale enables us to achieve competitive 
cost advantage through efficient hotel buying, high aircraft 
utilisation, maximisation of load factors and low cost transfer 
services. By leveraging this scale we can offer significant value 
for money to our customers, whilst our well-known brand 
portfolio provides quality assurance and financial protection.

Specialist markets
In contrast to the mainstream market, the specialist markets 
are highly fragmented, characterised by high growth and 
customer demographics and predominantly spread across 
Europe, the United States and Australasia. These businesses 
typically operate a flexible cost model with an asset-right 
strategy, whilst attracting significant brand loyalty.

We have developed the market-leading portfolio of specialist 
brands and have an unrivalled portfolio of specialist products 
and experienced management teams. We have a track record 
of building leadership positions in these fragmented markets 

and delivering premium margins. From the acquisition of 
Sunsail in 1999 we have created the world’s largest Marine 
charter business. From the acquisition of Exodus in 2002 
we have become the leading Adventure operator in the UK. 
From the acquisition of Peregrine in 2005 we have the most 
extensive small ship polar cruising programme. More recently, 
from the acquisition of Australian Sports Tours in 2007 
and Gullivers Sport Travel in April 2008 we have started to 
establish a market-leading position in the sport and event 
travel market in the UK and Australia. 

Destinations
As global travel and tourism continues to expand, certain 
destinations are set to grow faster than others. For instance 
the first eight months of 2008 saw the Middle East (+17.3%), 
Central America (+9.4%), South America (+7.2%), South Asia 
(+7.5%) and North Africa (+6.9%) significantly outperform 
the total market, which was up 3.7% over the same period 
(Source: United Nations World Tourism Organisation). Our 
Online Destination Services Sector already has a considerable 
presence in these emerging destinations and is consequently 
well placed to benefit from their continued expansion.

The online accommodation market, both business-to-
business and business-to-consumer is intensely competitive. 
Online Destination Services operates a portfolio of B2B 
brands - Hotelbeds and Bedsonline and B2C brands 
- LateRooms, Hotelopia and AsiaRooms. These brands sell 
bednights directly to the consumer or through industry 
partners (such as easyJethotels.net). The relatively low online 
penetration of the emerging markets creates an enormous 
opportunity to develop the online segments especially given 
our presence in these countries.  

Our 25 source markets

Australia
Austria
Belgium
Canada
China
Czech Republic
Denmark
Finland
France

Germany
Hungary
Italy
India
Ireland
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Norway
Poland

Russia
Slovenia
Spain
Sweden 
Switzerland
United Kingdom
United States
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We have a clear strategic goal which 
is to create superior shareholder 
value by being a global leading leisure 
travel group providing customers with 
a wide choice of differentiated and 
flexible travel experiences to meet 
their changing needs. To enable us to 
achieve this goal we have identified 
four key strategic imperatives which 
are linked to our KPIs.

A clear 
strategic goal

Our Business



TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2008 05

 Product and 
 Content
We provide our customers differentiated content that no other tour 
operator can match or easily replicate. These include the Blue concept 
in the Nordics, Sensatori and Holiday Village in the UK and Canada, 
and Robinson Clubs, RIU and Sensimar in Germany.

Strategy and imperatives 

Imperative 1: Product and Content

Highlights
•  Provided circa 46% differentiated content in Mainstream. 
•  Operated a portfolio of 97 niche businesses within  

Activity and Specialist Sectors.
•  Offered 50,000 hotels in 100 countries through  

Online Destination Services.

Growing our portfolio of higher margin differentiated 
content within the Mainstream Sector underpins our plans 
to improve our underlying operating margin. Approximately 
46% of our Mainstream tour operator turnover is generated 
by differentiated content and we have specific targets to 
increase this in each source market. Each source market has 
its own differentiated content offering specifically designed 
products for the requirements of their customers including 
concepts such as Blue in the Nordics, Sensatori and Holiday 
Village in the UK and Canada and Robinson Clubs, RIU and 
Sensimar in Germany. These include exclusive hotels that  
no other company can match or easily replicate and have 
been tailored to include additional services and facilities  
to offer our customers exactly what they want on their 
holiday. Our research identifies that our differentiated 
products are integral to customer retention, brand building 
and uniqueness and lead to a competitive advantage in the 
market. These holidays also book earlier which enables us to 
generate premium margins by creating a more added-value 
experience for our customers.

Our specialist businesses offer significant potential for further 
growth. These are high-growth, high-margin segments of the 
leisure travel market which present excellent opportunities 
for us to create leading positions in fragmented markets.  
We have already completed 16 acquisitions this year where  
we have built upon or created new leadership positions  
and we will continue to identify and build new specialist 
segments to deliver long-term sustainable shareholder value.



 Trustworthy 
 brands
Our trustworthy brands provide excellent value for money. We have  
leading ‘power’ brands in the Mainstream Sector including TUI Deutschland,  
Thomson, First Choice and Fritidsresor, and leading niche brands in our  
specialist businesses including Exodus, Hayes & Jarvis, Sunsail, Turchese  
and Hotelbeds.com.
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Imperative 2: Distribution and Brands

Highlights
•  Controlled 53% of Mainstream Sector distribution.
• Controlled 72% of Activity Sector distribution.
• Controlled 66% of Specialist Sector distribution.
•  Number one travel website in both UK and Germany  

in terms of visitor numbers.

We are continuing to invest in our direct distribution channels 
as a key driver for reducing our distribution cost and thereby 
increasing our margin. We gain a competitive advantage by 
selling to customers through these lower cost channels, as it 
leads to further control of the customer booking experience 
and the customer relationship. By securing direct access to 
our customers, we can manage the whole holiday process 
from booking with an agent in our travel shops, online or  
via one of our call centres, to in-resort and after-sales  
service, whilst driving customer satisfaction and ultimately 
customer loyalty.

Across our source markets we have instigated a number of 
strategies to drive further direct distribution. In the UK we 
have focused on maximising the efficiency of our channels 
by utilising the down time in our shops to work as a virtual 
call centre. In France we are expanding the retail estate via 
92 franchised agencies and 60 in-house stores to support the 
regional flying programme. In the Nordic source market, we 
are investing further in optimising our website to drive down 
the cost of customer acquisition. Our ability to transition to 
a direct distribution model is underpinned by the strength 
of our leading ‘power’ brands in the Mainstream Sector and 
niche brands in our Specialist Sectors.

Imperative 3: People and Operational Efficiency

Highlights
•  Underlying operating profit margin up 90 basis points to 2.9%.
•  Integration progressing well with synergies upgraded  

to £175m.
•  Completed sale and leaseback of 20 owned aircraft and 

four new deliveries.

The cost synergies arising from the integration of the UK 
First Choice and Thomson businesses and cost savings 
in Online Destination Services, France, Austria, Germany 
and the UK scheduled and ski businesses will contribute 
significantly to our short-term competitive position. We have 
made excellent progress to date delivering £35m in 2008 
and taken actions to deliver £100m in 2009. In addition 
to the delivery of these cost synergies, the businesses 
are continually working to leverage their market-leading 
position and scale to maximise their cost competiveness and 
rationalise the cost base further through business processes 
and systems.

Our tour operators determine their flight capacity 
requirements and we typically only invest in assets such as 
yachts, inland waterway cruisers and expedition cruise ships 
that provide us with greater competitive advantage and 
enable us to earn premium margins. 

Within our mainstream source markets, through a 
combination of flexible lease profiles, which allow for 15-20 
aircraft operating leases to expire every year, use of third 
party flying (accounting for 30% of all tour operator capacity) 
and uncommitted bedstock (accounting for 80% of bedstock),  
we have the ability to manage capacity in response to 
changes in the trading environment. During the year, to 
further increase the flexibility of our business model and 
secure access to modern and fuel-efficient aircraft, we 
undertook sale and leaseback agreements for 20 owned 
aircraft and four new deliveries within the TUI Travel fleet. 

Across the Group we have a unique breadth and depth of 
experience with innovative entrepreneurs in our specialist 
businesses, skilled tour operators in Mainstream and 
functional experts in the centre. As such, we are ideally 
positioned to meet the changing dynamics of the marketplace 
and capture the growth opportunities wherever we operate. 
The motivation and retention of our people is fundamental  
to the success of our business and to the delivery of our  
goal to create superior shareholder value.

 50,000 
 colleagues
The motivation and retention of our 50,000 colleagues is 
fundamental to the success of our business. Across the Group we 
have a unique breadth and depth of experience with innovative 
entrepreneurs in our specialist businesses, skilled tour operators  
in Mainstream and functional experts in the centre. 

Our values are customer obsessed, value driven, playing to win  
and responsible leadership. We use these values to help us create  
a winning ‘Spirit’ throughout the business. 



Our Business

Strategy and imperatives
continued
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$29.8bn
China 

$22.3bn
Russian Federation 

Source: World Tourism Organisation

Imperative 4: Growth and capital allocation

Highlights
•  Acquired 16 niche high-growth businesses in 2008 for £108.6m.
•  Working with local partner to jointly develop a Russian and 

CIS tourism presence.
• Underlying operating profit up 53% to £398m.
• Return on invested capital up 300 basis points to 8.4%.

We have identified a number of strategic imperatives that 
will deliver sustainable long-term growth. A key element 
is the introduction of 23 Boeing 787s which we are keen 
to establish as a key differentiator in Continental Europe 
and use to develop a pre-eminent position in the long-haul 
charter market. Despite the production delays at Boeing, 
the Boeing 787 presents a significant opportunity to deliver 
growth going forward. Further organic long-term growth will 
be achieved through the introduction of some of our niche 
specialist brands in the Specialist and Activity Sectors into 
new European markets utilising our pan-European retail 
estate of circa 3,500 branches. For example, we recently 
launched our inland waterways brand ‘Le Boat’ into our 
German retail estate, with excellent sales to date.

Our acquisition strategy is a key contributor to future growth. 
Despite the current economic climate, we have a strong 
pipeline of potential acquisition opportunities and we will 
continue to acquire niche high-growth bolt-on acquisitions 
with a high level of expertise within the business.

As a leading international leisure travel group, we are ideally 
positioned to benefit from the growing demand in emerging 
economies that are experiencing significant growth in leisure 
travel. The World Tourism Organisation now ranks China in 
fifth place behind Germany, United States, United Kingdom 
and France spending $29.8bn in 2007 on tourism. Close 
behind is the Russian Federation ranked ninth and spending 
$22.3bn in 2007. As part of our strategy to develop our 
existing position in the Russian outbound market, we have 
signed a Memorandum of Understanding with S Group 
Capital Management to develop jointly a Russian and CIS 
leisure tourism presence. In addition, we are also actively 
looking at expanding our existing position in the Chinese  
and Indian travel markets. 

As a result of the synergy benefits of £175m and initiatives 
to deliver underlying margin enhancement (through increased 
controlled distribution, greater differentiated content and 
capacity management actions) we have a clear roadmap to  
an underlying operating profit margin of 4.6%. In addition,  
we have targeted a significant increase in our return on 
invested capital and thereby deliver sustainable value to  
our shareholders. In the past financial year, we have already  
made significant progress in realising these key objectives  
by improving our underlying operating profit margin by 
0.9ppt to 2.9% (2007: 2.0%) and our return on invested 
capital to 8.4% (2007: 5.4%). 

Emerging economies spend on tourism (2007)
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China 

Specialist 
businesses
Our acquisition strategy is a key contributor to future growth.  
During the year we acquired 16 niche high-growth businesses.  
We will continue to acquire niche high-growth bolt-on acquisitions.



Our Business

Chairman’s statement

Once in a lifetime
experiences...

I am delighted to report an excellent performance for the Group’s 
first full year since the merger of First Choice Holidays PLC and 
the Tourism Division of TUI AG. We have made outstanding 
progress in the execution of our strategy and have delivered 
a strong set of results despite record high oil prices and the 
economic slowdown experienced in many of our source markets. 

The strong performance in this financial year highlights the 
strength of the business model and our resulting ability 
to mitigate the effects of uncontrollable macroeconomic 
factors. Our success has been driven by disciplined capacity 
management, the breadth of our offering of differentiated 
products across our market-leading positions, and strong 
consumer brands. I believe that this strategy will continue to 
create value for our shareholders.

Results
The Group has achieved a 53% increase in underlying1 operating 
profit to £398.0m, (20072: £260.5m) on revenues up 9% to 
£13,931.8m, (20072: £12,839.9m). Underlying1 profit before tax is 
up 43% to £319.7m, (20072: £222.8m). Underlying1 basic earnings 
per share increased by 42%2 to 20.4p.

As a result of significant restructuring costs the Group incurred a 
statutory operating loss of £184.1m (20072: profit £56.1m) and 
loss before taxation of £266.6m (20072: profit £18.4m). The basic 
loss per share was 24.4p (20072: basic earning per share 0.6p).

Dividends
The Board is recommending a final dividend of 6.9p per share 
(2007: 5.9p). On 18 March 2008, the Board recommended an 
interim dividend of 2.8p per share, thereby resulting in a 16% 
increase in the full year dividend of 9.7p per share (2007: 8.4p). 
The Group has a progressive dividend policy and will continue  
to maintain underlying dividend cover in excess of two times.

Dr Michael Frenzel 
Non-Executive Chairman

Board
Peter Rothwell resigned as Deputy CEO in December 2007 and 
subsequently left the Board. He was replaced on the Board by 
Johan Lundgren, Managing Director, Northern Region. Three new 
independent Non-Executive Directors, Dr Erhard Schipporeit, 
Dr Albert Schunk and Harold Sher, also joined the Board in 
the year. The majority of the Board is, therefore, composed of 
independent Non-Executive Directors.

Sustainable Development
I am delighted that TUI Travel remains a part of the FTSE4Good 
index. As a FTSE100 company, we recognise that we have 
a responsibility to monitor and manage our impact on the 
environment and people. 

Sustainable development is central to the way we run and 
manage our business. We have sustainable development 
representatives across all levels of our business from the Board 
to representatives in each of our Sectors. During the year, 
our businesses continued their work on many sustainable 
development projects ranging from a leadership programme  
with a local eco-tourism project in Costa Rica to developing 
the world’s leading yacht charter facility using environmentally 
friendly technologies in the British Virgin Islands. 

Colleagues
There has been considerable change for all our colleagues 
following the merger last year and I have been extremely 
impressed by the professionalism and enthusiasm that has  
been displayed as colleagues embraced the new culture within 
TUI Travel. It is they who delivered the Group’s many successes 
in 2008 and I thank them all on behalf of the Board.

Dr. Michael Frenzel
Non-Executive Chairman

1  Underlying operating profit excludes separately disclosed items, amortisation of 
IFRS 3 intangibles, goodwill impairment and taxation of results of the Group’s 
joint ventures and associates. Underlying profit before tax also excludes an 
acquisition related put option interest charge. Underlying earnings per share 
excludes the same items as excluded from underlying profit before tax, net of 
related taxation.

2  This comparative information is presented on an unaudited pro forma basis 
for 12 months to 30 September 2007. As set out in Note 1 to the consolidated 
financial statements, the statutory comparative period included in the financial 
statements is nine months to 30 September 2007 and includes the results of 
First Choice from 3 September 2007 only.
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...we make them
happen every day
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Business &  
Financial Review

Group performance

Peter Long
Chief Executive

Paul Bowtell 
Chief Financial Officer

Group performance
The Group has had an excellent first year as a merged 
company with underlying operating profit up 53% and 
significantly improved profitability across the business.  
The integration is progressing well and we are now  
targeting £175m of synergies, which is £25m higher  
than our previous target. 

Our customers continue to regard their main holiday  
as an essential, not a luxury, which they are reluctant to  
forgo. More than ever they want to book their holidays  
with trustworthy, financially secure brands that provide 
excellent value for money. 

TUI Travel has a highly experienced management team, a 
flexible business model and a diverse portfolio of brands.  
The actions we are taking to manage supply and accelerate 
the synergy benefits puts the Group in a strong position  
to manage the current economic environment and  
continue to meet the Board’s expectations for 2009.

The KPIs used by the Group and the Sectors are linked  
to our strategic objectives. These are featured on pages 
4 to 8 and throughout the Business & Financial Review.

The Group delivered a £137m improvement in underlying 
operating profits to £398m in 2008, our first year as a fully 
merged business (2007: £261m). This has primarily been 
achieved as a result of a strong performance in the UK 
driven by improved trading and the delivery of synergies, 
a significant turnaround in France, further improvement in 
Nordics from strong winter trading and improved summer 
trading in Germany and Austria. The Specialist Sectors also 
contributed to the result through a combination of organic 
and acquisition led growth.

Group revenue for the year increased by 9% to £13,932m 
(2007: £12,840m) with currency movements accounting for 
4% of the growth. As a result of the stronger performance in 
the Mainstream Sector, the Group increased its underlying 
operating margin by 90 basis points to 2.9% (2007: 2.0%).

1.  William Waggott 
Commercial Director

2.  John Wimbleton 
Managing Director,  
Activity

3.  Peter Long 
Chief Executive

4.  Dr Volker Böttcher 
Managing Director,  
Central Europe

5.  Richard Prosser 
Managing Director,  
Specialist & Emerging Markets

6.  Christoph Mueller 
Aviation Director

Group Management Board
The strategic direction of the Group is set by the Group Management 
Board (GMB) in agreement with the Board (see page 36). The GMB 
consists of tour operating and function experts drawn from across the 
Group. They are a highly experienced international team that manages 
and executes TUI Travel’s day-to-day operations and are responsible 
for the overall performance of the Group. 
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7.  Andrew John 
Group Legal Director &  
Company Secretary

8.  Dermot Blastland 
Managing Director,  
UK & Ireland

9.  Paul Bowtell 
Chief Financial Officer

10.  Johan Lundgren 
Managing Director,  
Northern Region

11.  Bill Logan 
Group Human  
Resources Director

12.  Bart Brackx 
Managing Director,  
Western Europe

13.  Joan Vilà 
Managing Director,  
Online Destination Services

A reconciliation of underlying profit before tax to profit/(loss) 
before tax is as follows:

   2008 2007 
Year ended 30 September   £m £m
Underlying profit before tax    319.7 222.8 
Separately disclosed items   (380.7) (147.3)
Acquisition related put option cost  
within interest charge   (4.2) – 
Impairment of goodwill   (111.7) (37.3)
Amortisation of IFRS 3 intangibles   (86.9) (17.5)
Taxation on profit of joint ventures  
and associates   (2.8) (2.3)
Statutory (loss)/profit before tax   (266.6) 18.4 

The separately disclosed items of £380.7m (2007: £147.3m) 
include:

•  Restructuring expenses of £65.3m, which relate to 
restructuring programmes already in progress prior to the 
merger, the integration of acquired businesses and further 
restructuring activities to increase business efficiency.

•  Merger-related integration costs of £164.3m, incurred 
as part of the integration programmes across the UK 
Mainstream and Group and Global businesses affected  
by the merger.

•  Aircraft-related costs of £151.1m, which are primarily 
attributable to the loss on disposal of 19 aircraft included 
in the June sale and leaseback transaction.

Further information on the separately disclosed items is 
included in Note 3 of the consolidated financial statements. 
As a result of its reclassification as a disposal group held  
for sale earlier in the year, a goodwill impairment of  
£111.7m was recognised in respect of TUIfly, our airline  
in the German source market. TUIfly has since been 
declassified as a disposal group held for sale. Amortisation 
of business combination intangibles arising on the merger 
amounted to £80.0m and is included within the 2008 total 
charge of £86.9m.
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Year ended 30 September

 Underlying results2 Reported results Statutory results
  20071   20071 

£m 2008 Pro forma Change 2008 Pro forma 2008 2007

Revenue 13,932 12,840 +9% 13,932 12,840 13,932 7,975

Operating profit/(loss) 398.0 260.5 +53% (184.1) 56.1 (184.1) 161.9

Profit/(loss) before tax 319.7 222.8 +43% (266.6) 18.4 (266.6) 152.5

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (p) 20.4p 14.4p +42% (24.4)p  0.6p (24.4)p  6.4p

1  Comparative information is presented on an unaudited pro forma basis for 12 months to 30 September 2007. As set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the statutory comparative period included in the financial statements is nine months to 30 September 2007 and includes the results of First Choice  
from 3 September 2007 only.

2   The Group believes that underlying operating profit, underlying profit before tax and underlying earnings per share provide additional guidance to the statutory 
measures on the underlying performance of the business during the financial year. Please refer to the definitions of these additional measures in Note 1 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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Business &  
Financial Review

Segmental performance

Mainstream Sector 
 

 
Mainstream is the largest Sector in terms of size, underlying 
operating profit and employee numbers. It services over 25m 
customers each year and comprises a number of the leading 
tour operators across Europe operating a fleet of 155 aircraft 
and circa 3,500 retail shops. 

The Mainstream Sector reported an underlying operating profit 
of £277.4m in 2008, an improvement of £132.4m  
(2007: £145.0m). 

Mainstream   2008 2007 Change %

Customers (‘000)
Northern Region  8,570 9,075 -6%
Central Europe  11,232 11,518 -2%
Western Europe  5,745 5,635 +2%
Total  25,547 26,228 -3%

y-o-y variation
Revenue per customer  Total
Northern Region  +7%
Central Europe   +13%
Western Europe  +11%
Total  +10%

Underlying operating profit (£m)
Northern Region  177.7 96.1 +85%
Central Europe  62.4 41.5 +50%
Western Europe  37.3 7.4 +404%
Total  277.4 145.0 +91%

Underlying operating margin %
Northern Region  4.1% 2.2% +190bps
Central Europe  1.3% 1.0% +30bps
Western Europe  1.4% 0.3% +110bps
Total  2.3% 1.3% +100bps

Controlled distribution %
Northern Region1  73% 72% +1ppt
Central Europe1  38% 37% +1ppt
Western Europe  49% 47% +2ppts
Total  53% 52% +1ppt
 

1 Excludes scheduled flying

Northern Region
The Northern Region comprises the distribution and tour 
operating businesses in the source markets of the UK & 
Ireland, the Nordic countries and Canada. Brands include 
Fritidsresor, the Nordic tour operator and retailer, First Choice 
and Thomson, the leading UK high street brands and Signature 
Vacations, the tour operator in Canada.

Proportion of Group revenue

Segmental performance 
Segmental performance presented here is based on underlying financial 
information (which excludes separately disclosed items, impairment of 
goodwill and amortisation of business combination intangibles). The Group 
believes that underlying financial information provides additional guidance  
to the statutory measures on the underlying performance of the business 
during the financial year. Segmental statutory results are set out in Note 2  
of the consolidated financial statements. 

All underlying financial information for the year ended 30 September 2007  
in the segmental performance analysis is presented on the pro forma basis  
set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Underlying operating profit by Sector
(excludes corporate overheads) 

Mainstream

65%
Joint 
Ventures

10%
Specialist

35%
Specialist 
& Emerging 
Markets

18%

33%
Activity

39%
ODS

Sensatori Crete
Thomson launched Sensatori Crete, an exclusive 5-star differentiated 
product in the Summer 2008 brochure. 14,000 customers stayed at 
Sensatori Crete this summer with over 95% rating the accommodation 
as excellent.
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UK & Ireland
UK & Ireland delivered a £76.5m improvement in underlying 
profits to £132.9m in 2008 (2007: £56.4m). This was driven 
by an improvement in underlying margins, primarily due to 
tight capacity control, including the elimination of loss-making 
routes and the delivery of integration synergies.

The business reduced loss-making scheduled flying capacity 
by 22% in its Winter 2007/08 programme and by 43% in its 
Summer 2008 programme. As a result, in 2008 the business 
recovered £14m of losses incurred in the previous financial 
year and remains on track to fully recover the remaining 
£13m of losses over the next two financial years.

Capacity was also rationalised in the charter programme, 
mainly in the short-haul destinations of the Balearics, 
mainland Spain and Portugal and also in some medium-haul 
destinations such as the Canaries and Greece. Total charter 
capacity was reduced by 5% in Winter 2007/08 and by 7%  
in Summer 2008. As a result of these capacity reductions, 
total customers decreased by 8% from 2007 to 2008, 
of which there was a 26% reduction in scheduled flying 
customers and a 4% reduction in charter customers.  
This action supported a stronger pricing environment in  
the lates booking period, in which previously there has  
been significant discounting of holidays. As a result of  
having significantly less holidays left to sell across all 
departure months, stronger margins and improved load 
factors were achieved despite higher fuel costs, leading  
to a £33.5m improvement in operating profit.

Integration in the UK continues to progress very well, with 
synergies of £29m delivered for the full year. Significant 
milestones have been achieved during the year, including 
the launch of the UK Summer 2009 programme on one 
reservation platform, the integration of our UK airlines, 
which operated under one license for Summer 2008, and 
the integration and relocation of airline and tour operating 
functions into a new UK head office in Luton. 

The business has continued to grow its level of controlled 
distribution, with a one percentage point increase to 75%  
in 2008 which was primarily driven by an increase in our  
web sales following the re-launch of the First Choice website. 

In addition to the integration process, the UK brands 
continued to focus on delivering differentiated product and 
high quality service. During the year Thomson launched 
its Sensatori Hotel Concept with Sensatori Crete opening 
on 1 May 2008. The 5-star concept includes West End 
entertainment, premium dining options, swim-up rooms,  

Segmental performance
continued

Business &  
Financial Review

The Northern Region achieved an 85% improvement in 
underlying operating profit to £177.7m (2007: £96.1m).  
As outlined in the table below, the primary drivers behind  
the improvement in performance were margin enhancements  
in the UK and the Nordics. In the UK, this improvement 
resulted from the delivery of integration synergies and the 
reduction of loss-making capacity.

Underlying operating     Northern 
profit bridge UK Nordics Canada Region

2007 underlying  
operating profit 56.4  34.7 5.0 96.1 
Scheduled flying losses 14.0 – – 14.0
Underlying margin 
enhancement 33.5 14.7 (9.6) 38.6
Synergies 29.0 – – 29.0
2008 underlying 
operating profit 132.9 49.4 (4.6) 177.7

Northern Region  2008 2007 Change %

Customers (‘000)    
UK & Ireland  6,978 7,564 -8%
Nordic  1,313 1,233 +6%
Canada  279 278 flat
Total  8,570 9,075 -6%

y-o-y variation
Revenue per customer  Total
UK & Ireland  +7%
Nordic  +8%
Canada  +9%
Total  +7%

Revenue growth
UK & Ireland  -2%
Nordic  +14%
Canada  +10%
Total  +1%

Underlying operating profit/(loss) (£m)
UK & Ireland  132.9 56.4 +136%
Nordic  49.4 34.7 +42%
Canada  (4.6) 5.0 -192%
Total  177.7 96.1 +85%

Underlying operating margin %
UK & Ireland  3.9% 1.6% +230bps
Nordic  6.5% 5.2% +130bps
Canada  (2.6%) 3.1% -570bps
Total  4.1% 2.2% +190bps

Controlled distribution % 
UK & Ireland1  75% 74% +1ppt
Nordic  79% 73% +6ppts
Canada  16% 17% -1ppt
Total1  73% 72% +1ppt
 
1 Excludes scheduled flying

TUI UK & Ireland
TUI UK & Ireland and its customers have donated over £2m to the 
World Care Fund, helping to fund more than 50 sustainable tourism 
projects through The Travel Foundation and funding 250,000 tonnes  
of Gold Standard carbon offsets through ClimateCare, equivalent to 
20% of First Choice Airways’ carbon emissions.



TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2008 17

an extensive spa and first-rate childcare. First Choice opened 
three more Holiday Villages in Cyprus, Algarve and Mexico 
focusing on family facilities and activities.

Nordics
The Nordics business grew underlying operating profit 
by £14.7m to £49.4m in 2008 (2007: £34.7m). Revenue 
increased by 14% to £766m (2007: £669m) and operating 
margin improved by 130 basis points to 6.5% (2007: 5.2%). 
This improvement was primarily driven by strong Winter 
2007/08 trading due to the expansion of the long-haul 
programme, where the deployment of an additional 747 
aircraft from our French business into its Winter programme 
enabled the Nordics to fly direct to long-haul destinations 
such as Thailand. As a result customer bookings to Thailand 
were 39% higher in 2008 than the prior year. We continued 
to build on our position as a leading provider of long-haul 
package trips in the Nordic market by introducing a second 
Boeing B767 aircraft from the UK market into the Winter 
programme, with new destinations such as Surat Thani 
(Thailand), Phnom Penh (Cambodia) and Boa Vista  
(Cape Verde). 

Additionally, the differentiated Blue Concept label was 
expanded to new customer segments during the year, 
including the successful rollout of Blue Exotic, a family 
concept for the premium end of the market and built  
on high accommodation standards, local cuisine and 
entertainment and the popular holiday children club ‘Bamse’. 
More than one third of total customers now purchase Blue 
Concept products which has led to improved margins.

There was significant growth in controlled distribution, 
with bookings through our own channels reaching 79% for 
the year, up six percentage points over the prior year. For 
the Summer 2008 programme 81% of products were sold 
through our websites or via our own shops. This has also 
contributed to the improvement in operating profit and 
margins in 2008.

Canada
Canada reported an underlying operating loss of £4.6m in 
2008 (2007: profit of £5.0m). This loss was primarily incurred 
as a result of significant overcapacity in the market, which 
led to margin erosion. However, Signature, the tour operator, 
maintained a 12% market share and the retail brand, 
SellOffVacations, was successfully restructured during the 
year. Canada remains an important countercyclical market to 
the UK, operating nine aircraft through Winter and one in the 
Summer season. It also sells differentiated content developed 
in the UK, such as the Holiday Villages in the Caribbean.

Central Europe
The Central Europe division comprises the distribution and 
tour operating businesses in Germany, Switzerland, Austria and 
the Eastern European markets. Brands include TUI Austria and 
TUI Deutschland, leading travel and tourism companies. 

The Central Europe division reported an underlying operating 
profit of £62.4m in 2008 (2007: £41.5m). This improvement of 
£20.9m was driven by strong Summer trading in Germany and 
the successful turnaround of the Austrian business.

Central Europe  2008 2007 Change %

Customers (‘000)
Germany  10,197 10,388 -2%
Switzerland  354 319 +11%
Austria  681 811 -16%
Total  11,232 11,518 -2%

y-o-y variation
Revenue per customer  Total
Germany  +15%
Switzerland  -17%
Austria  +21%
Total  +13%

Revenue growth
Germany  +12%
Switzerland  -8%
Austria  +2%
Total  +11%

Underlying operating profit/(loss) (£m)
Germany  49.2 39.7 +24%
Switzerland  4.0 3.3 +21%
Austria  9.2 (1.5) +713%
Total  62.4 41.5 +50%

Underlying operating margin %
Germany  1.2% 1.1% +10bps
Switzerland  2.0% 1.5% +50bps
Austria  2.4% (0.4%) +280bps
Total  1.3% 1.0% +30bps

Controlled distribution %
Germany1  39% 38% +1ppt
Switzerland  39% 37% +2ppts
Austria  19% 18% +1ppt
Total1  38% 37% +1ppt

1 Excludes scheduled flying

Nordics 
We continue to build on our position as the number one provider of 
long-haul package trips in the Nordic market and have introduced new 
destinations this year in Thailand, Cambodia and Cape Verde. 

TUI Snow Guarantee 
TUI Deutschland was awarded the German Service Innovation Award 
for the TUI Snow Guarantee, which entitles customers in the event of 
no snow to start their trip later or travel to a sun and beach destination. 
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Germany
Underlying operating profit for 2008 was £49.2m, an 
improvement of £9.5m over the prior year (2007: £39.7m). 
This was delivered by strong Summer trading, following 
the reduction of airline capacity by eight aircraft (10% of 
capacity) for the Summer 2008 programme. As a result  
there was significantly less capacity to sell, particularly in  
the sun and beach lates markets, which resulted in higher 
load factors and margin improvement, despite pressure 
from higher fuel costs. 

During the year, demand for premium packaged products 
increased. Popular destinations included the Canaries, 
Balearics, Greece, Turkey and Portugal. Differentiated product 
launches included the Sensimar hotel franchises in Crete, 
Rhodes and the Turkish Riviera for the 2009 Summer season 
and TUI Maxima, an exclusive Riverboat on the Danube.  
We have also introduced this year the TUI Snow Guarantee, 
which entitles customers in the event of no snow to start 
their trip later or travel to a sun and beach destination. 

The expansion of the Polish source market, which is  
included in the Germany result, has also contributed to 
strong growth, with revenue and customer growth of 32% 
and 11%. Both our brands in the Polish market, TUI and 
Scan, performed well in the year. Winter 2007/08 volumes  
to Egypt (which represents 25% of the Winter programme)  
more than doubled, whilst in Summer 2008 volumes to 
Greece (which represents 25% of the Summer programme) 
were 41% higher than in 2007.

Switzerland 
Underlying operating profits improved by £0.7m (21%) to 
£4.0m in 2008 (2007: £3.3m). The introduction of the TUI 
Germany product model into the Swiss mainstream market 
last year continued to yield strong customer demand in 2008. 
As a result, customer volumes increased by 11% in 2008. 
In addition, the business improved profitability in the year 
by growing controlled distribution two percentage points 
through its direct-selling brand Vogele thereby reducing 
commission costs. The business also benefited from cost 
efficiencies implemented in the previous financial year.

Austria
Austria delivered a significant turnaround in 2008, achieving 
underlying operating profits of £9.2m compared to a loss 
of £1.5m in the prior year. Operating margin improved by 
280 basis points to 2.4% (2007: (0.4%)). This was primarily 
driven by improved capacity management and the reduction 
in guaranteed bedstock which led to improved prices and 
margins. As a result, customer volumes decreased by 16% over 
prior year, however revenue per customer was 21% ahead. 
In particular, significant capacity was cut in the Gulet brand 
following the release of the exclusivity agreement to guarantee 
beds with Magic Life. Austria also delivered £2.5m of synergies 
in the year resulting from the integration of First Choice’s 
business into TUI Austria. 

Western Europe
The Western Europe division comprises the distribution 
and tour operating businesses in France, Belgium and the 
Netherlands. Brands include Nouvelles Frontières and 
Marmara, tour operators in France, Jetair, the largest holiday 
brand in Belgium and TUI Nederland, the only vertically 
integrated tour operator for the Dutch source market.

Western Europe achieved a strong improvement in underlying 
operating profits to £37.3m (2007: £7.4m), primarily driven by 
the turnaround in the French business.

Western Europe  2008 2007 Change %

Customers (‘000)
France  2,451 2,524 -3%
Netherlands  1,430 1,380 +4%
Belgium  1,864 1,731 +8%
Total  5,745 5,635 +2%

y-o-y variation
Revenue per customer  Total
France  +15%
Netherlands  +5%
Belgium  +12%
Total  +11%

Revenue growth
France  +11%
Netherlands  +9%
Belgium  +20%
Total  +13%

Underlying operating profit/(loss) (£m)
France  4.8 (18.7) +126%
Netherlands  8.4 5.7 +47%
Belgium  24.1 20.4 +18%
Total  37.3 7.4 +404%

Sensimar launch 
TUI Central Europe (TUI CE) announced the launch of Sensimar a  
new hotel brand for Summer 09 with two hotels in Greece and one  
in Turkey. The hotels will be exclusively sold to TUI CE customers. 
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Underlying operating margin %
France  0.4% (1.6%) +200bps
Netherlands  1.2% 0.9% +30bps
Belgium  3.2% 3.2% flat
Total  1.4% 0.3% +110bps

Controlled distribution % 
France  46% 47% -1ppt
Netherlands  55% 53% +2ppts
Belgium  49% 43% +6ppts
Total  49% 47% +2ppts

France
France reported underlying operating profits of £4.8m in 2008, 
a very strong improvement of £23.5m over the prior year 
(2007: loss of £18.7m). This improvement was driven by the 
following:

•  In Nouvelles Frontières (NF), the tour operator product 
offering was rationalised to focus on profitable destinations. 
This resulted in improved yield management and stronger 
pricing for both the Winter 2007/08 and Summer 2008 
programmes. In Corsair, the fleet was reduced by one 
aircraft thereby reducing operating costs. The scheduled 
flying programme was also rationalised to combine tourist 
and expatriate customers and focused on fewer destinations, 
mainly the French West Indies and Indian Ocean.

•  A recovery in customer demand in the first quarter of 2008 
for one of Corsair’s key destinations, La Reunion. This 
destination was heavily impacted in the first quarter of 2007 
by the outbreak of the Chikungunya disease.

•  Strong Summer demand in Marmara for the higher margin 
destinations of Egypt and Turkey, leading to strong pricing 
increases.

•  Synergy opportunities between NF and Marmara. These 
resulted in savings of £1.0m delivered in the year from 
selling Marmara products through NF shops and negotiating 
savings on seat rates for shared routes.

As a result of these actions the NF business successfully turned 
around its performance and delivered an operating profit in 
the year. The final result was however adversely impacted by 
a charge of £6m for additional depreciation in respect of the 
six owned aircraft in Corsair to reflect changes in the aircraft 
market and a charge of a further £6m in respect of seasonal 
hedges which did not satisfy hedge accounting effectiveness 
tests. These charges are included in the overall underlying 
operating result for France of £4.8m.

During the year NF launched Koudou, a low-cost club 
concept. Corsairfly repositioned itself as a leading brand 
for long-haul family travel. At Marmara, the Club Marmara 
concept continued to be popular within Mediterranean 
destinations.

Netherlands
Netherlands reported an underlying operating profit of  
£8.4m in 2008 (2007: £5.7m). Revenue and customer growth 
were 9% and 4% ahead of the prior year, with growth mainly 
in the destinations of Turkey and Egypt and the USA. The 
KidsWorld brand achieved strong growth and successfully 
introduced Bulgaria, a new destination for 2008. During the 
year, the business absorbed costs of £4.0m from a higher 
than normal level of aircraft maintenance which adversely 
affected the underlying profitability of the business. These 
issues have all been resolved. 

Belgium
2008 underlying operating profit was £24.1m, an 
improvement of £3.7m over prior year (2007: £20.4m). This 
was driven by revenue and customer growth of 20% and 
8%, respectively, with medium-haul volumes up 22% over 
prior year as the business benefited from strong demand for 
Turkey, Morocco and Egypt. Controlled distribution increased 
by six percentage points during the year (mainly through the 
web) and is now at 49% of total bookings, leading to lower 
commissions and improved margins. 

KidsWorld Bulgaria 
KidsWorld successfully introduced Bulgaria as a new destination in 
2008. The key to success was differentiated product, combined with 
attractive facilities, Dutch animation and unique locations. 

Eastern Mediterranean 
The Eastern Mediterranean proved once again very popular for 
Western Europe customers with strong summer demand for Egypt  
and Turkey.
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Luxury specialists 
During the year, Sovereign was repositioned to become a flexible 
provider of luxury 5-star holiday products. Hayes & Jarvis enhanced  
its brand positioning in the luxury segment and as a leading  
long-haul specialist.

Winter programme, which was fully sold before the start of 
the season. Starquest was acquired in September 2007 and 
contributed £2.2m to the profitability of the division in 2008. 

However, the leisure segment of the Student Travel group of 
businesses suffered from a softening in demand for higher 
priced international trips due to the weakening of the US 
economy. In addition, volumes decreased due to a change in 
customer buying habits, with more students self-packaging 
and arranging group trips through social networks. Total leisure 
volumes decreased by 15% in 2008 compared to the prior year. 
To address this change, actions have been taken to simplify 
the sales structure and rationalise the product portfolio. These 
actions will enable the businesses to improve sales efficiency 
and focus on the core differentiated spring-break offering. 
Europe Express, which specialises in packaging holidays for US 
customers to Europe, also experienced a reduction in volumes 
of 10% as US consumer demand fell due to the strengthening 
of the Euro against the Dollar and the weak US economy.

Emerging Markets
In Russia, we continue to evaluate our participation strategy for 
this high-growth market and announced in April our intention 
to form a joint venture relationship with S Group to develop 
TUI Travel’s Russian leisure tourism presence.

Specialist & Emerging Markets  2008 2007 Change %

Customers (‘000)
Europe  634 703 -10%
US  339 297 +14%
Total  973 1,000 -3%

y-o-y variation
Revenue per customer  Total
Europe  +22%
US  +4%
Total  +16%

Revenue growth
Europe  +10%
US  +19%
Total  +12%

Underlying operating profit (£m)
Europe  13.9 18.7 -26%
US  12.2 11.2 +9%
Total  26.1 29.9 -13%

Underlying operating margin %
Total  3.2% 4.1% -90bps

Specialist & Emerging Markets Sector 
 
 
 
 
Operating in North America, Europe and a number of emerging 
markets including Russia, this Sector is comprised of over 40 
specialist travel companies. The specialist businesses focus 
on either specific destinations, premium travel experiences 
or particular customer demographic segments often with 
differentiated and exclusive product. Specialist travel 
experiences include escorted tours to the Galapagos, around 
the world private jet expeditions, student spring-break trips 
to Acapulco and tailor-made trips to Australia. Brands include 
TCS Expeditions and Starquest Expeditions, private jet tour 
operators, Sovereign and Hayes & Jarvis, luxury brands and 
Turchese and Mostravel, destination specialists. 

The Specialist & Emerging Markets Sector reported 
underlying operating profits of £26.1m (2007: £29.9m). In 
the UK, the business was adversely affected by distribution 
issues and significant disruption to the business caused by a 
change of location and systems, while demand in the leisure 
segment of student travel in the US was weaker. 

Europe
The Europe division reported underlying operating profits of 
£13.9m (2007: £18.7m), a decrease of £4.8m. A number of 
businesses within the division are undergoing a restructuring 
programme to address the business model as a result 
of adverse performance in 2008. For example, there was 
some loss of volume in the Thomson businesses during 
the migration of the call centres and reservation systems 
that adversely affected the distribution platform. However, 
significant progress has been made in the integration 
project, delivering £0.5m of synergy benefits in 2008 with 
further benefits to come in 2009. In particular, the former 
Thomson businesses will benefit from increased control over 
distribution that resulted from migration of these businesses 
to the reservations system used by the former First Choice. 

US
The US division reported underlying operating profits 
of £12.2m in 2008, an improvement of £1.0m (2007: 
£11.2m). This was due to strong growth in the expeditions 
businesses, in particular TCS Expeditions and Starquest 
Expeditions which operate in the luxury private jet segment. 
TCS increased customer volumes by 29% and doubled 
revenues in 2008, with demand particularly strong for its 

Private jets 
TCS Expeditions and Starquest Expeditions are the two leading private 
jet tour operators in the world. Itineraries include the flagship ‘Around 
the World’ series plus intercontinental and regional programmes with an 
emphasis on exclusive access and educational enrichment, highlighting 
the cultural, historical and artistic distinctions in each destination. 

Proportion of Group revenue
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Polar cruising 
The polar cruising business operates a fleet of eight vessels ranging 
from Polar-class icebreakers to ice-strengthened adventure ships which 
enable more departures and a greater variety of itineraries than any 
other operator. These active voyages offer options such as kayaking 
amongst the ice floes, access to the Emperor Penguin rookeries and 
hiking across the Arctic tundra under the midnight sun.

The Adventure businesses delivered an increase of 13% 
in underlying operating profits to £14.2m in 2008 (2007: 
£12.6m). The polar cruising business significantly contributed 
to this growth as a result of the successful integration of 
Quark Expeditions (acquired in April 2007) with the existing 
polar cruising business. Polar cruising also experienced strong 
customer demand with overall occupancy rates increasing to 
91% (2007: 89%). During the year we also built up a market-
leading position in Australian overland tours based out of 
Western Australia, through the acquisition of Active Safari 
(Planet Perth) and Australian Pinnacle Tours in December 
2007 and the integration of these businesses with our existing 
operator Western Exposure.

The Ski, Student and Sport divisions increased underlying 
operating profits to £17.0m in 2008 (2007: £12.1m), despite 
a £2.0m reduction in profitability in the Ski division. The 
businesses acquired during the year contributed significantly 
to this growth. Within Student, we acquired CHS, Real Travel 
and World Challenge Expeditions. The Group first entered the 
sport travel market in 2007 and through the 2008 acquisitions 
of Sportsworld, Gullivers Sport, Events International, Your 
Sporting Challenge and Fanatics, the Sport division has created 
a unique portfolio of sports specialist tour operators in the UK 
and Australia. The Ski division remains the largest outbound 
ski and lakes tour operator in Europe with approximately 40% 
market share.

Activity   2008 2007 Change %

y-o-y variation
Total revenue growth   Total
Marine  -9%
Adventure   +25%
Ski, Student and Sport  +28%
Total  +18%

Underlying operating profit (£m)
Marine  18.3 14.9 +23%
Adventure   14.2 12.6 +13%
Ski, Student and Sport  17.0 12.1 +40%
Total  49.5 39.6 +25%

Underlying operating margin %
Total  6.3% 6.0% +30bps

Activity Sector 

The Activity Sector has over 40 activity travel companies 
that operate in the market segments of Marine, Adventure, 
Ski, Student and Sport (new for 2008). Its customers enjoy 
unique travel experiences including hiking Kilimanjaro, polar 
cruising, chartering yachts in the Caribbean, skiing the Peak 
2 Peak at Whistler or touring with national cricket, rugby 
or football teams. Brands include Quark Expeditions, the 
world’s largest and most diverse polar travel company, Sunsail 
and The Moorings, leading yacht chartering and beach club 
brands and Crystal, Europe’s biggest ski operator.

The Activity Sector delivered a strong performance in 
2008, with a 25% increase in underlying operating profits, 
which were up £9.9m to £49.5m (2007: £39.6m). This was 
achieved through a combination of strong organic growth and 
acquisitions, principally in the Student and Sport divisions, 
with organic growth up £5.0m for the Sector. 

The Marine division performed very well in 2008, reporting 
underlying operating profits of £18.3m (2007: £14.9m). 
Marine operates a combined fleet of approximately 1,360 
yachts, 1,100 cruisers and six beach clubs in the Caribbean 
and Mediterranean. The integration of the two yacht 
chartering businesses of Sunsail and The Moorings has 
been successfully completed, and has delivered operational 
and back office synergies in line with expectations. During 
the year the businesses also focused on improving asset 
utilisation and increased yacht occupancy by 2% to 22.1 
weeks of charter per yacht (2007: 21.7 weeks). Sunsail Clubs 
also achieved an increase in beach club occupancy levels 
of six percentage points to 85% (2007: 79%). The flagship 
yacht base in Tortola, in the British Virgin Islands, is being 
significantly upgraded to create the world’s leading yacht 
charter facility using environmentally friendly technologies 
and will be completed in 2009.

Responsible yachting 
TUI Marine’s yacht base in Tortola, British Virgin Islands, is the world’s 
leading yacht charter facility. The base has minimised its impact on 
the environment by introducing technologies such as laundry water 
recycling facilities – which handle 12,000 gallons per day – and a 
desalination plant, which produces 65,000 gallons of fresh water daily. 

Proportion of Group revenue
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Within the B2C division, Hotelopia increased volumes by 16%, 
mainly due to strong growth in its European Cities’ products. 
However, commission rates decreased in the more competitive 
mature markets of Spain and the UK as a result of greater 
competition from online participants. In LateRooms.com  
like-for-like volumes in 2008 were 21% ahead of the prior  
year. LateRooms.com continued its strong growth as a result  
of its differentiated late availability model and a highly effective 
online marketing campaign and during the year LateRooms.es 
was successfully launched into the Spanish source market.

The Portfolio Incoming division grew passenger volumes by 
10%, with revenue per passenger remaining in line with 2007. 
The division delivered profit growth in 2008 despite margin 
pressures in some of the more mature source markets, such  
as Spain, where price competition increased as the tour 
operators cut capacity. 

The integration of the former TUI Tourism and First Choice 
businesses within the ODS Sector is progressing well and 
synergies of £2.0m were delivered in 2008. 

Online Destination Services   2008 2007 Change %

Online – Bednights (‘000)
B2B  18,298 14,867 +23%
B2C  6,966 4,055 +72%

  y-o-y
Online – Revenue per bednight  variation
B2B  +6%
B2C  -5%

Offline – passenger volumes (m) 
Portfolio Incoming division  9.0 8.2 +10%
Hotelbeds Offline  3.9 3.8 +3%

  y-o-y
Offline – revenue per pax (£)  variation
Portfolio Incoming division  flat
Hotelbeds Offline  flat

Underlying operating profit (£m)
Total  57.4 49.2 +17%

Underlying operating margin %
Total  11.4% 11.1% +30bps

Online Destination Services Sector 
 
 

Online Destination Services combines a portfolio of B2B 
and B2C businesses providing destination services to tour 
operators, travel agencies and individual clients worldwide. 
This includes selling hotel accommodation, organising 
meetings, incentives, conferences and events (MICE), as well 
as providing port services, turnarounds and shore excursions 
to cruise lines. 

The ODS Sector consists of three divisions. The B2B 
business is split into two divisions, Hotelbeds and Portfolio 
Incoming. The Hotelbeds division delivers accommodation 
services (online) and destination services (offline) through 
brands such as Hotelbeds (services to tour operators), 
Bedsonline (services to travel agencies), Pacific World 
(leader in Asia) and Intercruises (the world’s largest provider 
of ground handling services to cruise lines). The Portfolio 
Incoming division operates through a network of destination 
agencies worldwide and includes brands such as TUI España 
and TUI Hellas. 

The B2C division specialises in supplying online 
accommodation through its three businesses: Hotelopia, a 
well established brand in Europe, LateRooms, a leading seller 
of late availability in the UK, and AsiaRooms, the highest 
traffic B2C accommodation business in Asia.

The ODS Sector reported underlying operating profits of 
£57.4m, an improvement of 17% (2007: £49.2m), with all 
divisions contributing to this growth.

Within the B2B businesses, the online accommodation 
businesses performed very well, with 23% growth in  
bednight volumes and a 6% increase in revenue per bednight 
over the prior year. The Hotelbeds bed bank received on 
average 160 availability queries per second. Hotelbeds and 
Bedsonline were both successful in increasing market share 
within its mature source markets of Spain and the UK as  
well as further expanding into newer source markets such as 
Brazil, USA and Mexico. The offline business also delivered 
profit growth, with an increase in passenger volumes of  
3% to 3.9m (2007: 3.8m). 

Intercruises expands into Asia 
Intercruises is the largest worldwide provider of ground handling 
services to cruise lines. During the year it has significantly grown in 
Asia, opening new offices in key markets including Singapore and 
China, and has acquired two leading cruise handling businesses in  
the USA. 

Hotelbeds.com
Hotelbeds has grown internationally by organic growth and bolt on 
acquisitions. Hotelbeds worldwide bed bank receives on average 160 
availability queries per second. 

Proportion of Group revenue



TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 200826

Segmental performance
continued

Business &  
Financial Review

Company Description Date Country

Activity Sector
CHS Tours School ski holidays Dec 07 UK/Austria
Australian Pinnacle Tours Escorted tours Dec 07 Australia
Active Safari (Planet Perth) Escorted tours Jan 08 Australia
Gullivers Sports Sports tours Feb 08 UK
Your Sporting Challenge Sports tours Mar 08 UK
Real Travel Gap year specialist Apr 08 UK
World Challenge High school expeditions Apr 08 UK
Sportsworld Corporate sports tours May 08 UK
FanFirm Sports tours Aug 08 Australia
Events International Sports tours Sep 08 UK

Specialist & Emerging Markets Sector
National Events Schools performance tours Nov 07 US
Travelmood Long-haul Australia specialist Jun 08 UK

Online Destination Services Sector
Cruiselink Cruise handling services Nov 07 US
Destination Florida Cruise handling services Jan 08 US
Hotels London Online bed bank Sept 08 UK

Mainstream Sector - Western Europe
Societe Polynesienne    French 
   Promotion Hoteliere Hotel operator July 08 Polynesia
Total consideration   £108.6m

Acquisitions in the year are shown in the table above. Of the 
consideration, £74.3m was paid during the year. A further 
£30.2m will be paid as deferred and contingent consideration 
and loan notes of £2.7m were issued. In addition, £1.4m of 
acquisition expenses were incurred, bringing the total expected 
consideration to £108.6m. 

Acquisitions in the year    £m 

Amounts paid in the year    74.3  
Deferred and contingent consideration   30.2 
Loan notes issued    2.7
    107.2 
Acquisition expenses paid in the year   1.4
Total consideration    108.6 

The cash flow impact resulting from acquisitions includes the 
cash consideration paid for acquisitions in the year of £74.3m, 
deferred and contingent consideration of £0.6m relating to 
acquisitions in the year, deferred and contingent consideration 
of £37.0m relating to prior year acquisitions that was paid 
in the year, acquisition expenses of £1.4m, cash acquired of 
£23.0m, and cash paid relating to the purchase of minority 
interests of £19.8m, resulting in a total net cash outflow for the 
year of £110.1m (2007: £135.2m).

Cash flow impact of acquisitions    £m

Amounts paid in the year     74.3 
Acquisition expenses    1.4 
Cash acquired with acquisitions    (23.0)
Cash paid relating to deferred and contingent consideration  37.6 
Cash paid relating to the purchase of minority interests  19.8
Net cash outflow in the year relating to acquisitions  110.1 

Joint Ventures and Associates 
This result incorporates our share in Island Cruises managed 
by the Portfolio Incoming division within ODS, and in hotels 
managed by the UK and Nordics source markets. Underlying 
operating profits for the Group’s joint ventures and associates 
were £14.8m in 2008, an improvement of £2.0m (2007: 
£12.8m). This was primarily driven by the incoming agencies, 
where customer volumes increased by 13% in 2008 due to 
strong demand in destinations within the Asia region from the 
UK, Nordics and US source markets. 

Island Cruises reported underlying operating profits in 2008 
which were £0.4m behind last year, as softer demand in the 
UK cruise market resulted in the business being unable to pass 
on higher input costs to the customer. Post the year end, TUI 
UK & Ireland agreed to buy the remaining 50% of its Joint 
Venture in Island Cruises from Royal Caribbean Cruises Ltd 
(RCL) and take ownership of the Island Cruises operation. The 
transaction is subject to regulatory clearance in Ireland. Under 
this transaction the Island Star ship will be returned to RCL 
in April 2009 while the Island Escape will be retained by our 
business. TUI UK & Ireland also operates Thomson Cruises, 
which currently operates a fleet of five ships. It is our intention 
to integrate the Island Escape into this established fleet. 

Corporate Overheads
Corporate Overheads include the costs relating to the Group 
head office function, including headcount for departments such 
as Group Finance, Group Legal and Group Human Resources, 
premises costs and professional fees. Corporate Overheads 
were £27.2m in 2008, an increase of £11.2m over the pro 
forma 2007 overhead of £16.0m. We anticipate that ongoing 
Corporate Overheads will remain around the 2008 level. The 
higher overhead is primarily due to the inclusion of overhead 
functions which supported the TUI Tourism businesses and 
which transferred across to TUI Travel PLC as part of the 
merger (these costs were not included in Corporate Overheads 
in the 2007 pro forma results). In addition, a number of 
central functions have expanded to meet ongoing statutory, 
compliance and regulatory requirements of the new enlarged 
group since the merger of the former TUI Tourism and First 
Choice businesses and, as a result, we have incurred additional 
costs in 2008. 

Acquisitions
In the year, the Group completed 16 acquisitions within 
high growth niche segments of the leisure travel market, 
in line with its strategy of making bolt-on acquisitions of 
businesses with the ability to generate premium margins and 
high earnings growth. The 16 businesses were acquired for a 
total consideration of £108.6m. For comparison, in the year 
ended 30 September 2007, we made 17 acquisitions for a 
total consideration of £220.0m (although this included the 
acquisition of LateRooms for £97.2m).
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The Board remains satisfied with the Group’s funding and 
liquidity position. Fixed charges cover and the ratio of net debt 
to EBITDA, which we believe to be the most useful measures of 
cash generation and gearing, as well as being the main basis for 
covenants in our credit facilities, were 2.04x and 0.2x respectively 
at the year end (2007: 2.07x and 0.5x respectively). Fixed charges 
cover is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and operating lease rentals charge (EBITDAR) divided 
by net interest plus operating lease rentals. EBITDA is defined as 
earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

We have two main sources of debt funding, both of which have 
a number of years remaining before maturity – these include 
the shareholder loan from TUI AG which is €1.0bn and matures 
in January 2011, and our £770m revolving credit facility which 
matures in August 2012. Accordingly, we remain satisfied with  
our facilities. 

Pensions
The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension 
schemes, both funded and unfunded, in the UK, Germany 
and other European countries. At 30 September 2008, the 
net pension deficit was £253.1m (2007: £292.9m). An analysis 
of the principal schemes and the key valuation and actuarial 
assumptions applied is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated 
financial statements.
 
Accounting Policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies during this 
financial year. The Group continues to monitor the potential  
impact and timing of changes to International Financial  
Reporting Standards. 

Treasury Policies
The Board has established a framework to ensure that the 
Group has adequate policies, procedures and controls to 
successfully manage the financial risks that it faces. These  
form part of the Group’s Risk Management Framework.

The key financial risks faced by the Group are in relation to foreign 
currency, interest rate, fuel price and liquidity. Group Treasury has 
implemented individual treasury policies to cover specific risks 
faced by each business unit. The procedures stipulate the levels of 
authority applied to dealing and approve the financial instruments 
that may be used to manage these exposures. All significant 
treasury transactions on behalf of the businesses are undertaken 
and executed by Group Treasury. Transactions are undertaken 
only to hedge underlying exposures. Financial instruments are not 
traded, nor are speculative positions taken. Further details are set 
out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Taxation
Underlying profit before tax for the year was £319.7m (2007: 
£222.8m). The tax charge on these profits was £89.5m (2007: 
£62.4m) representing an effective tax rate of 28.0% (2007: 28.0%). 
Based on the current structure of the business and existing local 
taxation rates and legislation, it is expected that the underlying  
tax rate will remain at a level of around 28% going forward. 

Reported loss before tax for the year was £266.6m (2007: 
profit £18.4m). The tax credit on these losses was £0.1m 
(2007: charge £11.5m) representing an effective tax rate of nil 
(2007: 62.5%). This rate differs from the underlying effective 
tax rate due to the non-deductibility for tax purposes of the 
goodwill impairment on TUIfly and certain separately disclosed 
items, as well as not recognising deferred tax assets on certain 
losses due to uncertainty as to the timing of their utilisation.

The cash tax rate is expected to be lower than the income 
statement tax rate as we utilise our deferred tax assets. In the 
coming year, we envisage a cash tax rate of approximately 17% 
of underlying profit before tax.

Earnings per share
Underlying basic earnings per share was 20.4p (2007 
underlying pro forma: 14.4p), an improvement of 42%. Basic 
loss per share was (24.4p) (2007 pro forma: earnings per share 
0.6p; 2007 statutory: earnings per share 6.4p).

Dividends
The Board is recommending a final dividend of 6.9p per 
share. On 18 March 2008, the Board recommended an interim 
dividend of 2.8p per share, making a full year dividend of 9.7p 
per share. This represents a payout ratio of 48%. The final 
dividend will be paid on 6 April 2009 to holders of relevant 
shares on the register at 13 March 2009. 

The Group’s policy is to maintain underlying dividend cover at 
around two times. We intend to continue to operate a dividend  
re-investment plan as an alternative to receiving a cash dividend.

Cash and Liquidity
The net debt position (cash and cash equivalents less loans, 
overdrafts and finance leases) at the year end was £136.6m  
(2007: £237.4m). This consisted of £1,129.8m of cash and 
£99.3m of current interest-bearing loans and liabilities and 
£1,167.1m of non-current interest-bearing loans and liabilities. 

The reduction in net debt has arisen primarily due to cash 
generated from operating activities and the proceeds of sale 
and leaseback transactions, partially offset by our acquisition 
programme. In June, the Group entered into a sale and 
leaseback transaction of 19 owned aircraft for proceeds of 
$526m. This transaction enabled the Group to further increase 
the flexibility of the business model while securing access to 
modern and fuel-efficient aircraft such as the Boeing 737-800 
NG. The disposal proceeds were used to pay down debt. 
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Summer 2009
In the UK, we are continuing to focus on managing our capacity 
in anticipation of a weaker earlier booking environment. 
Accordingly, we have reduced capacity by 16% to ensure  
that we achieve strong average selling prices, meet load  
factor targets and consequently achieve our margin targets.  
To date volumes have been 17% lower but average selling 
prices have remained strong and are up 10% versus prior year, 
which is substantially greater than the expected cost inflation  
(of circa 6%) in this season. The total programme load factor 
is flat versus prior year at 19% but, as a result of the capacity 
reductions we have implemented, there is already 14% less 
stock left to sell for the season. 

Fuel/Foreign Exchange
We are largely hedged for all open seasons, providing us with 
certainty of cost to inform our pricing decisions. As a result of 
greater cost inflation in the UK (due to the current weakness 
of Sterling against the Euro) and as the only source market on 
sale for the Summer 2009 programme, we are further hedged 
than in Continental European source markets.

Whilst partially offset by the Dollar strength, the recent  
fall in fuel prices will lead to some benefit in the current 
financial year in Continental European source markets. 
However, we anticipate that the majority of the benefit of  
the lower oil prices will materialise in the financial year  
ending 30 September 2010.

UK Hedged Position 

  Winter 2008/09 Summer 2009

Fuel  96% 95%
FX Euro  96%  95%
FX USD  99%  94%

As at 21 November 2008

Group Hedged Position

  Winter 2008/09 Summer 2009

Fuel  90%  83%
FX Euro  97%  95%
FX USD  90%  85%

As at 21 November 2008

Integration
Progress has been excellent to date. As a result we are 
upgrading the synergy target from £150m to £175m per 
annum and have accelerated the delivery timetable. The 
additional £25m synergy benefit will be achieved primarily 
through additional benefits of £15m arising from the UK 

Current Trading
Trading is in line with our most recent trading update that was 
released on 14 November 2008.

For all seasons currently on sale, we continue to focus on 
ensuring that we recover our input costs and achieve our 
margin targets by leveraging the flexibility we have in our 
business model. Accordingly, in anticipation of a period of 
weaker demand, we have implemented significant capacity 
reductions across our source markets. These reductions have 
enabled us to maintain, and in certain markets (UK and Central 
Europe) increase, the average selling prices we are achieving 
compared to our trading update on 29 September 2008, reach 
the necessary load factors and deliver our margin targets. 

Winter 2008/09

Current Trading1 Winter 2008/09 Risk Capacity3 

     Left  
y-o-y variation% ASP2 Sales2 Customers2 Capacity to sell4

Mainstream
Northern Region
Short-haul +5 -9 -13 -16
Medium-haul +11 +3 -7 -8
Long-haul +6 -1 -7 -4
UK – Charter +10 flat -9 -9 -9

Nordic +3 -6 -9 -8 -8
Canada flat -1 -1 -4 -5
Northern Region – Total  +8 -2 -9 -8 -8

Germany – Charter +4 flat -4
Germany – Scheduled +23 flat -19
Germany – Total +9 flat -8 -15
 
Austria +2 -13 -15 -10
Switzerland -4 -9 -5 -20
Poland +8 +41 +31 +24
Central Europe – Total +8 -1 -8 -15 -18

France +11 -6 -15 -8
Belgium +5 +2 -3 -6
Netherlands  +1 -13 -14 -15
Western Europe – Total +7 -6 -12 -8 -1

Specialist & Emerging Markets +11 +9 -2  
Activity NA -6 NA  
ODS +6 +14 +8  
     
UK Scheduled –  
discontinued +39 -68 -77 -88 -97

1 These statistics are up to 16 November 2008
2 These statistics relate to all customers whether risk or non-risk
3  These statistics exclude non-risk lines of business – primarily in  

Western and Central Europe (e.g. overland)
4 % change in number of holidays left to sell versus prior year
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Group and Global
•  Migration of our UK Specialist brands onto a single 

reservation platform and consolidation of call centre 
operations.

•  Migration of our ski businesses on to one reservation 
platform and consolidation of a number of UK Activity 
businesses into a single head office infrastructure.

•  Successful launch of Marmara products through NF 
distribution channels.

•  Savings delivered in insurance purchasing and cash 
management charges. 

•  Combination of offline incoming agency services in a  
number of key destinations within our ODS sector.

TUI AG
On 12 October 2008 TUI AG announced the disposal of its 
shipping business, Hapag-Lloyd AG, and indicated that the 
proceeds of the sale might be used to make an offer for the 
rest of TUI Travel’s shares. TUI AG subsequently announced  
on 16 October that it had no current intention of making  
such an offer. Under the City Code on Takeovers and  
Mergers, it is precluded from doing so for six months,  
except in certain situations.

As it may become necessary to consider an offer by TUI AG, 
the Board of TUI Travel will form a committee of independent 
directors to consider the merits of an offer and any related 
matters. Sir Michael Hodgkinson, Deputy Chairman and Senior 
Independent Director of TUI Travel will chair this committee.

Outlook
Despite a more challenging trading environment we are 
satisfied with our current position across all our source markets 
and businesses. Within our Mainstream source markets, 
through a combination of reducing fixed capacity, third- 
party flying (which is 30% of all tour operator capacity) and 
uncommitted bedstock (which accounts for 80% of bedstock), 
we believe we can manage the current market conditions and 
continue to improve the performance of the business.

We retain significant strength, diversity and flexibility in our 
business model through our hedging positions, capacity 
management, brand leadership and management experience to 
be well positioned to outperform the market in 2009 and 2010.

integration, particularly in the airline as a result of further 
efficiencies in network planning. In addition, the Group and 
Global target has been upgraded by £10m to £35m, due to 
further opportunities identified in the integration of a number 
of specialist businesses in the UK that require turnaround and 
our offline incoming agencies in the ODS Sector.

Accordingly, we have exceeded our 2008 target by £10m, with 
£35m of benefits delivered in the year. We ended the financial 
year with an exit run-rate of £70m, meaning that the majority 
of our 2009 target of £100m is already achieved.

Synergy phasing

£m  FY08 FY09 FY10

P&L benefit  35 100 160
Incremental P&L benefit  +35 +65 +60
Exit rate  70 140 175

As a result of the additional synergy opportunities identified 
and the acceleration of synergy delivery, the one-off integration  
costs are now expected to total £230m (from £180m). 
Expected capital expenditure to support the integration is 
expected to be at £28m (from £25m). Integration costs of 
£164m have been incurred in 2008, with the remainder to be 
incurred in 2009.

Integration cost

£m FY08 FY09 FY10 Total

P&L cost 164 66 – 230
Capex cost 15 13 – 28

In the financial year, we achieved a number of key milestones 
relating to the integration project, including:

UK Mainstream
•  Integration of our UK airlines, which are now operating  

as a single entity, under a single operating licence, as 
Thomson Airways. 

•  Launch of a combined reservation platform for Summer 
2009 in the UK, which will enable us to optimise our yield 
management capability.

•  Integration and relocation of UK airline and tour operating 
support functions to a new UK head office in Luton.

•  Consolidation of UK Mainstream call centres and customer 
service operations. 

•  Virtual Call Centre rollout across the First Choice retail 
network, which will enable us to recreate the customer 
service benefits and cost efficiencies experienced when  
this was implemented in the Thomson retail estate.

Well positioned
We retain significant strength, diversity and flexibility in our business 
model through our hedging positions, capacity management, brand 
leadership and management experience to be well positioned to 
outperform the market in 2009 and 2010.
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Our People
TUI Travel operates a global portfolio of businesses, 
employing approximately 50,000 people across the Group. 
Although businesses within our portfolio are at various stages 
of development and maturity, together we share a common 
vision and set of values (see page 7). Our aim is to build 
the most capable and engaged teams to deliver optimum 
business performance and thereby support the goals of 
delivering high performance to create superior shareholder 
value and career fulfilment for all of our colleagues.

We are proud of the commitment and dedication of our 
colleagues in delivering the levels of service and efficiency 
which make us stand out from our competitors. Everyone is 
valued for their skills and talents and every effort is made to 
support them to achieve their full potential.

Leadership capability is key to our success and we therefore 
continue to invest in developing our leaders. A number of 
our senior managers have had the opportunity of attending 
a leadership programme working in a community in Costa 
Rica. This is a Groupwide programme, which builds the skills 
and capability of those with the greatest responsibility for 
leadership and strategy, as well as supporting our sustainable 
development tourism goals. There is also a Groupwide 
management programme targeted at middle management 
and an international trainee programme through which we 
recruit and develop young talent. 

Retaining key people is critical to our continued business 
success particularly in times of change. Talent across the 
Group is reviewed regularly at Board level and our focus is to 
retain and develop individuals to drive the business forward. 
We actively promote people to career opportunities across 
the Group to enhance the mix of professional, entrepreneurial 
and general management skills. To meet seasonal demands, 
where possible, we move our top performing frontline 
colleagues between retail, overseas representation and airline 
cabin crew roles. This develops a multi-skilled workforce with 
year-round experience of delivering service to our customers. 
For further information see page 38.

Sustainable Development key achievements
TUI Travel is the top-placed travel company, at 16, in The 
2008 Good Companies Guide – The Observer’s annual ethical 
ranking of FTSE 350 companies.

TUI Travel airlines saved 57,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide 
in 2007/08, through the Groupwide Fuel Conservation 
Programme. The savings were made by implementing fuel 
efficiency measures in engineering, flight planning and 
management, maintenance and ground operations.

TUI Central Europe awarded the title of TUI Environmental 
Champion to 101 hotels worldwide that met strict criteria for 
environmental protection and sustainable hotel management.

First Choice Holidays won the inaugural British Travel Award 
for Most Environmentally Responsible Large Tour Operator in 
2007 and retained it in 2008.

TUI Marine’s flagship yacht base in Tortola (British Virgin 
Islands) is working to save water, with new laundry water 
recycling facilities handling 12,000 gallons per day, and a 
desalination plant which produces 65,000 gallons of fresh 
water daily.

TUI UK & Ireland and its customers have donated over 
£2m to the World Care Fund, helping to fund more than 50 
sustainable tourism projects through The Travel Foundation 
and funding 250,000 tonnes of Gold Standard carbon offsets 
through ClimateCare, equivalent to 20% of First Choice 
Airways’ carbon emissions

YMT Vacations in California switched to an environmentally-
friendly bus fleet through MTR Western which was awarded 
the United Motorcoach Association’s inaugural Green 
Highways award.

TUI Deutschland released an online ‘green brochure’ 
highlighting its commitment to the environment.  

Costa Rica Leadership Programme 
16 senior managers attended the pilot event of our new leadership 
programme in Costa Rica. A unique learning experience was created 
by providing business expertise and resources to a local eco-tourism 
business. The four-day programme combined leadership and team-
working skills with physical hands-on construction work to help 
achieve the goals of growth and improved profitability.
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Engaging with stakeholder groups with an interest in the 
Group and its activities helps us to develop as a business 
and to incorporate respect for the environment and people 
into the way we work. In the financial year, we developed a 
directory of sustainable development-related stakeholder 
contacts and consulted key stakeholders on the draft Group 
sustainable development strategy.

Reporting and communications
In the past year we made two public disclosures of  
sustainable development progress. TUI Travel completed  
its first submission to the Carbon Disclosure Project 
in July 2008 and came second out of 72 companies in 
the Hospitality, Leisure & Business Services sector. Our 
Environment & People update was published in September 
2008 with independent assurance of our environmental  
data by Bureau Veritas. Both reports can be downloaded 
from www.tuitravelplc.com/tuitravel/environment

Members of the Group Sustainable Development team 
presented at high-profile industry events such as the  
Toronto Responsible Tourism conference (November 2007), 
Oxford University’s Climate Change and Tourism conference 
and the PATA CEO Challenge (both April 2008).

Priorities for 2008/09
TUI Travel’s new Sustainable Development strategy is  
focused around four themes:
•  Climate Change – reducing the Group’s carbon emissions 

from aviation, cruise ships, ground transport, major 
premises and exclusive properties.

•  Destinations – optimising our holidays’ environmental, 
economic and social impact through influencing our  
supply chain and initiating projects in destinations.

•  Our People – involving and empowering our colleagues  
in sustainable development.

•  Our Customers – creating and satisfying customer  
demand for more sustainable holidays, through  
customer communications and product innovation.

Sustainable Development
Over the past year, sustainable development has been 
an important part of the business agenda for TUI Travel. 
We have had an unrivalled opportunity to combine the 
experience of two leaders in the field and incorporate 
sustainable development into the values and structure  
of one of the world’s largest leisure travel companies.

Strategy development
Commitment from the most senior level is vital for 
embedding sustainable development throughout the Group. 
In the last year we developed a best practice governance 
structure, strengthened the Group Sustainable Development 
team and appointed both a Board-level Steering Committee 
and Sector Coordinators for sustainable development. For 
more details on the governance of sustainable development 
see page 39.

This year’s focus has been on developing a Groupwide 
sustainable development strategy in consultation with 
Sector Coordinators, senior management and key 
external stakeholders. We conducted an internal audit of 
all Group businesses against sustainable development 
KPIs, and delivered workshops to share and develop best 
environmental practice in our airlines.

We seek to make sustainable development central to the 
way we run and manage TUI Travel. In early 2008, we 
commissioned Forum for the Future to develop a fact base  
of sustainable development issues – with particular reference 
to climate change – for consideration by the Managing 
Directors of all Group businesses when developing their 
business strategies.

Sustainable development was a key topic at this year’s 
inaugural Group Management Conference and the inclusion 
of Responsible Leadership as a Company value this year 
means that all TUI Travel colleagues are actively considering 
how these issues affect them. Sustainable development 
was also included in the senior management leadership 
programme in Costa Rica.

Blue Train holiday experience
TUI Nordic has developed a train charter holiday package which is 
less carbon intensive than flying, reducing the environmental impact 
of customers’ travel to their holiday destination. The ‘Blue Train’ 
experience takes customers on an overnight train from Malmo in 
Sweden to many resorts across Europe. 
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The key priorities and actions for 2008/09 are to  
complete Sector-specific sustainable development strategies 
and further embed sustainable development into Group 
business strategies. Further details of the Group’s Sustainable 
Development strategy will be communicated in early 
2009, when we plan to publish our first full sustainable 
development report as TUI Travel. 

Risk Management 
The Group has adopted a risk management framework  
that is designed to provide a formal structure through  
which the business will:

•   Endeavour to reduce the exposure of all its businesses  
to risk as far as possible.

•   Seek to recognise and derive the maximum benefit  
from any opportunities identified through risk analysis.

•   Seek to achieve excellence through managing risk 
effectively throughout the organisation.

In order to achieve the framework objectives, a dedicated 
Group risk management team has been established and 
is developing the appropriate policies and procedures to 
ensure that the risk management framework is embedded 
throughout the organisation on a consistent basis. This 
framework has been designed and tested in line with best 
practice and in accordance with Turnbull Guidance. For 
further information on Corporate Governance see page 44.

The Process
The Group’s risk framework seeks to engage the entire 
business. A bespoke set of tools have been developed by 
the Group to support a common and effective approach 
to identification, evaluation and management of risk at a 
business level. Active risk workshops, facilitated by Group 
Risk Management, are being carried out at functional and 
divisional levels within the sectors to introduce the new 
framework. All risks identified and evaluated are assigned  
 

to risk owners within the businesses. As part of this  
process, existing controls are documented along with further 
action plans and delivery dates to treat and mitigate risk 
appropriately. Sector Boards have nominated Risk Champions 
to actively support the process, ensuring that it is embedded 
as an ongoing working practice and updated risk reports are 
provided periodically at Sector Board level. The framework is 
supported by a written procedure and facilitated by a web-
based IT solution which is integrated with our Group incident 
management system. 

Reporting and Governance
Sectors report their risk profile on a quarterly basis. 
The Group Risk Management function consolidates and 
aggregates the Group risk profile, closely monitoring 
the businesses’ progress in relation to risk management 
throughout the organisation. 

Group Risk Management presents the consolidated Group 
risk profile to the Audit Committee for review on a half-
yearly basis. Additionally, at each Audit Committee meeting, 
progress on the development of the framework is reported 
and individual sector management teams are invited to 
review and discuss their risk profile on a rotational basis. 

Group Audit Services (GAS) play a key role in ensuring that 
the businesses adhere to the risk management procedure. 
More importantly, GAS also reviews and tests the evaluation 
of reported risks – ensuring that identified controls are tested 
and actions have been validated to appropriately mitigate risk 
as reported.

Sustainable tourism in Ecuador 
Sawadee Reizen has a long track record of working with sustainable 
tourism projects. It offers an authentic and sustainable rural 
community tourism experience in Ecuador through working with 
UNORCAC, an organisation of rural and indigenous people. UNORCAC 
represents 44 indigenous communities around Otavalo in Ecuador, 
with the objective of improving the living conditions of its members. 
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Business &  
Financial Review

Responsible leadership
continued

 Hedging and cost base increases

 Macroeconomic

 Aviation financing

 Health and safety

 

 Liquidity and cash management

 Integration and synergy

Risk TypeGroupwide risk treatment
Certain common risks exist across the Group and therefore 
benefit from a Group approach to mitigation such as 
customer and employee health and safety, business 
continuity, corporate and social responsibility and incident 
management response. Policy and mitigation for such 
Groupwide risks are facilitated and supported by subject 
experts at the centre but responsibility for managing  
such risks clearly lies within the businesses themselves.

Due to the nature of our products and activities, customer 
health and safety related risks remain of paramount 
importance to the Group. For this reason, expertise has  
been consolidated in a central team to provide a greater 
degree of shared skills across the entire Group. This team 
is responsible for developing Group policy on customer and 
employee health and safety and for facilitating practical 
application of such policies at varying levels across the 
Group, as required by individual source markets. Andrew 
John, Group Legal Director & Company Secretary, takes 
responsibility for such health and safety matters on behalf  
of the Board and closely guides the Risk Management  
team in the development of Group health and safety risk 
mitigation framework. 

A sample of some of the key risks that the Group is  
currently managing are:
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 Hedging and cost base increases

 Macroeconomic

 Aviation financing

 Health and safety

 

 Liquidity and cash management

 Integration and synergy

 •  Robust hedging policies in place across all source markets, controlled and  
monitored by the Group treasury team.

 •  Standing agenda item at the monthly Mainstream meeting.
 •  Flexible cost base and strong focus on fixed cost reduction and transitioning  

fixed to variable costs.
 •  Strong relationships and contracts with key suppliers to control cost increases.

 •  Flexible business model (beds and aircraft) in order to change capacity in response  
to changes in demand with only 20% of Group bedstock committed and third party  
flying accounting for 30% of all tour operator Mainstream volume.

 •  Majority of aircraft on operating leases with 43% of all leases due to expire in the  
next three years.

 •  Strong focus on cost control.
 •  Competitive supplier scale benefits post–merger.
 •  Robust, aligned strategy across Group.
 •  Strong balance sheet and secured lines of finance.

 •  Long and well established partnerships with diverse group of institutions  
providing aviation financing.

 •  Continued strong operating performance.
 •  Deferring some new aircraft deliveries going forward.

 •  Robust risk based approach to Health and Safety due diligence for Group  
products and activities.

 •  Destination based quality reviews carried out for areas of high risk.
 •  Industry leading expertise employed at the centre to set policy and provide guidance.
 •  Best practice sharing across new Group tailored to source market needs.
 •  Robust airline safety management systems in place across the Group.

 •  Daily cash balances reported and monitored.
 •  Strong focus on working capital management at the centre.
 •  Implementing centralised cash management system post integration.
 •  Daily counterparty reviews and investment control by central team.
 •  Key lines of finance do not expire until 2011 (TUI AG £0.8bn) and 2012 (RCF £0.8bn).
 •  Strong relationships with banking and financing partners.

 •  Governance structure and reporting framework well established.
 •  Group integration steering committee review progress and monitor delivery against plan.
 •  Robust Human Resources’ plans in place focused on retention and people development.
 •  Regular reporting and communications in place.
 •  Strong performance results delivered to date.

Risk Description

  Negative impact on margin from volatile  
foreign exchange and fuel price increases 
and other general cost base increases.

  Decline in the economy and potential impact on 
consumer demand and capacity commitments.

  Ability to secure adequate funding for aircraft 
order book as a result of economic climate.

  Accident or injury being caused to any of our 
colleagues or customers whilst in our care as a 
result of failure in our due diligence process or 
supplier negligence.

  Management of Group cash position over  
diverse portfolio and potential risk to 
refinancing due to lack of credit within  
financial markets.

  Delay to synergy delivery and increase in  
operating costs as a result of extended post 
merger activity and instability with regards to 
people, processes and systems as a result of  
the integration.

Business Response



Governance

TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 200836

Board of Directors

1716

151413

9

10 11 12

87

6

1

4

32

5



TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2008 37

14. Giles Thorley
Non-Executive Director
(Age 41)
Giles Thorley became a Non-Executive 
Director of First Choice Holidays PLC in 
February 2006 and joined the Board of 
TUI Travel PLC on 19 March 2007. He 
is currently the Chief Executive Officer 
of Punch Taverns plc. After qualifying 
as a Barrister, he had an early career at 
Nomura International plc and has been 
in his current post of Chief Executive of 
Punch Taverns plc since 2001. At Punch, 
he successfully led the IPO and Punch’s 
subsequent acquisition of Pubmaster and 
Spirit Group to its current position as the 
largest pub company in the UK. 

15. Harold Sher
Non-Executive Director
(Age 61)
Harold Sher joined the Board of TUI  
Travel PLC as a Non-Executive Director  
on 29 October 2007. He studied 
commerce at university and started  
his career as a Chartered Accountant. 
Harold moved to industry early in his 
career holding a range of executive 
positions before being appointed 
Chief Executive of Amalgamated Metal 
Corporation PLC in 1992, a position he 
still holds. He has served as president of 
a major North American Steel Services 
Group and, together with his role at 
Amalgamated Metal Corporation, this has 
provided him with broad international 
commercial experience.

16. Clare Chapman
Non-Executive Director
(Age 48)
Clare Chapman became a Non-Executive 
Director of First Choice Holidays PLC in 
March 2003 and joined the Board of TUI 
Travel PLC on 28 June 2007. She is the 
Director General of Workforce for the NHS 
and Department of Health and, prior to 
this, was Group HR Director of Tesco PLC. 
In addition, Clare serves on the Advisory 
Board of the Judge Business School, 
University of Cambridge. 

 17. Dr Erhard Schipporeit
Non-Executive Director
(Age 59)
Dr Erhard Schipporeit joined the Board of 
TUI Travel PLC as a Non-Executive Director 
on 29 October 2007. He started his career 
in 1979 in the Bosch Group and in 1981 
he joined VARTA AG/VARTA Battery AG, 
at that time a leading European battery 
company, where he became CFO in 1990 
and CEO & Chairman of the Executive 
Board in 1993. After the successful 
restructuring of VARTA the next move 
in his career brought him to the Munich 
based conglomerate company VIAG AG  
as CFO. VIAG merged in 2000 with VEBA 
AG to form the new E.ON AG, one  
of the world’s leading utility companies. 
Erhard was CFO and Executive Board 
Member of E.ON from 2000 until his 
resignation in November 2006. In 2007 
he was appointed Senior Advisor for 
BNP Paribas SA and is also currently a 
Non-Executive Director of a number of 
companies including SAP AG, Deutsche 
Boerse AG, Talanx AG and Hanover 
Rueckversicherung AG.
 

9. Rainer Feuerhake
Non-Executive Director
(Age 64)
Rainer Feuerhake joined the Preussag 
Group (now TUI AG) in 1968 and by 1980 
was responsible for group accounting. 
Rainer was appointed as Chief Financial 
Officer of Preussag AG in November 
1988 and subsequently TUI AG following 
a resolution to rename Preussag AG 
on 1 July 2002. In this position Rainer 
was responsible for the departments 
of Accounting & Reporting, Finance, 
Investor Relations, Tax Affairs, Mergers & 
Acquisitions, Destination Management and 
the Shared Service Centre. He joined the 
Board of TUI Travel PLC on 28 June 2007.

10. Tony Campbell
Non-Executive Director 
(Age 59)
Tony Campbell became a Non-Executive 
Director of First Choice Holidays PLC  
in April 1997 and joined the Board  
of TUI Travel PLC on 28 June 2007.  
He was Deputy Chief Executive of Asda 
Stores Limited until March 2001 and is 
currently Chairman of Hobbs Headco 
Limited, Chairman of T M Lewin &  
Sons Limited, Chairman of The White 
Company and a director of Alaska Food 
Diagnostics Limited. 

11. Dr Albert Schunk
Non-Executive Director
(Aged 67)
Dr Albert Schunk joined the Board of TUI 
Travel PLC as a Non-Executive Director 
on 29 October 2007. Albert studied 
economics at university and carried 
out a research project for the German 
Government in Latin America. After 
joining IG-Metall, he has served on the 
supervisory board of Volkswagen and 
other German Companies since 1976. 
In 1994 he became a member of the 
European Economic and Social Council  
in Brussels and has recently been advising 
the Riu Group in Spain.

12. Bill Dalton
Non-Executive Director
(Age 64)
Bill Dalton became a Non-Executive 
Director of First Choice Holidays PLC in 
October 2004 and joined the Board of 
TUI Travel PLC on 19 March 2007. He was 
previously an executive director of HSBC 
Holdings plc, Chief Executive of HSBC 
Bank plc and Global Head of Personal 
Financial Services for the HSBC Group. 
During his banking career, he has amassed 
a great deal of international expertise 
and is also a non-executive director of 
a number of UK and North American 
companies including Associated Electric 
& Gas Insurance Services (AEGIS), AEGIS 
Managing Agency Limited (UK), HSBC 
North America Holding Inc, Talisman 
Energy Inc and US Cold Storage Inc. 

13. Jeremy Hicks
Non-Executive Director
(Age 55)
Jeremy Hicks became a Non-Executive 
Director of First Choice Holidays PLC 
in March 2005 and joined the Board of 
TUI Travel PLC on 28 June 2007. He is a 
Chartered Accountant with a number of 
business interests particularly in the field 
of marketing services. He has extensive 
experience in the world of finance as an 
Investment Banker and most recently 
as Chief Financial Officer of Aegis Group 
plc, a leading UK-based multi-national 
marketing services group, from which he 
resigned in April 2007.

4. Paul Bowtell
Chief Financial Officer
(Age 40)
Paul Bowtell joined the Board of TUI Travel 
PLC on 28 June 2007. He was appointed 
to the Board of First Choice Holidays PLC 
in September 2004 as Group Finance 
Director and was previously the Finance 
Director of British Gas, a subsidiary of 
Centrica plc, where he had been since 
January 2002. Prior to that, he was with 
W H Smith plc where he held a number 
of corporate centre roles before becoming 
the Finance Director of the UK Retail 
business. He is an Associate of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales. In November 2007 
Paul was appointed a Non-Executive 
Director of SThree PLC.

5. William Waggott
Commercial Director
(Age 46)
William Waggott joined the Board of TUI 
Travel PLC on 28 June 2007. He spent 
the early part of his career with Coopers 
& Lybrand and Courthaulds Textiles plc, 
where he performed various senior group 
finance and divisional finance director 
roles. William joined Airtours plc in 1992 
as UK Leisure Group Finance Director, 
prior to joining Thomson Travel Group in 
2001. He then went on to become Chief 
Financial Officer of TUI Tourism.
 

6. Christoph Mueller
Aviation Director
(Age 46)
Christoph Mueller has extensive 
experience within the aviation industry, 
having held senior positions in Daimler 
Benz Aerospace, Lufthansa AG and the 
Sabena Group. He became Chief Financial 
Officer of DHL Worldwide Network SA 
in 2002 and became a member of the 
executive committee of Deutsche Post 
AG in 2004. In January 2006, Christoph 
joined the Executive Committee of TUI, 
responsible for the flight division. From 
September 2006 to the date of the merger 
between First Choice Holidays PLC and 
the Tourism Division of TUI AG he was a 
member of the Executive Board of TUI AG. 
Christoph joined the Board of TUI Travel 
PLC on 28 June 2007. 

7. Dr Volker Böttcher
Managing Director, Central Europe
(Age 49)
After an early career in law, Volker joined 
Touristik Union International in 1987 as 
a legal advisor. Having occupied various 
management positions, he became head 
of TUI’s Special Programmes Division in 
1996 which included responsibility for 
long-haul destinations, city tours and the 
Eastern Mediterranean. In 2003 Volker 
was appointed Chairman for Central 
Europe for TUI AG, being responsible 
for all tourism activities in the source 
markets of Germany, Austria, Switzerland 
and Poland. He was appointed to the 
board of TUI Deutschland GmbH in 
April 2000. Following the restructuring of 
TUI’s business model in Germany, he was 
appointed CEO of TUI Deutschland GmbH 
in July 2001. Volker joined the Board of 
TUI Travel PLC on 19 June 2007.

8. Johan Lundgren
Managing Director, Northern Region
(Age 42)
Johan was appointed to the Board of  
TUI Travel PLC on 21 December 2007.  
He has worked in the Nordic tourism 
industry for almost 20 years, 10 of  
which have been as a Managing Director. 
Between 1999 and 2001, he was President 
of Sunquest Vacations in Canada. Johan 
went on to become Chief Executive of 
TUI Nordic and also took responsibility 
for tourism sales in the source markets of 
Italy and Russia. Following a reorganisation 
in January 2008, Johan is now responsible 
for the Northern Region which includes 
all Mainstream tourism sales in the UK 
& Ireland, Canada, Sweden, Norway, 
Denmark and Finland.

1. Dr Michael Frenzel
Non-Executive Chairman
(Age 61)
Dr Michael Frenzel joined the Board of 
TUI Travel PLC on 28 June 2007. Michael 
studied law at university and began his 
career at Westdeutsche Landesbank 
(WestLB), Düsseldorf, in 1981. He was 
promoted to various managerial positions 
and became manager of the Industrial 
Holdings Department in 1983 and overall 
manager of WestLB’s Equity Holdings 
Division in 1985 - including holdings in 
banking, leasing and real estate.

Michael has held the position of Chief 
Executive & Chairman of the Executive 
Board of TUI AG (formerly Preussag 
AG) since January 1994, overseeing 
its extensive acquisition programme 
in the late 1990s, which resulted in 
the acquisitions of TUI AG’s stake in 
Hapag-Lloyd and of leading tourism 
businesses such as Thomson Travel and 
Nouvelles Frontières. Michael is also 
currently a member of the supervisory 
board of a number of companies including 
Norddeutsche Landesbank, AXA Konzern 
AG and Volkswagen AG. 

2. Sir Michael Hodgkinson
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman and 
Senior Independent Director
(Age 64)
Sir Michael Hodgkinson joined the 
Board of First Choice Holidays PLC as a 
Non-Executive Director in January 2004 
and became Chairman in March 2004. 
He joined the Board of TUI Travel PLC on 
28 June 2007 as Non-Executive Deputy 
Chairman and is the Senior Independent 
Director. Following an early career in the 
automotive industry, he was appointed 
Chief Executive of Grand Metropolitan’s 
European Food Division in 1986 and in 
1992 he joined BAA plc, becoming Chief 
Executive in 1999, a post from which he 
retired in June 2003. 

Sir Michael was Senior Non-Executive 
Director at Royal Mail and Chairman of 
Post Office Limited until September 2007 
and is currently a Non-Executive Director 
of Transport for London Limited and 
Dublin Airport. He was also a Director of 
Bank of Ireland plc from May 2004 until 
July 2006. 

3. Peter Long
Chief Executive
(Age 56)
Peter Long joined the Board of TUI Travel 
PLC on 28 June 2007. In November 
1996 he was appointed Group Managing 
Director of First Choice Holidays PLC and 
became Chief Executive in September 
1999. Prior to joining First Choice, he  
was Chief Executive of Sunworld Holidays, 
having previously been Finance Director 
then Chief Executive of the tour operating 
division of the International Leisure Group. 

In October 2002 Peter was appointed a 
Non-Executive Director of Rentokil Initial 
plc and joined the board of Debenhams 
PLC as a Non-Executive Director in May 
2006. He was a Non-Executive Director  
of RAC plc (formerly Lex Service Plc)  
from February 2001 to June 2005. 
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The Directors submit their report to the members of  
TUI Travel PLC (the Company) for the 14-month period  
(the period) ended 30 September 2008.

Principal activity
The Group’s principal activity is that of an international 
leisure travel business. It provides a broad and diverse  
range of leisure travel experiences to more than 30m 
customers in 25 different source markets. 

Business review 
The Business and financial review for the year ended  
30 September 2008 is set out on pages 11 to 35 and 
forms part of the Report of the Directors. 

Business combination
On 3 September 2007, 1,118,010,650 shares were issued by 
the Company in connection with the business combination 
of the Tourism Division of TUI AG (excluding certain hotel 
assets) (TUI Tourism group of companies) and First Choice 
Holidays PLC (the Business Combination). The Business 
Combination completed on 3 September 2007 and, on that 
date, the Company’s ordinary shares were admitted to the 
Official List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s 
main market for listed securities.

In September 2007, the Company extended its accounting 
reference date from 31 July to 30 September 2008.  
The previous accounts for the Company were made  
up to 31 July 2007 - prior to the Business Combination. 
In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 (Business 
Combinations) an acquirer must be identified in the 
combination of the two groups. The identified acquirer 
is the TUI Tourism group of companies. Therefore the 
consolidated financial statements of the TUI Travel PLC 
Group of Companies (the Group) are prepared for the year 
ended 30 September 2008 with statutory comparative 
information being given for the 9-month period ended 
30 September 2007 – which is the accounting reference 
date for the former TUI Tourism group of companies. The 
consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis 
set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Results and dividends
The Group loss before taxation for the year ended 30 
September 2008, was £266.6m (2007: 9-month statutory 
profit before taxation £18.4m). 

On 7 April 2008, an initial interim dividend of 5.90p per 
ordinary share was paid.

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 6.90p per 
ordinary share, payable on 6 April 2009 to holders on  
the register at the close of business on 13 March 2009.  
When taken with the interim dividend of 2.80p per ordinary 
share paid on 1 October 2008, this gives a total dividend  
of 9.70p paid by the Group relating to the year ended  
30 September 2008. 

Share capital
The authorised and issued share capital of the Company, 
together with details of the movements in the Company’s 
issued share capital during the year, are shown in Note 23  
to the financial statements. 

On 18 March 2008, 49,998 non-voting, non-dividend bearing 
Redeemable Preference Shares of £1 each in the share 
capital of the Company held by TUI AG were redeemed.

People agenda 
TUI Travel operates a global portfolio of businesses, 
employing approximately 50,000 people across the Group 
– including Europe, the USA, Canada, Asia and Australia. 
Although businesses within our portfolio are at various stages 
of development and maturity, together we share a common 
vision and set of values. Our aim is to build the most capable 
and engaged teams to deliver optimum business performance 
and thereby support the goals of delivering high performance 
to create superior shareholder value and career fulfilment for 
all of our colleagues.

Our commitment to our colleagues is to:
•   Engage them in our aims and success – and in matters  

that affect them.
•  Promote a positive workplace.
•   Reward them in a way which is right for them and reflects 

their contribution to the Group’s success.

Our commitment to attracting, developing and  
retaining talent
We are proud of the commitment and dedication of our 
colleagues in delivering the levels of service and efficiency 
which make us stand out from our competitors. Everyone is 
valued for their skills and talents and every effort is made 
to support them to achieve their full potential. We are 
committed to using the most effective recruitment methods 
in the countries in which we operate and to building skills 
and knowledge in ways which suit both the business and our 
colleagues.

Our leadership capability is key to our success and we 
therefore continue to invest in developing our leaders. A 
number of our senior managers have had the opportunity of 
attending a leadership programme working in a community in 
Costa Rica. This is a Groupwide programme, which builds the 
skills and capability of those with the greatest responsibility 
for leadership and strategy, as well as supporting our 
sustainable tourism goals. There is also a Groupwide 
management programme targeted at middle management 
and an international trainee programme through which we 
recruit and develop young talent. Investment in the capability 
of our colleagues is a priority and they get the opportunity 
for dialogue on their training needs each year. 

Everyone also has the opportunity to meet their line manager 
at least once annually to discuss their performance and to  
make plans for development in the coming year. A range of 
performance and development tools enable individuals to 
identify training opportunities, understand the role they play 
in our success and support the setting of personal objectives 
linked to our business plans. 

Report of the Directors
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Retaining key people is critical to our continued business 
success particularly in times of change. Talent across the 
Group is reviewed regularly at Board level and our focus is to 
retain and develop individuals to drive the business forward. 
We actively promote people to career opportunities across 
the Group to enhance the mix of professional, entrepreneurial 
and general management skills. To meet seasonal demands, 
where possible, we move our top performing frontline 
colleagues between retail, overseas representation and airline 
cabin crew roles. This develops a multi-skilled workforce with 
year-round experience of delivering service to our customers.

Rewarding people and valuing their contribution 
We have a reward strategy developed around Groupwide 
principles ensuring alignment to our business objectives, with 
flexibility to enable successful local implementation across 
many differing geographies. Recognising and rewarding our 
colleagues in ways that are effective for them is a key driver 
for engagement and high performance. Our reward strategy 
includes base pay, competency pay, incentives, benefits and 
non-cash based rewards. We make every effort to measure 
the input and results of individuals and teams. Many people 
participate in share-based incentives, giving them an interest 
in the financial performance of the Company.

We encourage participation and meet our social and formal 
obligations through a wide range of representation forums. 
Opinion surveys, including a specific leadership survey across 
the Group’s senior managers, are conducted to monitor 
our colleagues’ knowledge of business direction, the level 
of engagement in our vision and values and views on the 
Company’s practices and policies.

As a global Group, we operate in many diverse cultures 
and accept our responsibility to rule out discrimination on 
any grounds including ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, 
disability and age. We continue to develop policies on non-
discrimination and inclusiveness in line with best practice 
and, where possible, they are incorporated into training for 
line managers as a key part of induction programmes. Unfair 
treatment of any colleague is not tolerated and confidential 
reporting mechanisms are available through which colleagues 
can confidentially raise matters of this nature which may 
concern them.

Ensuring that everyone shares our aims and are involved in 
matters which affect them is a key challenge to which we are 
committed. People work with us in many countries around 
the world – a significant number of whom are engaged on a 
seasonal basis. A key priority is that we hire people who we 
believe share our passion for our customers and products. 
We then build engagement through involvement, consultation 
and by providing regular local and global updates in ways 
which suit our working environment and local cultures. 

A Group extranet, ‘Discover’, enhances communications 
across the businesses within the Group. The website provides 
a central source where everyone can find external and 
internal information about our businesses, the Sectors and 
the Group. This is in addition to, and complements, Sector 
communication tools and processes which are tailored to 
meet Sector specific needs.

Sustainable Development
We recognise our responsibility to monitor and manage  
any negative impacts on the environment and people and to 
maximise our positive impacts. We seek to make sustainable 
development central to the way we run and manage the 
Group. We aspire to lead in sustainable development within 
the leisure travel industry and beyond. 

In early 2008, the managing directors of all Group 
businesses were asked to take into consideration sustainable 
development issues – with particular reference to climate 
change – when developing their business strategies.

This year, we have established a new governance structure 
for sustainable development within the Group. Johan 
Lundgren, Managing Director of TUI Northern Region, is 
responsible for reporting on sustainable development to the 
TUI Travel PLC Board. Dermot Blastland, Managing Director 
of TUI UK & Ireland, has responsibility for reporting on 
sustainable development to the Group Management Board.
 
Our senior-level Steering Committee, chaired by Dermot 
Blastland, is the driving force in establishing headline policy 
and objectives. The Committee meets twice a year and is 
composed of all Sector Managing Directors and a nominated 
Sector lead member responsible for driving sustainability 
forward within each Sector. 

The Group has maintained a dedicated Sustainable 
Development team of three people. This team reports direct 
to Dermot Blastland and its role is to drive sustainability 
performance across the Group towards best practice. Finally, 
each Sector has a Sustainable Development Coordinator with 
a remit to promote and embed environmental and social issues 
throughout their sector.

For information on the Group’s Sustainable Development 
strategy and projects see page 32.

Policy and practice on payment of suppliers
The Group’s (TUI Travel PLC and subsidiary companies) 
operating units are responsible for agreeing the terms and 
conditions under which business transactions with their 
suppliers are conducted. Due to the nature of the Group’s 
operations and in common with the industry as a whole, 
payments are often made in advance of the provision of 
goods and services. The Group does not follow any code  
or statement on payment practice but it is Group policy  
that payments to suppliers, whether in advance or after  
the provision of the goods or services, are made on the  
basis of the terms that have been agreed with them.

The Company (TUI Travel PLC) had no trade creditors  
at 30 September 2008 (31 July 2007: nil) and consequently  
creditor days have not been presented. Where the Company  
is the recipient of goods or services, payment of suppliers  
is conducted by one of the Group companies in accordance 
with the policy set out above.
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Directors
The Directors who served during the year and at the date of this report are set out below:

  Appointment date/ 
Director’s Name Title Resignation date

Dr Michael Frenzel Non-Executive Chairman 28 June 2007
Sir Michael Hodgkinson Non-Executive Deputy Chairman
 & Senior Independent Director 28 June 2007
Peter Long Chief Executive 28 June 2007
Paul Bowtell Chief Financial Officer 28 June 2007
Dr Volker Böttcher Managing Director, Central Europe 19 June 2007
Tony Campbell Non-Executive Director 28 June 2007
Clare Chapman Non-Executive Director 28 June 2007
Bill Dalton Non-Executive Director 19 March 2007
Rainer Feuerhake Non-Executive Director 28 June 2007
Jeremy Hicks Non-Executive Director 28 June 2007
Johan Lundgren Managing Director, Northern Region 21 December 2007
Christoph Mueller Aviation Director 28 June 2007
Peter Rothwell Deputy Chief Executive 16 September 2007/
  Resigned 21 December 2007
Dr Erhard Schipporeit Non-Executive Director 29 October 2007
Dr Albert Schunk Non-Executive Director 29 October 2007
Harold Sher Non-Executive Director 29 October 2007
Giles Thorley Non-Executive Director 19 March 2007
William Waggott Commercial Director 28 June 2007

As at 30 September 2008, the Board comprised six Executive Directors and eleven Non-Executive Directors (including the 
Chairman). There have been no changes to the Board since that date. Biographical details of all the Directors are set out on  
pages 36 to 37. 

In accordance with the Articles of Association, each year one-third of the Board members will retire by rotation and additional 
biographical details to enable shareholders to make an informed decision on the reappointment of the Non-Executive Directors  
are contained in the 2009 Notice of the Annual General Meeting (AGM). The Directors retiring by rotation at the AGM are  
Sir Michael Hodgkinson, Paul Bowtell, Bill Dalton, Jeremy Hicks, Christoph Mueller and William Waggott who, all being eligible,  
will offer themselves for re-election. 

The Board recommends to shareholders the re-appointment of all six Directors retiring at the meeting on the basis that they are  
all effective Directors of the Company and demonstrate the appropriate level of commitment in their respective roles. 

The terms of the Directors’ service contracts are disclosed in the Remuneration Report commencing on page 49. Directors’ interests 
in the shares of the Company are disclosed on page 58. 

Directors’ Insurance
The Company has purchased, and maintained throughout the year, Directors’ and Officers’ Liability insurance. In addition, cover has 
also been placed for any wrongful acts that occurred prior to the merger for both the former First Choice and TUI Tourism Directors.

Substantial shareholdings
As at 26 November 2008 the Company was aware of the following interests in the issued ordinary share capital of the Company: 

      Shares (millions) %

TUI AG       574,243,561 51.36
AllianceBernstein Investments L.P.      64,620,558 5.78
Standard Life Investments      37,707,800 3.37
Prudential Plc      33,942,313 3.03

Save as above, no other person has reported an interest, which is notifiable under the Companies Act 1985, being an interest of 
3% or more in the issued ordinary share capital.

Report of the Directors
continued
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Significant agreements – change of control
The Companies Act 2006 requires us to disclose any 
significant agreements that take effect, alter or terminate  
on a change of control of the Company.

Relationship Agreement with TUI AG
The Relationship Agreement between TUI AG and TUI 
Travel, dated 29 June 2007, includes the principle that TUI 
Travel will operate independently of TUI AG and records the 
understanding between TUI AG and TUI Travel regarding the 
relationship between them and the governance of TUI Travel. 
The Relationship Agreement will remain in force until either 
the shares in TUI Travel are no longer admitted to trading on 
the London Stock Exchange, or TUI AG has less than 10% 
of the rights to vote at general meetings. In addition, in the 
event that another party acquires control of TUI AG during 
the term of the Relationship Agreement, TUI AG will lose 
certain rights under the Relationship Agreement including  
its rights in respect of the composition of the Board.

The Relationship Agreement contains restrictions on the 
acquisition by TUI AG of additional shares in TUI Travel which 
result in the increase of its shareholding to more than 55% of 
the voting rights (save where TUI AG makes a general offer 
to acquire all TUI Travel shares in issue). TUI AG has anti-
dilution rights in respect of further issues of shares in TUI 
Travel other than on a pre-emptive basis. TUI Travel has also 
agreed that certain matters will require the prior approval 
of 80% of the Directors present at the meeting of the 
Board at which such matter is considered, including material 
changes to the business of any Group company, acquisitions 
and disposals of a value which exceeds £10m, the entry 
into, variation or redemption prior to their due date of any 
borrowing facilities and the approval of the annual budget.

£770 million bank revolving credit facility agreement
An agreement dated 29 June 2007 between a number of 
relationship banks and the Company relating to a £770m 
bank revolving credit facility currently provided to the 
Company, contains terms which give the lending banks 
the right to cancel all commitments to the Company and 
to declare all outstanding credits and accrued interest 
immediately due and payable if a change of control  
occurs. For the purpose of this agreement a change of  
control occurs if:

i  any person or group of persons acting in concert gains 
control of the Company; or

ii  TUI AG and any persons acting in concert with it acquires 
or acquire 75% or more of the voting shares in  
the Company.

No other agreements which take effect, alter or terminate 
upon a change of control of the Company following a 
takeover bid are considered to be significant in terms of their 
potential impact on the business of the Group as a whole.

Going concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have 
reasonable expectation that the Company and Group 
have adequate resources to continue operations for the 

foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

A further summary of funding and liquidity is included in 
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Charitable and political donations
The Group is committed to being proactively involved in 
protecting the natural environment and benefiting local 
communities in destination and source markets. During the 
year, the Group made charitable donations of £236,200 
(£181,000 for nine months to 30 September 2007). The Group 
made no political contributions during the year (2007: £nil).

Financial risk management
Details of the Group’s financial risk management objectives 
and framework are included in the Corporate Governance 
report on pages 46 and 47, and in the Responsible leadership 
section on page 33.

Auditors
On 2 May 2008, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP resigned as 
auditors of the Company and the Directors appointed KPMG 
Audit Plc as auditors. In accordance with Section 489 of the 
Companies Act 2006, a resolution for the re-appointment 
of KPMG Audit Plc as auditors of the Company is to be 
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, a copy of the 
statement of circumstances connected with their ceasing 
to hold office was deposited with the Company on 6 May 
2008 by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and this statement 
was circulated by the Company to all shareholders and other 
persons who are entitled to receive copies of the Company’s 
annual report and accounts.

Statement of the Directors as to disclosure of  
information to Auditors
The Directors confirm that, so far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s 
auditors are unaware; and each Director has taken all the 
steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director 
to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Company’s auditors  
are aware of that information. 

Other matters
An explanation as to the business to be transacted at the 
Annual General Meeting which is to be held on Thursday  
5 February 2009 at 10.30am, is contained in the explanatory 
notes to the Notice of Annual General Meeting which 
accompanies this Report and Accounts.

By Order of the Board

Andrew John
Company Secretary
26 November 2008
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual 
Report and the TUI Travel PLC Group of Companies (Group) 
and parent company financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and 
parent company financial statements for each financial year. 
Under that law they are required to prepare the Group 
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU and applicable law and have elected to prepare 
the parent company financial statements in accordance with 
UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

The Group financial statements are required by law and 
IFRS as adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial 
position and the performance of the Group; the Companies 
Act 1985 provides in relation to such financial statements 
that references in the relevant part of that Act to financial 
statements giving a true and fair view are references to their 
achieving a fair presentation.

The parent company financial statements are required by 
law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
parent company.

In preparing each of the Group and parent company financial 
statements, the Directors are required to:

•   Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently.

•   Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent.

•   For the Group financial statements, state whether they 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU.

•   For the parent company financial statements, state 
whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the parent company financial statements.

•   Prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group 
and the parent company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the parent company and enable 
them to ensure that its financial statements comply with 
the Companies Act 1985. They have general responsibility 
for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to 
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also 
responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, Directors’ 
Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement 
that comply with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ responsibility statement
Each of the Directors, the names of whom are set out on 
page 37 of this Annual Report, confirms that, to the best of 
his or her knowledge:

•  The financial statements, prepared in accordance with the 
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
the profit or loss of the company and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole.

•  The Directors’ report includes a review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the 
issuer and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

The responsibility statement was approved by the Board of 
Directors on 26 November 2008 and signed on its behalf by 
Paul Bowtell, Chief Financial Officer.

Paul Bowtell
Chief Financial Officer 
26 November 2008
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We have audited the Group and parent company financial 
statements (the financial statements) of TUI Travel PLC for 
the year ended 30 September 2008 and the 14-month period 
ended 30 September 2008 respectively which comprise 
the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated and 
Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income 
and Expense and the related notes. These financial statements 
have been prepared under the accounting policies set out 
therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as 
a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies 
Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than  
the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual 
Report and the group financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, and for preparing 
the parent company financial statements and the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report in accordance with applicable law and 
UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice), are set out in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities on page 42.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in 
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial 
statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial 
statements, and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report to be audited, have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the 
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 
We also report to you whether in our opinion the information 
given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial 
statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report 
includes that specific information presented elsewhere in the 
Annual Report that is cross referenced from the Business & 
Financial Review and Financial Risk Management sections of 
the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company 
has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not  
received all the information and explanations we require for 
our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ 
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement 
reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions  
of the 2006 Combined Code specified for our review by the 
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and we report if 
it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s 
statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or 

form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate 
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual  
Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
financial statements. We consider the implications for our 
report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements  
or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.  
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the 
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, 
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements and the part of  
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also 
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and 
judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of  
the financial statements and of whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which we considered necessary 
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements, and the 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited,  
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion  
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation  
of information in the financial statements and the part of  
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

•  the Group financial statements give a true and fair view,  
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the 
state of the Group’s affairs as at 30 September 2008  
and of its loss for the year then ended;

•   the Group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985  
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation;

•  the parent company financial statements give a true 
and fair view, in accordance with UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice, of the state of the parent company’s 
affairs as at 30 September 2008;

•  the parent company financial statements and the part of 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have 
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 1985; and

•  the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent 
with the financial statements.

KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor
8 Salisbury Square
London
EC4Y 8BB
26 November 2008

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of TUI Travel PLC
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Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors
The Company is controlled through its Board of Directors 
which meets regularly, including away days, to review  
the strategy of the Group. The schedule of matters 
specifically reserved to it for decision include: determining 
the strategy and control of the Group; amendments to the 
structure and capital of the Group; approval of financial 
reporting and controls; oversight of the Group’s internal 
controls; approval of capital and revenue expenditure of a 
significant size; acquisitions, disposals and share dealings; 
Board membership and appointments; approval of 
remuneration of Directors and certain senior management; 
corporate governance matters; and approval of Group  
policies and risk management strategies. 

The Board has delegated authority to the Committees of 
the Board on specific matters. The executive management 
is delegated to the Chief Executive, Executive Directors and 
certain other senior managers who, together, form the Group 
Management Board (GMB), the membership of which is 
disclosed on pages 12 and 13. Membership of the Nomination, 
Audit and Remuneration Committees are given on page 130. 
The Terms of Reference for the Board and its Committees are 
available for inspection on the Company’s website and will be 
available at the Annual General Meeting (AGM).

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and 
Chief Executive is clearly established and has been agreed 
by the Board. All Directors have access to the advice and 
services of the Company Secretary and all Directors can 
take independent professional advice, if necessary, at 
the Company’s expense. No such advice was sought by 
any Director during the year. The Company has in place 
appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal actions against 
its Directors and the level of cover is regularly reviewed. 
The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring Board 
procedures are followed including the formal minuting of any 
unresolved concerns that Directors may have in connection 
with the operation of the Company. During the year, there 
were no such unresolved issues.

The Chairman, Dr Michael Frenzel, did not meet the 
independence criteria laid out in the provisions of the 
Combined Code at the time of his appointment. This is 
because Dr Frenzel is the Chief Executive of TUI AG – a 51% 
shareholder of the Company. 

Details of the Chairman’s other significant commitments are 
given in his biography on page 37. The Chairman does have a 
number of other external roles but the Board is satisfied that 
these do not interfere with the performance of his duties as 
Chairman of the Company.

Of the 11 Non-Executive Directors, two are not considered 
to be independent – Dr Michael Frenzel and Rainer 
Feuerhake. Rainer Feuerhake is also an Executive Director 
of TUI AG which is a 51% shareholder of the Company. 
The appointments of Dr Frenzel and Rainer Feuerhake 
are pursuant to the Relationship Agreement between the 
Company and TUI AG dated 29 June 2007.

The Non-Executive Directors considered to be independent 
are Sir Michael Hodgkinson, Tony Campbell, Clare Chapman, 
Bill Dalton, Jeremy Hicks, Dr Erhard Schipporeit, Dr Albert 
Schunk, Harold Sher and Giles Thorley. 

The Board recognises that the Combined Code requires that 
at least half the Board, excluding the Chairman, should be 
independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board has 17 
members, of whom nine are deemed to be independent.  
Dr Erhard Schipporeit, Dr Albert Schunk and Harold Sher 
were appointed on 29 October 2007 and therefore the 
Company was compliant with provision A3.2 of the Combined 
Code for 11 months of the year. The Board is committed to 
seek to ensure that its membership is regularly refreshed. 

The letters of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors 
are available for inspection at the Company’s registered 
offices and will be available at the AGM which is scheduled to 
take place on 5 February 2009. 

All Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at 
intervals of no more than three years. The Directors retiring 
by rotation and offering themselves for re-election at the 
AGM on 5 February 2009 are Paul Bowtell, Bill Dalton, 
Jeremy Hicks, Sir Michael Hodgkinson, Christoph Mueller  
and William Waggott.

Full biographical details of all Directors are on pages 36 
and 37. Shareholders will be sent, as part of the papers 
accompanying the resolutions to re-elect the Non-Executive 
Directors, statements as to why the Company believes they 
should be re-elected. The Chairman intends to confirm at the 
AGM that the performance of each individual continues to be 
effective and demonstrates commitment to the role. 

The Company amended its articles of association in March 
2008 to deal with, amongst other things, the provisions on 
conflicts of interest in the Companies Act 2006 which came 
into force in October 2008. Following this, the Company has 
put in place procedures for the disclosure and review of any 
conflicts, or potential conflicts, of interest which the Directors 
may have and for the authorisation of such conflict matters 
by the Board. In deciding whether to authorise a conflict  
or potential conflict the Directors must have regard to  
their general duties under the Companies Act 2006.  
The authorisation of any conflict matter, and the terms  
of authorisation, may be reviewed at any time and will  
be reviewed formally by the Board on an annual basis.
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Nomination Committee
The nomination of suitable candidates for approval of the 
Board of Directors to fill Executive and Non-Executive 
vacancies on the Board is carried out by the Nomination 
Committee, which comprises the Chairman and four Non-
Executive Directors. The composition of the Nomination 
Committee is set out on page 130. 

In relation to the appointments of the three additional 
Non-Executive Directors who were appointed in October 
2007, a description of the roles and required capabilities was 
prepared and external advisers brought suitable candidates 
to the attention of the Board. These candidates were then 
subjected to scrutiny by the Nomination Committee in 
accordance with its Terms of Reference. A meeting of the 
Committee – chaired by Sir Michael Hodgkinson (Non-
Executive Deputy Chairman) – was held to consider the 
appointments of Dr Erhard Schipporeit, Dr Albert Schunk 
and Harold Sher. The Nomination Committee considered 
the existing skills and knowledge of the Board and the other 
significant commitments of Messrs Schipporeit, Schunk and 
Sher as part of the appointment process. 

Following the appointment of any new Director, the 
Chairman, in conjunction with the Company Secretary, 
ensures that a full, formal and tailored induction to the 
Company is provided. A detailed Induction and Training 
Manual was provided to all the Directors of the Company 
during the year. 

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee operates under written Terms  
of Reference to assist the Board in the discharge of its  
duties with regard to the Group’s accounts, the review of 
internal controls and risk management systems and the 
external audit. 

The composition of the Audit Committee, which is chaired 
by Jeremy Hicks, is set out on page 130. All members of the 
Committee are considered to be independent. In accordance 
with the Combined Code, the Board is satisfied that Jeremy 
Hicks has ‘recent and relevant financial experience’.

The Chief Financial Officer, Director of Group Audit Services 
and the Director of Risk Management are normally invited to 
meetings and other Directors, including the Chief Executive 
and the Non-Executive Directors, may also attend. The 
Chairman of the Committee also meets with the external 
auditors without management present.

The Committee’s duties, which were discharged during the 
year, include: 

•  Monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of 
the Company and formal announcements relating to 
the Company’s financial performance and reviewing the 
significant financial reporting judgements contained in 
them.

•  Reviewing the Company’s internal financial controls and the 
Company’s internal control and risk management systems. 

•  Monitoring the effectiveness of the Company’s Group  
Audit Services function through meetings with the Director 
of Group Audit Services, the agreement in advance of 
annual work plans and the review of the results of the 
work undertaken.

•  The consideration of the appointment, re-appointment and 
removal of the external auditors and the approval of their 
remuneration and terms of their engagement. 

 •  PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) were appointed auditors 
of the shelf company – Coppereagle PLC (which changed 
its name to TUI Travel PLC on 21 June 2007). The 
Company was formed to effect the merger of First Choice 
Holidays PLC (First Choice) and certain entities within the 
Tourism Division of TUI AG (TUI companies). As KPMG 
were more familiar with the audit of First Choice Holidays 
PLC it was agreed that they should act as the auditors of 
the holding company TUI Travel PLC. Accordingly, PwC 
resigned on 2 May 2008. A statement of circumstances in 
accordance with section 519 of the Companies Act 2006 
was circulated to shareholders with an explanatory letter.

 •  The Board decided that, in the first year of significant 
integration, each subsidiary company in the newly-
formed Group would be audited by the existing statutory 
auditors and that PwC should remain the appointed 
auditor of all the predecessor TUI companies and that 
KPMG Audit Plc should remain the appointed auditor of 
the First Choice companies. 

 •  The level of remuneration for PwC and KPMG Audit Plc 
has been approved. As part of the appointment process 
the independence of the auditors was also reviewed.

•   A policy for the engagement of the external auditors to 
supply non-audit services was approved on 29 October 
2007. The Audit Committee has concluded that, in some 
cases, the provision of non-audit services by the incumbent 
auditors, which does not impact on their independence in 
providing their primary statutory audit role, is appropriate 
and this has been communicated to the Board. Auditor 
independence and objectivity are safeguarded by the Audit 
Committee monitoring and approving, where appropriate, 
the nature of the work and the level of fees paid for non-
audit services as a proportion of the total audit fees paid. 
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Board and Committee meetings 

 Scheduled  Audit Remuneration Nomination 
 Board  Committee Committee Committee 
 meetings meetings meetings meetings

Dr Michael Frenzel (Non-Executive Chairman) 7(7) N/A 3(5) 2(2)
Sir Michael Hodgkinson (Non-Executive Deputy Chairman  
and Senior Independent Director) 7(7) N/A N/A 2(2)
Peter Long (Chief Executive)  7(7) N/A N/A N/A
Paul Bowtell (Chief Financial Officer) 7(7) N/A N/A N/A
Johan Lundgren (MD Northern Region) 7(7) N/A N/A N/A
William Waggott (Commercial Director) 7(7) N/A N/A N/A
Christoph Mueller (Aviation Director) 7(7) N/A N/A N/A
Volker Böttcher (MD Central Europe) 6(7) N/A N/A N/A
Rainer Feuerhake (Non-Executive Director) 7(7) N/A 4(5) 2(2)
Tony Campbell (Non-Executive Director) 6(7) 7(8) 5(5) N/A
Clare Chapman (Non-Executive Director) 5(7) N/A 4(5) 1(2)
Bill Dalton (Non-Executive Director) 7(7) 8(8) 5(5) N/A
Jeremy Hicks (Non-Executive Director) 6(7) 8(8) N/A 2(2)
Giles Thorley (Non-Executive Director) 5(7) 5(8) N/A N/A
Dr Albert Schunk (Non-Executive Director) 7(7) N/A N/A N/A
Harold Sher (Non-Executive Director) 7(7) N/A N/A N/A
Erhard Schipporeit (Non-Executive Director) 5(7) N/A N/A N/A

Corporate Governance
continued

Figures in brackets indicate the maximum number of 
meetings during the year in which the individual was a  
Board member. 

Following the successful integration of the Group’s businesses 
as part of the merger process, the Chairman intends to hold 
his first meeting with the Non-Executive Directors – without 
the Executive Directors being present – in early 2009.

Board, Committees and individual performance
As the Board and its Committees were newly-formed 
following the September 2007 merger, it was deemed 
appropriate to commence the Company’s performance 
appraisal cycle after a sufficient number of meetings had 
taken place for an informed view to be taken. Accordingly 
the cycle commenced in June 2008. 

To date, appraisals of the Audit and Remuneration Committees 
have taken place and it is planned to appraise the Board’s 
– and each individual Board member’s – performance in early 
2009. The Chairman’s evaluation will also take place in early 
2009, led by the Senior Independent Director, and will take  
into account the views of the Executive Directors.

Audit Committee effectiveness review
An assessment of the effectiveness of the internal audit 
function was conducted by questionnaire to members of the 
Audit Committee and other relevant executives during the 
year and the results were presented to the Audit Committee 
for consideration. The review concluded that the Committee 
was operating in an effective manner.

Remuneration Committee effectiveness review
The performance of the Remuneration Committee was 
reviewed during the year via a self-assessment and 
independent evaluation process. The review concluded that 
the Committee was operating in an effective manner.

Internal control and risk
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system  
of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness, while 
the role of management is to implement Board policies on 
risk and control. 

The system of internal control is designed to manage and 
mitigate rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives. In pursuing these objectives, internal 
controls – which include financial, operational and compliance 
controls – and risk management can only provide reasonable, 
and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement 
or loss. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of internal 
controls during the year.

The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks 
faced by the Group; that this has been in place for the year 
under review and up to the date of approval of the Annual 
Report and Accounts; that this process is regularly reviewed 
by the Board; and that the process accords with the Turnbull 
Guidance. The key elements of the control framework and 
review processes in place across the Group are as follows: 

•  The Board sets corporate strategy and business  
objectives. The GMB and Sector management integrate 
these objectives into their operational and financial 
business plans. Where areas for improvement in the 
system of internal control are identified, the Board 
considers the recommendations made by the GMB  
and the Audit Committee.
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•   The GMB meets regularly together with other senior 
executives to consider Group operational and financial 
performance and business development. The Chief 
Executive reports to the Board on behalf of the GMB 
on significant changes in the business and the external 
environment. The Chief Financial Officer provides the 
Board with financial information which includes key 
performance and risk indicators.

•   Group Risk Management have designed a framework for 
risk management for TUI Travel PLC in line with Turnbull 
guidance, integrated with the short and long-term business 
planning processes and are in the progress of rolling this 
out across the organisation. They review the progress in 
line with this framework and report on the Group risk 
profile on a quarterly basis, providing a consolidated 
Group risk profile to the Audit Committee on a half-yearly 
basis. Additionally, at each Audit Committee meeting, the 
framework development is reported and individual Sector 
management teams are invited to review and discuss their 
risk profile on a rotational basis.

•   The Audit Committee, with assistance from certain related 
management committees, oversees key risks, such as 
financial risk, health and safety, corporate and social 
responsibility and the environment, where such risks apply 
across all Sectors. The Board believes that, in order to be 
effective, risk management processes must be driven down 
to each operating unit. Accordingly, each Sector Board now 
addresses risk management as a standing agenda item 
and is responsible for ensuring that the risks facing that 
Sector’s businesses are identified and that related action 
plans are implemented. Sectors formally report their risk 
profile on a quarterly basis.

•   The Group Audit Services’ function independently reviews 
the risk identification procedures and control processes 
implemented by management and reports its findings at 
each Audit Committee meeting, or more frequently  
if appropriate.

•   The Audit Committee reviews the proposed work plans 
of the Group Audit Services’ function; reports issued by 
Group Audit Services on the Group’s risk assessment 
process; the system of internal control as well as reports 
on systems; and controls from the external auditors 
covering material weaknesses. The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee reports to the Board on the outcome of the 
Audit Committee meetings held and the Board receives the 
minutes of all such meetings.

•   The Treasury position of the Group, including cash, foreign 
exchange and fuel hedging exposure, is managed centrally 
in accordance with policies appropriate for each Sector 
and is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer and 
Group Treasurer. Reports and forecasts are submitted 
monthly to the GMB and to each Board meeting. Weekly 
meetings on liquidity and fuel hedging take place attended 
by the Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer, Group 
Treasurer and other senior managers as deemed necessary.

•   Financial forecasts, providing predicted results with 
sensitivity analysis, are prepared routinely throughout the 
year for review by the GMB and the Board. These forecasts 
also include details of the Group’s ongoing compliance 
with its regulatory and banking requirements. The Group 
has established investment appraisal and authorisation 
procedures and its capital expenditure is reviewed against 
budgets which have been approved by the Board.

Processes are in place to ensure appropriate action is taken 
where necessary to remedy any deficiencies identified through 
the Group’s internal control and risk management processes.

There are policies and procedures for the reporting by 
employees and the resolution of suspected fraudulent 
activities. It is the policy of the Group to employ staff and 
management of high integrity, to train them appropriately 
and to require compliance with all relevant laws, regulations 
and internal policies. The Group has independent third-
party reporting mechanisms that allow employees to raise 
concerns on financial reporting or other matters. Any 
reports received are passed direct to Group Audit Services 
which acknowledges receipt and periodically reports back 
on a confidential basis to the independent third-party on 
any action taken. Within its regular report to the Audit 
Committee, Group Audit Services provides a summary 
of any confidential reports received and actions taken. A 
monthly report is also produced which includes a summary 
of all calls received highlighting any issues raised. For further 
information on risk management see page 33. 
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Corporate Governance
continued

Communication with shareholders
The Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer hold regular 
meetings with major shareholders to review the Group’s 
performance and prospects. The views of shareholders are 
communicated to all members of the Board following such 
meetings. During the course of these meetings the issue of 
governance is discussed. Presentations to major shareholders 
are made at least twice yearly, after the announcement of 
the interim and preliminary results, details of which, together 
with the Group’s financial reports and other announcements, 
can be accessed via the Group’s website www.tuitravelplc.com

The Combined Code recommends that the Senior 
Independent Director meets with a range of major 
shareholders to gain an understanding of their views. In 
practice and, as a result of the extensive investor feedback 
provided by the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial 
Officer, the Senior Independent Director and other Non-
Executive Directors believe that they are aware of such issues 
and therefore considered that it was not necessary to arrange 
meetings with major shareholders for this purpose during the 
year. However, they would make themselves available if any 
major shareholder requested such a meeting. 

There is also an opportunity for shareholders to question 
the Chairman and other Directors (including the Chairmen 
of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees) at 
the Annual General Meeting. This forum also provides Non-
Executive Directors with the opportunity to discuss the views 
of shareholders with them directly.

At general meetings:

•   The Company prepares separate resolutions on each 
substantially separate issue and does not combine 
resolutions together inappropriately.

•   A schedule of proxy votes cast is made available for 
inspection at the conclusion of the proceedings.

•   The Annual Report and Accounts is laid before 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. 

Combined Code Provisions
For the reasons disclosed above and in the Remuneration 
report on page 49, during the year the Company did not 
fully comply with the following provisions often for reasons 
associated with the timing of the merger:

•   Code Provision A1.3. The Chairman should hold meetings 
with only the Non-Executives present. Led by the Senior 
Independent Director, the Non-Executives should meet 
without the Chairman present at least annually to appraise 
the Chairman’s performance and on such other occasions 
as are deemed appropriate.

•   Code Provision A2.2. The Chairman should on appointment 
meet the independence criteria set out in Code A3.1.

•   Code Provision A3.2. Half the Board, excluding the 
Chairman, should comprise independent Non-Executive 
Directors (compliant for 11 months following appointment 
of additional Non-Executive Directors in October 2007).

•   Code Provision A6.1. The Board should state in the 
Annual Report how performance evaluation of the 
Board, its Committees and its individual Directors has 
been conducted. The Non-Executive Directors, led by 
the Senior Independent Director should be responsible 
for performance evaluation of the Chairman, taking into 
account the views of the Executive Directors.

•   Code Provision B2.1. The Remuneration Committee  
should all be independent Non-Executive Directors.

•   Code Provision D1.1. The Senior Independent Director 
should meet with a range of major shareholders to 
listen to their views in order to help develop a balanced 
understanding of the issues and concerns of major 
shareholders. 
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Remuneration Report

This report has been prepared by the Remuneration 
Committee and has been approved by the Board. It complies 
with Schedule 7A of the Companies Act 1985, which 
incorporates the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 
2002, and also with the Combined Code. This report will 
be put to shareholders for approval at the Annual General 
Meeting on 5 February 2009.

Remuneration Committee
During the year, the Remuneration Committee  
(‘the Committee’) comprised the following  
Non-Executive Directors: 

Clare Chapman – Chairman 
Tony Campbell
Bill Dalton
Dr Michael Frenzel
Rainer Feuerhake

Three of the members of the Committee are independent 
Non-Executive Directors. Dr Michael Frenzel and Rainer 
Feuerhake are not considered by the Company to be 
independent. Dr Frenzel and Rainer Feuerhake are members 
of the Executive Board of TUI AG – 51% shareholder of TUI 
Travel PLC – and their appointments are pursuant to the 
Relationship Agreement between TUI AG and the Company.

No member of the Committee has any personal financial 
interest, other than as a shareholder (as disclosed in the 
interests in shares table on page 58), in the matters to be 
decided by the Committee. The three independent members 
of the Committee have no conflicts of interest arising from 
Committee members’ cross-directorships and none of 
the members of the Committee participate in any bonus 
schemes, pension plans, share awards or any employee 
share schemes in respect of the Company. Members of the 
Committee have no day-to-day involvement in the running  
of the Company. 

The Committee met five times during the year. Michael 
Frenzel was unable to attend on two occasions, Clare 
Chapman and Rainer Feuerhake were unable to attend on 
one occasion, all due to prior commitments. 

The Committee advises the Board on overall remuneration 
policy. The Committee also determines, on behalf of 
the Board, and with the benefit of advice from external 
consultants and members of the Human Resources 
Department, the remuneration of the Executive Directors 
and other members of the Group Management Board.  
The activities of the Committee are governed by its  
Terms of Reference, which have been approved by the  
Board and can be found on the TUI Travel website at 
www.tuitravelplc.com

Material advice or services were provided to the Committee 
during the year by: 

Mercer Human Resource Consulting (Mercer)
Herbert Smith LLP (Herbert Smith)
Peter Long – Chief Executive
Paul Bowtell – Chief Financial Officer
Bill Logan – Group Human Resources Director 
David House – Group Reward Director 

Bill Logan has direct access to the Chairman of the 
Committee and he, together with David House, advised the 
Committee on all aspects of the Group’s reward policies and 
structures during the year. Peter Long attends meetings of 
the Committee to make recommendations relating to the 
performance and remuneration of his direct reports and 
Andrew John (Company Secretary) acts as Secretary to the 
Committee. Peter Long, Paul Bowtell, Bill Logan and Andrew 
John are not in attendance when their own remuneration is 
considered.

The Committee appointed Mercer, an external consultancy, 
to provide independent advice on all aspects of senior 
management remuneration. Mercer also provides salary 
benchmarking information to the Group from time to time. 
Independent external verification of the relative performance 
conditions attached to the Performance Share Plan and 
Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme is obtained.

Herbert Smith advised on various legal issues relating to 
the Company’s share schemes and also provides other legal 
services to the Group. 

Policy on remuneration of Non-Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, do not 
have service contracts and do not participate in the Group’s 
pension scheme, annual bonus scheme or long-term incentive 
schemes. Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment 
which can be terminated by either party serving six months’ 
notice. Each appointment is subject to retirement by rotation 
under the Articles of Association of the Company, and re-
election by shareholders, at least once every three years. 

Non-Executive Directors are paid a fee which is approved by 
the Board on the recommendation of the Executive Directors, 
having taken account of the fees paid in other companies 
of a similar complexity and the skills and experience of the 
individuals. The base fee for the Non-Executive Directors 
is £55,000 but the Chairman and Deputy Chairman (who is 
also the Senior Independent Director) are paid higher fees to 
reflect their additional responsibilities. The Chairman receives 
a fee of £300,000 and the Deputy Chairman receives a fee 
of £200,000. The Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee receive an 
additional fee of £15,000 and £10,000 respectively.
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Remuneration Report
continued

Policy on remuneration of Executive Directors  
and senior executives
The following policy was applied throughout the year and  
will apply in future years, subject to ongoing review. 

The Committee aims to ensure that remuneration packages 
are offered which: 

•  Set the total remuneration package at an appropriate 
level to reflect the competitive market in which the Group 
operates.

•   Link a substantial proportion of the total remuneration 
package to the achievement of demanding performance 
targets.

•   Structure the reward of senior management to align their 
interests with those of the shareholders.

•   Ensure the development of a high-performance culture 
throughout the Group.

The Group has performance-related reward policies. These 
are designed to provide the appropriate balance between 
fixed remuneration and variable ‘risk’ reward which is linked 
to the performance of both the Group and the individual. 
Group performance-related measures are chosen carefully 
to ensure a strong link between reward and true underlying 
financial performance. Individual performance is measured 
through an assessment of comprehensive business 
unit deliverables, modelling the Group’s values and the 
achievement of specific personal objectives. At a minimum, 
the individual performance of the Executive Directors is 
assessed on an annual basis.

In assessing levels of pay and benefits, TUI Travel compares 
the packages offered by different groups of comparator 
companies. These groups are chosen having regard to: 

•   Size – turnover, profits and the number of people 
employed. 

•  Diversity and complexity of businesses. 
•  Geographical spread of businesses. 
•  Industry type. 
•  Relevance as: 
 •  a potential source for candidates for roles  

within the Group. 
 •    a potential threat in respect of attracting  

TUI Travel executives. 

External consultants are used to advise the Committee on 
the structure and level of pay and benefits in TUI Travel’s 
markets. The normal policy for Executive Directors is 
that, using ‘target’ or ‘expected value’ calculations, their 
performance-related incentives will equate to at least 66% of 
total annual remuneration (excluding benefits). 

The main components of remuneration in the Company are: 

• Base salary.
• Annual performance bonus.
• Long-term incentives.
• Pensions.

Base salary
The salary for each Executive Director is based on individual 
performance and on information from independent 
professional sources on the salary levels for similar jobs in 
groups of comparable companies. Internal relativities and 
salary levels in the wider employment market are also taken 
into account. 

In addition, benefits are provided to Executive Directors in 
accordance with the policy applying to other executives in 
their geographic location. 

Annual performance bonus
Within the Annual Bonus Plan, challenging performance goals 
are set and these must be achieved before the maximum 
bonus becomes payable. The Annual Bonus Plan is linked to 
the Group’s financial performance and personal objectives. 
For the Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer and other 
Executive Directors, the maximum bonus opportunity under 
the Annual Bonus Plan is 150%, 120% and 100% of salary 
respectively. Bonuses are not pensionable.

Long-term incentives
Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme
All Executive Directors also participate in the Deferred Annual 
Bonus Scheme (DABS) which requires a minimum of 25% 
and a maximum of 50% of any annual performance bonus 
payable to be deferred into awards of shares. Matching shares 
may also be awarded up to four times the deferred amount 
and are subject to the achievement of stretching performance 
conditions. Awards of deferred and matching shares are 
subject to forfeiture conditions until the release date. The 
shares will normally be released at the end of three years 
following deferral.
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For awards of matching shares made during the year, no shares 
will vest unless the annual average of the ratio of the Group’s 
return on invested capital (ROIC) to the weighted average cost 
of capital (WACC) meets or exceeds one over the three-year 
period. A hurdle of ROIC, being at least equal to WACC, is 
used to ensure that the relevant long-term incentive awards 
pay out only when shareholder value is being created over the 
performance periods. If the ROIC/WACC hurdle is met, shares 
will only vest to the extent to which two further performance 
conditions are satisfied over the three-year period as follows:

•   Up to three-quarters of the matching shares will vest 
based on growth in the Group’s earnings per share (EPS), 
before amortisation of goodwill and business combination 
intangibles, goodwill impairment and separately disclosed 
items, in relation to the growth in the UK Retail Price Index 
(RPI) as shown in the table below:

Average annual EPS growth  Proportion of 
in excess of RPI growth shares vesting
Below 4% 0%
Between 4% and 13% On a straight-line basis  
 between 10% and 100% 
13% or above 100%

•  Up to one-quarter of the matching shares will vest based 
on the Group’s ranking of total shareholder return (TSR) 
performance relative to companies ranked 30th to 100th by 
market capitalisation as at the date of the award as shown  
in the table below:

TSR Ranking Proportion of matching shares vesting
Below median 0%
Between median and upper quartile On a straight-line basis  
 between 15% and 100% 
At or above upper quartile 100%

Matching share awards lapse if the performance conditions are 
not met.

Performance Share Plan
The Performance Share Plan (PSP) allows Executive Directors 
and eligible participants to receive share awards, subject to the 
satisfaction of performance conditions, set by the Committee, 
which are normally measured over a three-year period. 
Awards are normally made annually and, except in exceptional 
circumstances, will not exceed two times annual salary for 
Executive Directors. 

For awards made during the year, no shares will vest unless the 
annual average of the ratio of the Group’s ROIC to the WACC 
meets or exceeds 1 over the three-year period.

If the ROIC/WACC hurdle is met, shares will only vest to 
the extent to which two further performance conditions are 
satisfied over the three-year period as follows:

•  Up to half of the shares will vest based on growth in the 
Group’s EPS, before amortisation of goodwill and business 
combination intangibles, goodwill impairment and separately 
disclosed items, in relation to the growth in the UK.

RPI as shown in the table below:

Average annual EPS growth  Proportion of 
in excess of RPI growth shares vesting
Below 4% 0%
Between 4% and 13% On a straight-line basis  
 between 10% and 100% 
13% or above 100%

•  Up to half of the shares will vest based on the Group’s 
ranking of TSR performance relative to companies ranked 
30th to 100th by market capitalisation as at the date of the 
award as shown in the table below:

TSR Ranking Proportion of matching shares vesting
Below median 0%
Between median and upper quartile On a straight-line basis  
 between 15% and 100% 
At or above upper quartile 100%

Awards under the Performance Share Plan lapse if the 
performance conditions are not met.

The Committee considers that EPS and TSR are the key 
performance conditions that are most relevant to the Group. 
EPS is a key indicator of the Group’s underlying financial 
performance whilst TSR is a relative measure of shareholder 
value creation. A hurdle of ROIC, being at least equal to WACC, 
is used to ensure that the relevant long-term incentive awards 
pay out only when shareholder value is being created over the 
performance periods.

Value Creation Synergy Plan
Under the Value Creation Synergy Plan (VCSP), which is 
a one-off three-year plan, Executive Directors and eligible 
participants will receive an award which will be satisfied by 
a combination of cash and shares provided that stretching 
performance targets are satisfied. The performance targets, 
set by the Committee, are based on the achievement of the 
synergistic objectives of the merger of First Choice Holidays 
PLC and the Tourism Division of TUI AG.

The maximum aggregate awards for Executive Directors are:

Director Maximum value of aggregate award 
 (% of base salary)
Dr Volker Böttcher 225%
Paul Bowtell 330%
Peter Long 450%
Johan Lundgren 330%
Christoph Mueller 225%
William Waggott 330%
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Remuneration Report
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The awards will be a combination of cash and shares, which 
will vest in three tranches over three years, as shown below:

Tranche 1 (2007/2008):  50% cash and 50% shares;
Tranche 2 (2008/2009):  50% cash and 50% shares; and
Tranche 3 (2009/2010):  100% cash.

While any cash entitlement will be paid annually, no shares 
will be released until the end of the three-year period.

The vesting of the annual tranches will be subject to the 
achievement of annual performance targets over the three-
year period. The release of the share elements will be subject 
to a further overall three-year performance target.

The overall three-year performance targets have been set 
at a target of £100m of synergistic value (below which no 
vesting will occur) with a payment and vesting scale up to  
a ‘stretch’ level of £150m. In addition, the Committee have 
set annual margin targets below which no payment or  
vesting will occur.

At target and stretch annual performance, the proportion 
vesting under each annual tranche will be 50% and 100% 
respectively.

In the event that the overall three-year performance target 
is not achieved, any net amounts that have been previously 
paid in relation to the cash elements of Tranches 1 and 2 
must be repaid to the Company.

Long-term cash bonus for the Chief Executive
Under a five-year long-term cash bonus agreement between 
Peter Long and First Choice Holidays PLC, approved at the 
2005 AGM of that company, Peter Long remains eligible to 
receive a maximum of £600,000, subject to EPS growth in 
excess of RPI growth, the Company’s TSR ranking against  
the constituent companies of the FTSE Mid-250 Index 
(excluding Investment Trusts) as calculated at the award date, 
and the achievement of personal objectives as determined by 
the Committee over the period to 30 September 2009.

A performance hurdle of the ROIC being in excess of  
the WACC must also be achieved for any of the bonus  
to be payable.

The amount of bonus payable is graded according to:

•  EPS growth, with 3.5% of the award being released for  
4% per annum in excess of inflation and 35% of the  
award released for 13% per annum in excess of inflation. 

•  TSR ranking of the Company against the comparator 
group, with 5% of the award being released for median  
and 50% of the award being released for upper quartile.

•  the remaining 15% of the Bonus being payable for the 
achievement of personal objectives. 

All long-term incentive awards and payments are  
not pensionable.

All-employee share schemes
Executive Directors based in the UK are eligible to participate 
in the HMRC-approved Share Incentive Plan which is an 
all-employee share scheme enabling staff to acquire shares 
in the Company on preferential terms. To further encourage 
employee shareholding in the Company, the Share Incentive 
Plan provides a matching share for every four shares bought 
by a participant under the plan. Matching shares are not 
subject to performance conditions and are not pensionable.

Shareholding guidelines 
The Executive Directors will be expected to build, within 
five years of their appointment, and then maintain, a share 
holding equal in value to 1.5 times their basic salary or two 
times in the case of the Chief Executive.

During the year, the Company has remained within its 
headroom limits for the issue of new shares under share 
incentive schemes. All share incentive awards made, and all 
future share incentive awards, will normally be settled with 
shares purchased in the market.

Policy on pensions
Each of the UK-based Executive Directors and senior 
executives participates in a defined contribution pension 
scheme.

The Group’s pension policy is that, in the event of a 
participant in a pension scheme reaching the HMRC lifetime 
allowance limit, and choosing not to accept further pension 
contributions, a non-pensionable cash payment, equivalent 
to the Group’s contribution to the pension scheme, will 
be offered in lieu. Pension scheme participants will not be 
compensated for any adverse tax consequences of exceeding 
the HMRC lifetime allowance limit.

Executive Directors and senior executives outside of the  
UK participate in local pension plans.
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Policy on external appointments 
The Company recognises that its Directors may be invited 
to become Non-Executive Directors of other companies and 
that such duties can broaden experience and knowledge 
and benefit the business. Subject to the approval of the 
Board, Executive Directors are, therefore, allowed to accept 
Non-Executive appointments and to retain the fees received 
(excluding positions where the Director is appointed as the 
Company’s representative) as long as this is not likely to lead 
to a conflict of interest. 

For the year ended 30 September 2008, Peter Long received 
and retained non-executive directors’ fees in respect of two 
appointments (Debenhams PLC and Rentokil Initial plc –  
both FTSE 250 companies) of £105,000 and Paul Bowtell 
received and retained non-executive director fees in respect  
of his appointment as a non-executive director of SThree plc 
(a small cap company) of £36,667.

Performance graph 
TUI Travel shares listed on the London Stock Exchange on  
3 September 2007. Since December 2007, the Company has 
been a member of the FTSE 100 Index. The graph below 
measures the performance of First Choice Holidays PLC up to 
the merger, and subsequently the performance of TUI Travel 
PLC, assuming dividends are reinvested, compared with the 
TSR performance achieved against the constituent companies 
of the FTSE 100 Index and separately those ranked 30 to  
100 by market capitalisation. The latter index is considered  
to be the most appropriate benchmark for comparison 
purposes and is used within the performance measures  
of the Company’s long-term incentive schemes.

Total Shareholder Return – 
TUI Travel PLC v FTSE100 & FTSE30-100

Contracts of service 
Executive Directors
The Remuneration Committee’s policy is for Executive Directors 
to have rolling contracts with a 12-month notice period. 

Volker Böttcher, Paul Bowtell, Peter Long, Johan Lundgren, 
Christoph Mueller and William Waggott currently have service 
agreements with a 12-month notice period and it is intended that 
all new appointments will also have 12-month notice periods. 
However, on occasion, to complete an external recruitment 
successfully, a longer initial period may be used reducing to 12 
months, following guidance in the Combined Code. 

No provisions for compensation for termination following 
change of control, or for liquidated damages of any kind, are 
included in the current Directors’ contracts. In the event of 
any early termination of an Executive Director’s contract,  
the policy is to seek to minimise any liability. 

Name of  Effective date Unexpired term/ 
Executive Director of contract notice period
Dr Volker Böttcher 5 September 2007 12
Paul Bowtell 7 April 2008 12
Peter Long 19 February 2008 12
Johan Lundgren 14 December 2007 12
Christoph Mueller 3 September 2007 12
William Waggott 22 April 2008 12

Non-Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors – Bill Dalton, Giles Thorley, Tony 
Campbell, Clare Chapman, Rainer Feuerhake, Dr Michael Frenzel, 
Jeremy Hicks and Sir Michael Hodgkinson – signed letters of 
appointment prior to the listing of TUI Travel PLC. Dr Erhard 
Schipporeit, Dr Albert Schunk and Harold Sher signed letters of 
appointment effective from 29 October 2007. All Non-Executive 
Directors’ appointments are subject to six months’ notice. 

100

TUI Travel PLC shares
listed 03.09.07

100

150

200

250

300

350
TUI Travel PLC (First Choice Holidays up to 2.09.07)

FTSE 100

FTSE 30-100

30/9/081/10/073/9/072/10/063/10/051/10/041/10/03

TUI Travel PLC (First Choice Holidays PLC up to 02.09.07)

350

Av
er

ag
e 

In
de

x 
(0

1.
10

.0
3 

= 
10

0)

300

200

250

150

30.09.03 30.09.04 30.09.05 30.09.06 30.09.07 30.09.08

FTSE 100
FTSE 30-100



Governance

TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 200854

The information provided in the following pages of this report has been audited by KPMG Audit Plc. 
 
Directors’ Remuneration 

       Total  
       remuneration 
       excluding 
       pensions 
       
       For the  
   Basic salaries Performance1  Termination  year ended 
   and fees payments Benefits2  payments 30 Sept 2008 
  Currency ’000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

Executive Directors
Dr Volker Böttcher  EUR 515 451 14 – 980
Paul Bowtell  GBP 460 529 16 – 1,005
Peter Long  GBP 800 1,200 29 – 2,029
Johan Lundgren  SEK 6,290 7,193 236 – 13,719
Christoph Mueller  EUR 515 451 24 – 990
Peter Rothwell3  GBP 150 – 4 2,248 2,402
William Waggott  GBP 400 420 15 – 835
Non-Executive Directors      
Tony Campbell  GBP 55 – – – 55
Clare Chapman  GBP 65 – – – 65
Bill Dalton  GBP 55 – – – 55
Rainer Feuerhake  GBP 55 – – – 55
Dr Michael Frenzel (Chairman)  GBP 300 – – – 300
Jeremy Hicks  GBP 70 – – – 70
Sir Michael Hodgkinson (Deputy Chairman)  GBP 200 – – – 200
Dr Erhard Schipporeit  GBP 50 – – – 50
Dr Albert Schunk  GBP 50 – – – 50
Harold Sher  GBP 50 – – – 50
Giles Thorley  GBP 55 – – – 55

In calculating the total Directors’ Remuneration below, payments made in EUR and SEK have been converted at 1.32 and  
12.37 units to 1 GBP respectively, being the average exchange rates for the year ended 30 September 2008:

       For the 
   Basic salaries Performance1  Termination  year ended 
   and fees payments Benefits2  payments 30 Sept 2008 
   Currency ’000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

Total  GBP 4,104 3,414 112 2,248 9,878

1  ‘Performance payments’ include bonus awards in cash in respect of participation in the Annual Bonus Plan and the Value Creation Synergy Plan but exclude bonus 
awards in deferred shares, details of which are set out on page 55. Messrs Böttcher, Bowtell, Long, Lundgren, Mueller and Waggott achieved the maximum level for 
both annual bonus and VCSP.

2  ‘Benefits’ incorporate all tax assessable benefits arising from the individual’s employment. For Messrs Bowtell, Long, Lundgren, Rothwell and Waggott, this relates in 
the main to the provision of a fully expensed company car or car allowance and private healthcare cover, and for Messrs Böttcher and Mueller the provision of a fully 
expensed company car or car allowance.

3  Peter Rothwell resigned as a Director on 21 December 2007 and ceased employment on 31 December 2007 due to redundancy. The ‘Termination payment’ includes 
compensation for entitlements arising from his previous employment, accordingly TUI AG made an appropriate contribution and therefore the amount relating to TUI 
Travel PLC was £1,749,735. 

Directors’ Pensions
The Group makes a contribution of 50% of base salary for Peter Long. Contributions have been paid into a self-invested personal 
pension, however, since April 2008, as his pension fund value reached the HMRC lifetime allowance limit, Peter Long has chosen 
not to accept further pension contributions but instead to receive a non-pensionable cash payment (subject to tax and national 
insurance) equivalent to the Company pension contribution.

The Group makes contributions of 25% and 50% of base salary into a defined contribution pension scheme for the benefit of 
Paul Bowtell and William Waggott respectively.

The Group made contributions of 50% of base salary as a non-pensionable cash payment (subject to tax and national insurance) 
equivalent to the Company pension contribution which would otherwise have been paid to a defined contribution pension scheme 
for the benefit of Peter Rothwell prior to his termination of employment on 31 December 2007.

Remuneration Report
continued
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In addition, both Peter Rothwell and William Waggott have deferred pension entitlements under the Defined Benefit section of 
the TUI Pension Scheme (UK). They ceased to be active members of the Defined Benefit section on 3 September 2007 and, 
therefore, no increase in accrued benefit has occurred during the year.

The normal retirement date for the UK-based Executive Directors and senior executives is 65.

In the event of death in service, the Executive Directors’ and senior executives’ pension arrangements provide lump sums for the 
purchase of dependants’ pensions of the greater of eight times salary or the value of the pension fund in addition to which a 
lump sum of four times salary is payable. Following the changes to the tax rules from April 2006, any dependant’s pension may  
be paid as an additional lump sum subject to HMRC limits.

Christoph Mueller and Dr Volker Böttcher participate in separate pension arrangements in Germany at a company cost of 35% 
and 25% of base salary respectively.

Johan Lundgren participates in a separate pension arrangement in Sweden at a company cost of 33% of base salary.

Pension Contributions for Directors

    Pension Contributions or Allowance  
    for the Year ended 30 Sept 2008 
Name of Executive Director Currency ‘000

Dr Volker Böttcher EUR 129
Paul Bowtell GBP 115
Peter Long GBP 400
Johan Lundgren SEK 2,087
Christoph Mueller EUR 180
Peter Rothwell1 GBP 76
William Waggott GBP 200

1 Peter Rothwell ceased employment on 31 December 2007.

Total pension contributions or allowances for the year ended 30 September 2008 were £1.194m. In calculating this total, 
payments made in EUR and SEK have been converted at 1.32 and 12.37 units to 1 GBP respectively, being the average exchange 
rates for the year ended 30 September 2008.

Long-term incentives
Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme (DABS)
Messrs Böttcher, Bowtell, Long, Lundgren, Mueller and Waggott participated in the DABS during the year ended 30 September 2008 
and are expected to receive an award on 28 November 2008 as follows:

Director Estimated value of award 
 £’000

Dr Volker Böttcher 205
Paul Bowtell 276
Peter Long 600
Johan Lundgren 279
Christoph Mueller 205
William Waggott 200

Awards made under the DABS, and which remain outstanding at 30 September 2008, are given in the table on page 56.  
No awards vested during the year.
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Remuneration Report
continued

Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme (DABS)   

  DABS   DABS     Maximum 
  shares   shares     value 
  awarded   vested     based on 
 DABS during   during    Maximum share price 
 shares the year  Market the year Market  Planned/ DABS of 215.5p 
 held at ended  price ended price per Value at Actual shares held at 30 Sept  
 1 Oct 30 Sept Award per share 30 Sept share at vesting vesting at 30 Sept 2008 
Directors 2007 2008 date at award 2008 vesting £ date 2008 £

Dr Volker Böttcher –  60,4323   19.12.07  270.40p –    19.12.10   60,432  130,231
 –  241,7294   19.12.07  270.40p –    19.12.10   241,729  520,926
Total –  302,161    –     302,161  651,157
Paul Bowtell  81,4261    14.12.05  229.25p –    14.12.08   81,426  175,473
  156,9232     13.02.07  260.00p –    13.02.10   156,923  338,169
 –  67,5993   19.12.07  270.40p –    19.12.10   67,599  145,676
 –  270,3944   19.12.07  270.40p –    19.12.10   270,394  582,699
Total  238,349   337,993    –     576,342  1,242,017
Peter Long  174,4831   14.12.05 229.25p –    14.12.08   174,483  376,011
  326,1552    13.02.07  260.00p –    13.02.10   326,155  702,864
 – 138,2883 19.12.07 270.40p –   19.12.10 138,288 298,011
 – 553,1504 19.12.07 270.40p –   19.12.10 553,150 1,192,038
Total 500,638 691,438   –    1,192,076 2,568,924
Johan Lundgren – 67,4313 19.12.07 270.40p –   19.12.10 67,431 145,314
 – 269,7234 19.12.07 270.40p –   19.12.10 269,723 581,253
Total – 337,154  270.40p –    337,154 726,567
Christoph Mueller – 54,4173 19.12.07 270.40p –   19.12.10 54,417 117,269
 – 217,6664 19.12.07 270.40p –   19.12.10 217,666 469,070
Total – 272,083  270.40p –    272,083 586,339
William Waggott – 73,5583 19.12.07 270.40p –   19.12.10 73,558 158,517
 – 294,2304 19.12.07 270.40p –   19.12.10 294,230 634,066
Total – 367,788   –    367,788 792,583
Grand Total 738,987 2,308,617   –    3,047,604 6,567,587

1  This ‘roll-over’ award was based on a) performance to 30 September 2008 where the performance measure relates to earnings per share (EPS) growth in excess of 
the rate of inflation; and b) performance to the 3rd anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s Total Shareholder Return 
(TSR) ranking against the constituent companies of the FTSE Mid-250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts) as calculated at the award date. A performance hurdle 
of the return on invested capital (ROIC) being in excess of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) must also be achieved for any of the award to be released. 
The number of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 7.5% of the award being released for 4% pa in excess of inflation and 75% of the award 
released for 13% pa in excess of inflation and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 2.5% of the award being released for median and 25% 
of the award being released for upper quartile.

2  This ‘roll-over’ award is based on a) performance to 30 September 2009 where the performance measure relates to earnings per share (EPS) growth in excess of the 
rate of inflation; and b) performance to the 3rd anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s Total Shareholder Return 
(TSR) ranking against the constituent companies of the FTSE Mid-250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts) as calculated at the award date. A performance hurdle 
of the return on invested capital (ROIC) being in excess of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) must also be achieved for any of the award to be released. 
The number of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 7.5% of the award being released for 4% pa in excess of inflation and 75% of the award 
released for 13% pa in excess of inflation and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 2.5% of the award being released for median and 25% 
of the award being released for upper quartile.

3 This award is the deferred element of the Annual Bonus entitlement for Financial Year 2006/07.

4  This matching award is based on a) performance to 30 September 2010 where the performance measure relates to earnings per share (EPS) growth in excess of the 
rate of inflation; and b) performance to the 3rd anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s Total Shareholder Return 
(TSR) ranking against the constituent companies of the FTSE 100 Index ranked 30 to 100 by market capitalisation as calculated at the award date. A performance 
hurdle of the return on invested capital (ROIC) being in excess of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) must also be achieved for any of the award to be 
released. The number of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 7.5% of the award being released for 12% in excess of inflation and 75% of the 
award released for 39% in excess of inflation and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 3.75% of the award being released for median and 
25% of the award being released for upper quartile.
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Performance Share Plan (PSP)
During the year ended 30 September 2008 there were three cycles in operation.

The award made in respect of each cycle and the maximum pre-tax number of ordinary shares due if performance targets are 
achieved in full are:

  Maximum        Maximum 
  PSP shares        value based 
  awarded   PSP shares     on share 
 Maximum during   vested    Maximum price of 
 PSP shares the year  Market during the Market  Planned/ PSP shares 215.5p at 
 held at ended  price year ended price per Value at Actual held at 30 Sept 
 1 Oct 30 Sept Award per share 30 Sept share at vesting vesting 30 Sept 2008 
Directors 2007 2008 date at award 2008 vesting £ date 2008 £

Dr Volker Böttcher 39,4441 – 03.09.07 285.50p –   14.12.08 39,444 85,002
 78,8882 – 03.09.07 285.50p –   13.02.10 78,888 170,004
 129,2093 – 13.09.07 273.00p –   15.11.10 129,209 278,445
Total 247,541 –   –    247,541 533,451
Paul Bowtell 38,1681 – 14.12.05 229.25p –   14.12.08 38,168 82,252
 74,0392 – 13.02.07 260.00p –   13.02.10 74,039 159,554
 202,1983 – 13.09.07 273.00p –   15.11.10 202,198 435,737
Total 314,405 –   –    314,405 677,543
Peter Long 92,4761 – 14.12.05 229.25p –   14.12.08 92,476 199,285
 173,0782 – 13.02.07 260.00p –   13.02.10 173,078 372,983
 586,0813 – 13.09.07 273.00p –   15.11.10 586,081 1,263,005
Total 851,635 –   –    851,635 1,835,273
Johan Lundgren 65,1741 – 03.09.07 285.50p –   14.12.08 65,174 140,450
 130,3482 – 03.09.07 285.50p –   13.02.10 130,348 280,900
 104,7733 – 13.09.07 273.00p –   15.11.10 104,773 225,786
  192,3073 19.12.07 270.40p –   19.12.10 192,307 414,422
Total 300,295 192,307   –    492,602 1,061,558
Christoph Mueller 55,2211 – 03.09.07 285.50p –   14.12.08 55,221 119,001
 110,4432 – 03.09.07 285.50p –   13.02.10 110,443 238,005
 129,2093 – 13.09.07 273.00p –   15.11.10 129,209 278,445
Total 294,873 –   –    294,873 635,451
Peter Rothwell 121,7431 – 03.09.07 285.50p 55,654 254.75p 141,7794 01.02.08 –
 243,4862 – 03.09.07 285.50p 111,308 254.75p 283,5574 01.02.08 –
 263,7363 – 13.09.07 273.00p 58,608 254.75p 149,3044 01.02.08 –
Total 628,965 –   225,570  574,640  – 
William Waggott 122,3431 – 03.09.07 285.50p –   14.12.08 122,343 263,649
 244,6852 – 03.09.07 285.50p –   13.02.10 244,685 527,296
 146,5203 – 13.09.07 273.00p –   15.11.10 146,520 315,751
Total 513,548 –   –    513,548 1,106,696
Grand Total 3,151,262 192,307   225,570  574,640  2,714,604 5,849,972

1  This ‘roll-over’ award was based on performance from 1 November 2005 to 30 September 2008 where the performance measure related to earnings per share (EPS) 
growth in excess of the rate of inflation and a performance hurdle of the return on invested capital (ROIC) being in excess of the weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC). The number of shares released is graded according to EPS growth, with 10% of the award being released for 4% pa in excess of inflation and all of the award 
released for 13% pa in excess of inflation. The ROIC/WACC hurdle was achieved and EPS growth was 18.8% pa in excess of inflation therefore 100% of the award will 
be released on 14 December 2008.

2  This ‘roll-over’ award is based on performance from 1 November 2006 to 30 September 2009 where the performance measure relates to earnings per share (EPS) 
growth in excess of the rate of inflation and a performance hurdle of the return on invested capital (ROIC) being in excess of the weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC). The number of shares released is graded according to EPS growth, with 10% of the award being released for 4% pa in excess of inflation and all of the  
award released for 13% pa in excess of inflation.

3  This award is based on a) performance to 30 September 2010 where the performance measure relates to earnings per share (EPS) growth in excess of the rate  
of inflation; and b) performance to the 3rd anniversary of the award date where the performance measure relates to the Company’s TSR ranking against the 
constituent companies of the FTSE 100 Index ranked 30 to 100 by market capitalisation as calculated at the award date. A performance hurdle of the return on 
invested capital (ROIC) being in excess of the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) must also be achieved for any of the award to be released. The number  
of shares released is graded according to a) EPS growth, with 5% of the award being released for 12% in excess of inflation and 50% of the award released for  
39% in excess of inflation and b) ranking of the Company against the comparator group, with 7.5% of the award being released for median and 50% of the award 
being released for upper quartile.

4  Peter Rothwell ceased employment on 31 December 2007. Under the terms of his departure and in accordance with the scheme rules these awards were released 
and pro-rated for time and performance at that time.



Governance

TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 200858

Senior Executive Plan (SEP)
Peter Long held executive share options, originally granted under the terms of the First Choice Holidays PLC SEP, which were 
exercised during the year as follows:

   Maximum       Maximum 
   SEP options       value based 
   granted   SEP options    on share 
  Maximum during   exercised   Maximum price of 
  SEP options the year  Market during the Market  SEP options 215.5p at 
  held at ended  price year ended price per Gain at held at 30 Sept 
  1 Oct 30 Sept Expiry per share 30 Sept share at exercise 30 Sept 2008 
Directors  20071 2008 date at grant 2008 exercise £ 2008 £

Peter Long  828,096 – 9.09.08 135.25p 828,096 259.29p 1,027,170 – –

1  These ‘roll-over’ options became fully exercisable upon the merger of First Choice Holidays PLC and the Tourism Division of TUI AG and remained so for a period of 
six months plus any number of days during this period that the participant was precluded from dealing in shares under the terms of the Model Code. The minimum 
and maximum TUI Travel PLC share price during the year was 169.40p and 297.00p respectively.

Value Creation Synergy Plan (VCSP)
Messrs Böttcher, Bowtell, Long, Lundgren, Mueller and Waggott participated in the VCSP during the year ended 30 September 2008 
and are expected to receive a deferred share award on 28 November 2008 as follows:

     Estimated value of award 
Director     £’000

Dr Volker Böttcher     154
Paul Bowtell     253
Peter Long     600
Johan Lundgren     307
Christoph Mueller     154
William Waggott        220

Directors’ Interests in ordinary shares of the Company
As at 30 September 2008, the Directors’ interests in ordinary shares of the Company were:

Director’s Name Title Ordinary Shares of 10p each as at 30 Sept 2008

Dr Michael Frenzel Non-Executive Chairman –
Sir Michael Hodgkinson Non-Executive Deputy Chairman  
 & Senior Independent Director 20,000
Peter Long Chief Executive 12,872,129
Paul Bowtell Chief Financial Officer 1354,264
Dr Volker Böttcher Managing Director, Central Europe 18,500
Tony Campbell Non-Executive Director 42,189
Clare Chapman Non-Executive Director –
Bill Dalton Non-Executive Director –
Rainer Feuerhake Non-Executive Director –
Jeremy Hicks Non-Executive Director –
Johan Lundgren Managing Director, Northern Region –
Christoph Mueller Aviation Director –
Dr Erhard Schipporeit Non-Executive Director –
Dr Albert Schunk Non-Executive Director –
Harold Sher Non-Executive Director –
Giles Thorley Non-Executive Director 25,000
William Waggott Commercial Director 50,000

1 Includes shares purchased under the Share Incentive Plan. 

Remuneration Report
continued
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At 30 September 2008, the Executive Directors of the Company, as potential beneficiaries under the Company’s Employee Benefit 
Trust (‘the Trust’), were each technically deemed to be interested in a total of 11,875,944 unallocated TUI Travel PLC shares held 
by the Trust (7,690,429 held in the TUI Travel PLC Trust and 4,185,515 held in the First Choice Holidays PLC Trust). The balance 
at 30 September 2007 was a total of 8.6 million shares held by the Trust.

The Company’s Register of Directors’ Interests, which is open to inspection at the Registered Office, contains full details of 
Directors’ shareholdings and will be available for inspection before and during the Annual General Meeting to be held on  
5 February 2009.

During the year, the price of the Company’s ordinary shares ranged between 297.00 pence and 169.40 pence and the mid-closing 
price on 30 September 2008 was 215.50 pence.

On 1 October 2008, Tony Campbell was allocated 513 additional shares in respect of the Dividend Reinvestment Plan.

The report was approved by the Board of Directors on 26 November 2008 and was signed on its behalf by:

Clare Chapman
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
26 November 2008
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 September 2008

   
      Pro forma   
      year ended 9-month 
      Year ended  30 September  period ended 
     30 September  2007  30 September 
     2008 unaudited  2007 
   Note   £m  £m  £m 

Revenue    2   13,931.8  12,839.9  7,975.4 
Cost of sales       (12,910.7) (11,800.4) (7,362.7)
Gross profit      1,021.1  1,039.5  612.7 
    
Administrative expenses      (1,217.2) (993.9) (457.7)
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates   11  12.0  10.5  6.9 
Operating (loss)/profit     (184.1) 56.1  161.9 
Analysed as:    
Underlying operating profit    1/2   398.0  260.5  230.6 
Separately disclosed items   3   (380.7) (147.3) (33.9)
Amortisation of business combination intangibles   9  (86.9) (17.5) (10.0)
Impairment of goodwill   9   (111.7) (37.3) (22.9)
Taxation on profits of joint ventures and associates   11   (2.8) (2.3) (1.9)
     (184.1) 56.1  161.9 
    
Financial income   4   122.0  147.4  99.9 
Financial expenses   4   (204.5) (185.1) (109.3)
Net financial expenses   4   (82.5) (37.7) (9.4)
    
(Loss)/profit before tax     (266.6) 18.4  152.5 
Taxation    7   0.1  (11.5) (79.5)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period     (266.5) 6.9  73.0 
    
Attributable to:    
Ordinary shareholders     (270.7) 6.6  71.1 
Minority interest     4.2  0.3  1.9 
(Loss)/profit for the year/period     (266.5) 6.9  73.0 

     Pence  Pence  Pence 

(Loss)/earnings per share (pence) for result attributable to the  
equity holders of the company during the year/period    
– basic   33   (24.4)  0.6  6.4 
– diluted   33   (24.4)  0.6  6.4 

Non-GAAP measures  
Reconciliation of underlying operating profit to underlying profit before tax

     £m  £m  £m 

Underlying operating profit     398.0  260.5  230.6 
Net underlying financial expenses   4   (78.3) (37.7) (9.4)
Underlying profit before tax     319.7  222.8  221.2 
    
     Pence  Pence  Pence 

Underlying earnings per share (pence) for profit attributable to the 
equity holders of the company during the year/period    
– basic   33   20.4  14.4  11.4 
– diluted   33   20.2  14.3  11.3 

The pro forma figures for the year ended 30 September 2007 are unaudited. The basis of preparation of these figures is set out in 
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.



TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2008 61

      30 September  30 September  
       2008  2007  
    Note   £m  £m 

Non-current assets   
Intangible assets    9   4,428.7  4,216.9 
Property, plant and equipment    10   926.2  1,317.5 
Investments in joint ventures and associates    11   114.4  92.5 
Other investments    11   55.8  53.0 
Trade and other receivables    13   210.3  231.9 
Employee benefit asset    5   16.9  20.8 
Derivative financial instruments    25   47.5  6.4 
Deferred tax assets    14   205.2  167.8 
      6,005.0  6,106.8 
Current assets   
Inventories    15   51.2  39.7 
Other investments    17  28.6  12.4 
Trade and other receivables    16   1,653.5  1,377.9 
Income tax recoverable      28.8  28.3 
Derivative financial instruments    25   273.5  37.6 
Cash and cash equivalents    17   1,129.8  1,958.7 
Assets classified as held for sale    18   156.8  88.0 
      3,322.2  3,542.6 
   
Total assets      9,327.2  9,649.4 
   
Current liabilities   
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings    19   (99.3) (152.0)
Employee benefits    5   (2.0) (2.9)
Derivative financial instruments    25   (177.7) (137.1)
Trade and other payables    20   (4,056.5) (3,554.6)
Provisions    21   (234.9) (211.8)
Income tax payable      (89.5) (73.8)
Liabilities classified as held for sale    18   (22.4) (18.8)
      (4,682.3) (4,151.0)
Non-current liabilities   
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings    19   (1,167.1) (2,044.1)
Derivative financial instruments    25   (50.0) (25.5)
Employee benefits    5   (268.0) (310.8)
Trade and other payables    22   (148.3) (186.1)
Provisions    21   (180.3) (117.3)
Deferred tax liabilities    14   (234.8) (183.8)
      (2,048.5) (2,867.6)
   
Total liabilities      (6,730.8) (7,018.6)
   
Net assets      2,596.4  2,630.8 
   
Equity   
Share capital    23   111.8  111.8 
Other reserves    24   2,749.8  2,428.7 
Retained (deficit)/earnings    24   (270.6) 82.9 
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent    24   2,591.0  2,623.4 
Minority interest    24   5.4  7.4 
Total equity    24   2,596.4  2,630.8 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 November 2008 and were signed on its 
behalf by:

Paul Bowtell
Chief Financial Officer

Consolidated balance sheet
At 30 September 2008
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 September 2008

        9-month  
      Year ended  period ended  
      30 September  30 September  
       2008  2007  
    Note   £m  £m 

(Loss)/profit for the year/period      (266.5) 73.0 
   
Adjustment for:   
Depreciation and amortisation      330.9  134.8 
Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment     145.8  22.9 
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses      13.5  0.3 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment      71.4  12.3 
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates      (12.0) (6.9)
Loss on foreign exchange       25.1  3.4 
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates    11  9.4  – 
Financial income    4   (122.0) (99.9)
Financial expenses    4   204.5  109.3 
Income tax (credit)/expense       (0.1) 79.5 
Acquisition of shares for share-based payments    24  (7.1) (12.8)
Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions     392.9  315.9 
   
(Increase)/decrease in inventories      (4.9) 1.2 
Increase in trade and other receivables      (234.8) (217.2)
Increase in trade and other payables       265.0  461.8 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions and employee benefits      41.8  (24.6)
Cash flows from operations      460.0  537.1 
   
Interest paid       (108.8) (54.4)
Interest received      53.3  50.1 
Income taxes paid      (33.5) (35.5)
Cash flows from operating activities      371.0  497.3 
   
Investing activities   
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment      347.2  17.8 
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries net of cash disposed of     2.5  – 
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired    12(b)   (90.3) (114.3)
Acquisition of minority shareholdings    12(b)   (19.8) (15.8)
Investment in joint ventures    11   (9.5) – 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and software      (277.4) (79.9)
Cash flows from investing activities      (47.3) (192.2)
   
Financing activities   
Share issue expenses      –  (23.3)
Proceeds from new loans and deposits taken      231.7  1,793.3 
Repayment of borrowings      (1,410.5) (603.5)
Payment of finance lease liabilities      (25.6) (18.3)
Ordinary and minority interest dividends paid    24  (69.9) (15.2)
Pre-business combination financing cash flows to TUI AG      –  (697.6)
Cash flows from financing activities      (1,274.3) 435.4 
   
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents      (950.6) 740.5 
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year/period    17  1,958.7  1,183.6 
Effect of foreign exchange on cash held      121.7  34.6 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/period    17  1,129.8  1,958.7 

Movements in cash and net debt are presented in Note 26. Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and software includes £73.1m of aircraft assets recorded 
directly as non-current assets held for sale, pending their planned sale and operating leaseback.



TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2008 63

Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense
for the year ended 30 September 2008

        9-month  
      Year ended  period ended  
      30 September  30 September  
       2008  2007  
    Note   £m  £m 

Foreign exchange translation      180.4  44.4 
Actuarial gains arising in respect of defined benefit pension schemes   5   4.4  111.4 
Cash flow hedges:   
 movement in fair value    25( j)   162.7  (22.5)
 amounts recycled to the income statement    25( j)   37.1  25.8 
Tax on items taken directly to equity    7   (62.6) (30.7)
Net income recognised directly in equity      322.0  128.4 
(Loss)/profit for the year/period      (266.5) 73.0 
Total recognised income for the year/period      55.5  201.4 
   
Attributable to:   
Ordinary shareholders       50.5  198.7 
Minority interest      5.0  2.7 
Total      55.5 201.4 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Accounting policies
The following accounting policies have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements with the exception, as described below,  
of the pro forma financial comparative information presented 
for the year ended 30 September 2007. 

The financial statements are presented in the Group’s 
presentational currency of Sterling, rounded to the nearest 
hundred thousand.

(A) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended  
30 September 2008 have been prepared and approved by  
the Directors in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union 
(Adopted IFRSs) The consolidated financial statements  
were approved on 26 November 2008.

(B) Basis of preparation
(i) Business combination
On 3 September 2007, the TUI Travel PLC Group was formed 
through a business combination of the tourism businesses  
of TUI AG (TUI Tourism) with First Choice Holidays PLC 
(now First Choice Holidays Limited) (First Choice). The 
business combination was effected by way of TUI Travel PLC, 
a subsidiary of TUI AG, acquiring both TUI Tourism and First 
Choice. On a consolidated basis, TUI Tourism is considered 
to be the acquirer of First Choice. As a result of the business 
combination, First Choice’s listing on the London Stock 
Exchange was cancelled on that date and the ordinary shares 
of the new combined group, TUI Travel PLC, were admitted to 
the Official List of the UK Listing Authority and to trading on 
the London Stock Exchange.

(ii) Comparative financial information
The statutory comparative financial information represents the 
9-month period from 1 January 2007 to 30 September 2007 
for the TUI Tourism businesses and includes one month of 
First Choice (from the date of its acquisition on 3 September 
2007). The Directors consider this 9-month period to 30 
September 2007 to be the appropriate statutory comparative 
as it represents the previous statutory reporting period of the 
deemed acquirer, TUI Tourism. The subsequent acquisition 
and one month inclusion of First Choice and the seasonality 
of the business of the Group as a whole will mean that this 
statutory comparative period is not directly comparable to  
the current year.

An unaudited pro forma income statement for the year ended 
30 September 2007 has been prepared by the Directors 
on a pro forma basis to illustrate the effect of the business 
combination as if it had taken place prior to 1 October 2006 
(the first day of the pro forma comparative accounting period 
presented). The unaudited pro forma income statement 
is included within the consolidated income statement 
and related notes. This is to provide information which 
the Directors consider is meaningful, but it is not entirely 
comparable with the result for the year ended 30 September 
2008 because it is an aggregation of financial information 

of TUI Tourism, First Choice and the holding company, TUI 
Travel PLC. Specifically, no adjustments have been made for 
the impact of acquisition accounting in accordance with IFRS 
3 Business Combinations; the assets and liabilities of First 
Choice have not been restated to their fair value; and no 
amortisation relating to the business combination has been 
recognised. Also intra-group trading between TUI Tourism  
and First Choice has not been eliminated, as required by  
IAS 27: Consolidated and separate financial statements.  
The unaudited pro forma financial information has been 
prepared for illustrative purposes only. It has not been 
designed to and does not give a presentation of the income 
statement of the Group that would have been reported in 
accordance with adopted IFRSs had the business combination 
actually occurred before 1 October 2006.

(iii) Parent Company
TUI Travel PLC (the Company) is a company incorporated  
and domiciled in England and Wales under the Companies  
Act 1985 and listed on the London Stock Exchange.  
The Registered Office of the Company is TUI Travel  
House, Crawley Business Quarter, Fleming Way, Crawley,  
West Sussex, RH10 9QL. The Company was incorporated  
on 29 January 2007 as Coppereagle PLC and changed its 
name to TUI Travel PLC on 21 June 2007. The Company’s  
first set of accounts were prepared for the seven-month 
period ended 31 July 2007 and the Company then changed 
its accounting reference date to 30 September. The profit 
disclosed in the Company’s accounts is for the 14-month 
period ended 30 September 2008.

The Company has elected to prepare its parent company 
financial statements in accordance with UK GAAP.  
These are presented separately on pages 124 to 129.

(iv) Underlying measures of profits and losses
The Group believes that underlying operating profit and 
underlying profit before tax provide additional guidance 
to statutory measures to help understand the underlying 
performance of the business during the financial period. 
The term underlying is not defined under International 
Financial Reporting Standards. It is a measure that is used 
by management to assess the underlying performance of 
the business internally and is not intended to be a substitute 
measure for Adopted IFRSs’ GAAP measures. The Group 
defines these underlying measures as follows:

Underlying operating profit is profit before financial income 
and expenses, taxation (Group and share of joint ventures 
and associates), separately disclosed items (see Note 3), 
amortisation of intangible assets acquired in business 
combinations and impairment of goodwill.

Underlying profit before tax is profit before taxation (Group 
and share of joint ventures and associates), separately 
disclosed items, amortisation of intangible assets acquired in 
business combinations, impairment of goodwill and financing 
expenses or income arising on the revaluation of minority 
interest put option liabilities.
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Underlying earnings used in the calculation of underlying 
earnings per share is profit after tax excluding separately 
disclosed items, amortisation of intangible assets acquired in 
business combinations, impairment of goodwill and financing 
expenses or income arising on the revaluation of minority 
interest put option liabilities (net of related taxation).

It should be noted that the definitions of underlying items 
being used in these financial statements are those used 
by the Group and may not be comparable with the term 
‘underlying’ as defined by other companies within both the 
same sector or elsewhere.

(v) Separately disclosed items
Separately disclosed items are those significant items which 
in management’s judgement are highlighted by virtue of their 
size or incidence to enable a full understanding of the Group’s 
financial performance. Such items are included within the 
income statement caption to which they relate (see Note 3).

(vi) Funding and Liquidity
The Group’s business activities, together with factors likely 
to affect its future development, performance and position 
are set out in the Business and Financial Review on pages 
11 to 35. In addition Note 25 sets out the Group’s objectives, 
policies and processes for managing its capital; financial risks; 
financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures 
to credit and liquidity risk.

The Board remains satisfied with the Group’s funding and 
liquidity position. The two main sources of debt funding 
are the shareholder loan from TUI AG, which is €1.0bn and 
matures in January 2011, and the external bank £770m 
revolving credit facility which matures in August 2012.

The ratio of Earnings Before Interest Taxation Depreciation 
and Amortisation (EBITDA) to fixed charges (being the 
aggregate amount of interest and any other finance charges 
in respect of borrowings and including all payments under 
operating leases) and the ratio of net debt to EBITDA, which 
the Board believes to be the most useful measures of cash 
generation and gearing, as well as being the main basis for the 
Group’s credit facility covenants, are currently well within the 
covenant limits. Forecasts reviewed by the Board, including 
forecasts adjusted for significantly worse economic conditions, 
show continued compliance with these covenants.

On the basis of its forecasts, both base case and adjusted 
as described above, and available facilities, the Board has 
concluded that the going concern basis of preparation 
continues to be appropriate.

(C) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on 
the historical cost basis other than derivative financial 
instruments, financial instruments held for trading, financial 
instruments classified as available for sale and liabilities for 
cash-settled share-based payments, which are stated at their 
fair value. Non-current assets and disposal groups held for 
sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amount and  
fair value less costs to sell.

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 
Group) and equity account the Group’s interest in joint 
ventures and associates. The parent company financial 
statements present information about the Company  
as a separate entity and not about the Group.

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control 
exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly,  
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity  
so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing  
control, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable  
or convertible are taken into account. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial information from the date that control commences 
until the date that control ceases.

(ii) Joint ventures and associates
Joint ventures are jointly controlled entities whose activities 
the Group has the power to jointly control, established by 
contractual agreement. Associates are those entities in which 
the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence,  
but not control, over the financial and operating policies.
The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s 
share of the total recognised income and expense of joint 
ventures and associates on an equity accounted basis, from 
the date that joint control or significant influence respectively 
commences until the date that it ceases. When the Group’s 
share of losses exceeds the carrying amount of the joint 
venture or associate, the carrying amount is reduced to nil 
and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to 
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture 
or associate.

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and any unrealised gains or income and 
expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated 
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised 
gains arising from transactions with associates and jointly 
controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the 
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that 
there is no evidence of impairment.

(iv) Acquisition in stages
When control is obtained in successive share purchases  
(a ‘step acquisition’), each significant transaction is accounted 
for separately and the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired are stated at fair value 
when control is obtained. The fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities may 
be different at the date of each purchase transaction. Any 
adjustment to those fair values relating to previously held 
interests of the acquirer is accounted for as a revaluation.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

(v) Contingent acquisition consideration
Contingent consideration is recognised when the payment 
becomes probable and the amount can be reliably measured. 
The purchase price is subsequently adjusted against goodwill 
or negative goodwill as the estimate of the amount payable  
is revised.

(D) Foreign currency
(i) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
balance sheet date are translated to Sterling at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences 
arising on translation are recognised in the income statement 
(except for differences arising on the retranslation of a 
financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment 
in a foreign operation, or qualifying cash flow hedges, which 
are recognised directly in equity). Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value 
are translated to Sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at 
the dates the fair values were determined.

(ii) Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including 
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, 
are translated to Sterling at the foreign exchange rates ruling 
at the balance sheet date.

The revenues and expenses of overseas operations are 
translated at rates approximating to the foreign exchange 
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
differences arising on retranslation are recognised directly 
in equity in the Translation reserve, a designated foreign 
exchange reserve.

(iii) Net investment in foreign operations
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary 
item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, 
the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in 
the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a 
net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised 
directly in equity in the Translation reserve. Foreign currency 
differences arising on the retranslation of a hedge of a net 
investment in a foreign operation are recognised directly in 
equity, in the Translation reserve, to the extent that the hedge 
is effective. These amounts recorded in the Translation reserve 
are released to the income statement upon disposal of the 
foreign operation as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

(E) Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets
Financial assets are classified as loans and receivables, 
available for sale financial assets, financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss or as derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments. Financial assets include cash and cash 
equivalents, trade receivables, other receivables, loans, other 
investments, and derivative financial instruments. The Group 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition. Financial assets are recognised initially at fair 
value, normally being the transaction price plus, in the case of 
financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly 
attributable transaction costs. The subsequent measurement 
of financial assets depends on their classification, as follows:

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets  
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method if the time value of money 
is significant. Gains and losses are recognised in income when 
the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as  
well as through the amortisation process. This category of 
financial assets includes trade and other receivables.

Available for sale financial assets
Available for sale financial assets are those non-derivative 
financial assets that are not classified as loans and receivables 
or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. After 
initial recognition, available for sale financial assets are 
measured at fair value, with gains or losses recognised as 
a separate component of equity until the investment is 
derecognised or until the investment is determined to be 
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
reported in equity is included in the income statement.  
Note 1Y describes the basis on which fair value is determined.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call 
deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are 
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for  
the purpose only of the statement of cash flows.

Derivatives
Derivatives are accounted for in accordance with the policy  
in 1E(iii).

(ii) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost, financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss or derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments. Financial liabilities include trade and other 
payables, accruals, finance debt and derivative financial 
instruments. The Group determines the classification of its 
financial liabilities at initial recognition. Financial liabilities are 
recognised initially at fair value, normally being the transaction 
price plus, in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value 
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends 
on their classification, as follows:
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Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
All other financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. 
For interest-bearing loans and borrowings this is the fair value 
of the proceeds received net of issue costs associated with the 
borrowing. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities  
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by 
taking into account any issue costs, and any discount or 
premium on settlement. Gains and losses arising on the 
repurchase, settlement or cancellation of liabilities are 
recognised respectively in interest and other revenues and 
finance costs. This category of financial liabilities includes 
trade and other payables.

Derivatives
Derivatives are accounted for in accordance with the policy  
in 1E(iii).

(iii) Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its 
exposure to foreign exchange, interest rate and fuel price risks 
arising from operational, financing and investment activities. In 
accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold 
or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 
However, derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
are accounted for as trading instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value.  
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised 
immediately in the income statement. However, where 
derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any 
resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item  
being hedged (see Accounting Policy 1(F)).

(iv) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and  
share awards are recognised as a deduction from equity,  
net of any tax effects.

(F) Hedge accounting
(i) Cash flow hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a 
hedge of the variability in cash flows arising from a recognised 
asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the 
effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial 
instrument is recognised directly in the hedging reserve. Any 
ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised immediately 
within the income statement.

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the 
recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, 
the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from the 
hedging reserve and is included in the initial cost or other 
carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. If a 
hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the 
recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the 
associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in 
equity are reclassified into the income statement in the same 
period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability 
assumed affects profit or loss.

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the 
preceding two policy statements, the associated cumulative 
gain or loss is removed from equity and recognised in the 
income statement in the same period or periods during which 
the hedged forecast transaction affects the income statement.

Prospective hedge effectiveness is performed at the 
commencement of hedge accounting, and subsequently at 
each balance sheet date, through comparison of the critical 
terms of the hedged forecast transaction and the hedging 
instrument. Critical terms are the maturity, amount and 
currency of the cash flows relating to the hedging instrument 
and the forecast hedged transaction. Retrospective hedge 
effectiveness is performed at each reporting date principally 
using a dollar offset analysis, comparing the cumulative 
changes in the fair values of the forecast hedged transaction 
and the hedging instrument.

When a hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, 
or the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship, 
hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the hedged 
forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative 
gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in 
accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. 
If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, 
the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is 
recognised in the income statement immediately.

(ii) Fair value hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a 
hedge of the variability in fair value of a recognised asset or 
liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, all changes in 
the fair value of the derivative are recognised immediately in 
the income statement. The carrying value of the hedged item 
is adjusted by the change in fair value that is attributable to 
the risk being hedged (even if it is normally carried at cost or 
amortised cost) and any gains or losses on remeasurement 
are recognised immediately in the income statement (even if 
those gains would normally be recognised directly in equity.)

(G) Revenue
Revenue represents the aggregate amount earned from 
inclusive tours, scheduled and charter flying, provision 
of incoming agency destination services, travel agency 
commission received and other services supplied to customers 
in the ordinary course of business. Revenue excludes intra-
group transactions and is stated after the deduction of trade 
discounts and sales taxes. Revenue is reported gross of fixed 
charges which are a liability of the tour operator or airline. 
These include Air Passenger Duty and other per passenger 
charges and levies, including the ATOL Protection Contribution 
in the UK.
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(i) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised in the income statement when 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer. Revenue in respect of in-house 
product is all recognised on the date of departure. Travel 
agency commissions and other revenues received from the 
sale of third-party product are recognised when they are 
earned, typically on receipt of final payment. Revenue from 
individual travel modules directly booked by the customer 
with airlines, hotels and incoming agencies is recognised when 
the customer departs or uses the respective service.

No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties 
regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs 
or possible return of goods.

(ii) Client monies received in advance (deferred income)
Client monies received at the balance sheet date relating to 
holidays commencing and flights departing after the year end 
is deferred and included within trade and other payables.

(iii) Valuation of revenue
Where the Group acts as principal, revenue is stated at the 
contractual value of goods and services provided.

Where the Group acts as agent and collects amounts on 
behalf of the principal provider of goods or services, revenue 
is stated at the value of the commissions earned and not the 
total transaction sales value.

Where the Group acts as intermediary between the service 
provider and the end customer, revenue is presented on a 
net basis as the difference between the sales price to the 
customer and the cost of the services purchased. Businesses 
are identified as intermediaries dependent on a number of 
criteria, principally including: the control exercised over the 
provision of service, inventory risk, and customer credit risk.

(iv) Aircraft lease income
Operating lease rental incomes are recognised in operating 
income as earned, on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(H) Expenses
(i) Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income 
statement as an integral part of the total lease expense over 
the term of the lease.

(ii) Finance lease payments
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. 
The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease 
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability.

(iii) Marketing and other direct sales costs
Marketing, advertising and other promotional costs, including 
those related to the production of brochures, are expensed 
when the benefit of the goods or services is made available 
to the Group. In particular, brochure costs are expensed when 
the Group receives the related advertising or promotional 
material.
 
(I) Employee benefits
(i) Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension 
plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement 
as incurred.

(ii) Defined benefit plans
The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit 
pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by 
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in current and prior periods. 
That benefit is discounted to determine its present value and 
any unrecognised past service costs and the fair value of any 
plan assets is deducted in calculating the overall liability. The 
liability discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on 
AA credit rated bonds denominated in the currency of, and 
having the same maturity dates approximating to the terms 
of the Group’s obligations. The calculation is performed by  
a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the 
asset recognised is limited to the present value of any future 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions  
to the plan which are under the control of the Group.

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of 
the increased benefit relating to past services by employees 
is recognised as an expense in the income statement on 
a straight-line basis over the average period until the 
benefits become vested. To the extent that the benefits vest 
immediately, the expense is recognised immediately in the 
income statement.

All actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the period they 
occur directly in equity through the statement of recognised 
income and expense. Either monthly or annual contributions 
are made to funded schemes.

(iii) Share-based payment transactions
Share-based payment transactions
The Group’s share award programmes allow certain Group 
employees to acquire shares of the Company; these awards 
are granted by the Company. The fair value of services is 
measured by the fair value of the shares awarded at the time 
of granting and is recognised as an employee expense with  
a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is spread 
over the period during which the employee becomes entitled 
to the awards. The fair value of the awards granted is 
measured using option valuation models, taking into account 
the terms and conditions upon which the awards were 
granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted 
to reflect the actual number of share awards that vest except 
where forfeiture is due only to market-based performance 
conditions not meeting the threshold for vesting.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued
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For cash-settled transactions, the resulting liability for the 
Group is charged to expenses at its fair value as at the  
date of the performance of the service by the beneficiary. 
Until payment of this liability, the fair value of the liability  
is remeasured at every reporting date and all changes in  
the fair value are carried with an effect on results.

(iv) Own shares held by the Employee Benefit Trust 
Transactions of the Group-sponsored Employee Benefit Trust 
are included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
In particular, the trust’s purchase of shares in the Company 
are debited directly in equity to retained earnings.

(v) Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefits are measured on an 
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service  
is provided.

(J) Financial income and expenses
Financial income comprises interest income on funds invested 
(including available for sale financial assets), dividend income, 
gains on the disposal of available for sale financial assets, 
changes in the fair value of financial assets or liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss, and gains on hedging instruments 
that are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is 
recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective 
interest method. Dividend income is recognised in profit or 
loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established, which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-
dividend date. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported 
on a net basis.

Financial expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, 
unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair 
value of financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss, impairment losses recognised on financial assets, and 
losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or 
loss. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using 
the effective interest method. Foreign currency gains and 
losses are reported on a net basis.

(K) Taxation
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognised in the income statement except to the extent that 
it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it 
is recognised in equity.

(i) Current tax
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income 
for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted 
at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous periods.

(ii) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided or recognised using the balance 
sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. The following temporary differences 
are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill not 
deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or 
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination, 
and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the 
extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. The amount of deferred tax asset recognised is based 
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates 
enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised.

(L) Dividends
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is 
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in 
the period in which the dividends are appropriately authorised 
and approved for payment and are no longer at the discretion 
of the Company. Unpaid dividends that do not meet these 
criteria are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(M) Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share 
(EPS) data for its ordinary shares. In respect of the year 
ended 30 September 2008 basic EPS is calculated by dividing 
the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by 
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. For the comparative periods, as the majority of the 
Group’s share capital was not in issue for 8 months of the 
period, the weighted average number of shares would not 
give a meaningful result and therefore the number of shares 
outstanding at 30 September 2007 has been used to calculate 
the prior year basic and diluted earnings per share. The Group 
also presents a basic and diluted underlying EPS measure 
based on underlying earnings as defined in Note 1(B) above. 
Further details of the EPS calculation are presented in Note 33.

(N) Non-current assets held for sale 
A non-current asset or a disposal group containing a non-
current asset is classified as held for sale if its carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through sale rather than through 
continuing use, it is available for immediate sale and sale is 
highly probable within one year.
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On initial classification as held for sale, non-current assets 
and disposal groups are measured at the lower of previous 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell with any 
adjustments taken to profit or loss. The same applies to gains 
and losses on subsequent remeasurement.

Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to 
goodwill and then to remaining applicable assets on a pro 
rata basis (except no loss is allocated to inventories, financial 
assets, deferred tax assets or employee benefit assets, which 
continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policies).

(O) Investments
Trade investments are classified as available for sale assets 
and are included under non-current assets. They are recorded 
at fair value with movements in value taken to equity. Any 
impairment to value is recorded in the income statement.

Short-term investments in debt and equity securities which 
are held for trading are classified as current assets and are 
stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised 
in the income statement.

(P) Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the 
purchase method.

Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of 
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities. 
Goodwill represents the difference between the fair value of 
consideration paid or payable and the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. 
Identifiable intangibles are those which can be sold separately 
or which arise from legal rights regardless of whether those 
rights are separable. Goodwill is stated at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to  
cash generating units and is not amortised but is tested 
annually for impairment. In respect of joint ventures and 
associates, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in  
the carrying amount of the investment in the associate or  
joint venture.

Fair value adjustments are made in respect of acquisitions. 
If at the balance sheet date, the amounts of fair values of 
the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities can only be 
established provisionally, then these values are used. Any 
adjustments to these values are taken as adjustments to 
goodwill and must be recorded within 12 months of the 
acquisition.

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised in  
the income statement upon acquisition.

(ii) Computer software and other intangible assets
Computer software consists of all software that is not an 
integral part of the related computer hardware. Computer 
software and all other intangible assets are stated at cost  
less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

(iii) Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic life  
of each type of intangible asset as follows:

Computer software – 3-10 years
Brands  – 15-20 years
Order book at date  
of acquisition  –  Over the period up until  

travel occurs
Customer relationships  –  Over the period during which  

value will be obtained by the  
Group (up to 15 years)

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for 
impairment.

(Q) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Owned assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost  
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Where significant parts of an item of property, plant and 
equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted  
for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

(ii) Leased assets
Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 
Leased assets acquired by way of a finance lease are stated 
at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception 
of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Lease payments are accounted for as set out in Note 
1(H) above.
 
(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic lives 
of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. 
Freehold land is not depreciated. The useful economic lives 
are as follows:

Freehold properties – Up to 50 years
Short leasehold properties –  Lease period or useful 

economic life if shorter
Owned aircraft – Up to 18 years
Finance leased aircraft  –  Lease period or useful 
and equipment   economic life if shorter
Aircraft spares – 12 years
Yachts – 5-15 years
Motor boats – 15-24 years
Computer equipment including 
retail computer equipment – 3-5 years 
Retail fixtures and fittings – 8 years
Other assets – 4 years

The cost of major overhauls of owned airframes and engines 
is capitalised and depreciated over the period until the next 
scheduled major overhaul. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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The depreciation methods, useful economic lives and residual 
values are reassessed annually. Revisions to useful economic 
lives and residual values are accounted for prospectively from 
the date of change.

Assets under contruction are not depreciated.

(iv) Sale and leaseback transactions
When a sale and leaseback results in a finance lease, any gain 
on the sale is deferred and recognised as income over the 
lease term. Any loss on the sale is immediately recognised as 
an impairment loss when the sale occurs.

If the leaseback is classified as an operating lease, then any 
gain is recognised immediately if the sale and leaseback 
terms are demonstrably at fair value. Otherwise, the sale and 
leaseback are accounted for as follows:

•  If the sale price is below fair value then the gain or loss is 
recognised immediately other than to the extent that a loss 
is compensated for by future rentals at a below-market 
price, then the loss is deferred and amortised over the 
period that the asset is expected to be used.

•  If the sale price is above fair value, then any gain is deferred 
and amortised over the useful life of the asset.

•  If the fair value of the asset is less than the carrying 
amount of the asset at the date of the transaction, then 
that difference is recognised immediately as a loss on the 
sale.

(R) Impairments
(i) Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any objective evidence that it 
is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if 
objective evidence indicates that one or more events have  
had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of 
that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset is calculated 
as the difference between its carrying amount and its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of an 
available for sale financial asset is calculated by reference 
to its fair value. The recoverable amount of the Group’s 
receivables which are carried at amortised cost is calculated as 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest 
rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets.) 
Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. 

Individually significant financial assets are tested for 
impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial 
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar 
credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any 
cumulative loss in respect of an available for sale financial 
asset previously recognised in equity is transferred to profit  
or loss. An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can  
be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured 
at amortised cost and available for sale financial assets that  
are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or  
loss. For available for sale financial assets that are equity 
securities, the reversal is recognised directly in equity.
 
(ii) Non-financial assets
The carrying amount of the Group’s non-financial assets, 
other than inventory and deferred tax assets, are reviewed 
at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, the 
recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset 
or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and 
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable 
group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups 
of assets.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment 
losses recognised in respect of cash generating units are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill 
allocated to the cash generating unit and then to reduce the 
carrying amount of other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In 
respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would  
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation,  
if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(S) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable 
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less 
the estimated cost incurred until the sale and the estimated 
variable costs required to sell. All inventories are written  
down individually where the net realisable value of inventories 
is lower than their carrying amounts. The measurement 
method applied to similar inventory items is the weighted 
average cost formula.
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(T) Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group 
has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and the outflow of 
economic benefits can be reliably estimated. If the effect 
is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability.

(i) Maintenance provision for leased aircraft
To reflect the legal obligations placed upon the Group under 
the terms of certain operating leases, provision is made for 
the maintenance, overhaul and repair costs of operating 
leased airframes, engines and certain other components. The 
provision is based on the present value of total anticipated 
costs over the useful economic life of the asset calculated by 
reference to costs experienced and published manufacturers’ 
data. The charge to the income statement is calculated by 
reference to the number of hours and cycles flown and 
by reference to the length of the full overhaul cycle. Costs 
incurred are charged against the provision. Neither the timing 
nor the value of the expenditure can be precisely determined 
but they can be averaged over time and over a fleet. The 
unwinding of discounted values is charged to the income 
statement as a financing expense.

The cost of major overhauls of owned airframes and engines 
is capitalised and depreciated over the period until the next 
scheduled major overhaul.

(ii) Restructuring provision
A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group 
has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the 
restructuring either has commenced or has been announced 
publicly. Future operating costs are not provided for.

(iii) Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the 
expected benefits to be derived by the Group from the 
contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its 
obligations under the contract. The provision is measured 
at the present value of the lower of the expected cost 
of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of 
continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, 
the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets 
associated with that contract. 

(U) Minority interest
In the consolidated balance sheet, the share of net assets 
attributable to minority shareholders is disclosed as a 
separate component of equity after share capital and 
reserves, although it is neither a financial liability nor an equity 
instrument. The consolidated income statement discloses the 
amount of the result for the period attributable to minority 
shareholders.

Where the Group has a written put option in respect of 
a minority interest and has an unavoidable obligation to 
purchase the shareholding, the minority interest is recorded  
as a financial liability at fair value, rather than being reported 
as a separate component of equity. No result is attributable  
to minority shareholders and instead changes to the fair  
value of the financial liability are recorded at each period  
end in the income statement within financing income or 
financing expense.

On purchase or sale of a minority interest shareholding held 
in a Group subsidiary, the Group recognises increases or 
decreases in its interest directly in equity.

(V) Related parties
For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are 
considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the 
ability directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise 
significant influence over the party making financial and 
operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the 
party are subject to common control or common significant 
influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

(W) Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that 
is engaged either in providing related products or services 
(business segment), or in providing products or services within 
a particular economic environment (geographical segment), 
which is subject to risks and returns that are different from 
those of other segments. Segment information is presented 
in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments. 
The Group’s primary format for segment reporting is based 
on business segments. As described in Note 2, all items are 
allocated to segments except corporate costs, net financial 
expenses, and corporate assets and liabilities.

(X) Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised 
and in any future periods affected. Details of critical 
judgements, significant estimates and assumptions are 
disclosed in the relevant notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. The key estimates and judgements are described 
in Note 31.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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(Y) Determination of fair values
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures 
require the determination of fair value, for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been 
determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes 
based on the following methods. When applicable, further 
information about the assumptions made in determining fair 
values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

(i) Property, plant and equipment
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as 
a result of a business combination is based on market values. 
The market value of property is the estimated amount for 
which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation 
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arms-length 
transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had 
each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. 
The market value of items of plant, equipment, fixtures and 
fittings is based on the quoted market prices for similar items.

(ii) Intangible assets
The fair value of intangible assets recognised as a result 
of a business combination, including brands, customer 
relationships and the customer order book at the date of 
acquisition are valued by reference to external market values 
or income based methods. Income based methods estimate 
the future economic benefits to be derived from ownership of 
the asset by identifying, quantifying and separating cash flows 
attributable to the asset and capitalising their present value.

(iii) Inventories
The fair value of inventories acquired in a business 
combination is determined based on the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit margin 
based on the effort required to complete and sell the 
inventories. 

(iv) Investments in equity and debt securities
The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, held to maturity investments and available for sale 
financial assets is determined by reference to their quoted 
closing bid price at the reporting date. The fair value of held 
to maturity investments is determined on initial recognition 
and thereafter for disclosure purposes only.

(v) Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated 
as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the 
market rate of interest at the reporting date.

(vi) Derivatives
The fair value of foreign currency contracts, fuel forward 
contracts and option contracts is their forward market price 
at the balance sheet date, based on external valuations or 
internal valuations using market data. 
 
(vii) Non-derivative financial liabilities
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is 
calculated based on the present value of future principal  
and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate  
of interest at the reporting date. For finance leases the  
market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar 
lease agreements.

(viii) Share-based payments
The fair value of the awards granted is measured using option 
valuation models, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the awards were granted. The valuation basis is 
identical whether the awards will be settled in cash or shares.

(Z) New Standards and interpretations not yet adopted
IFRS 8 Operating Segments has been endorsed by the 
European Union but is not effective or mandatory for the  
year ended 30 September 2008 and has not been adopted  
in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 8 introduces the ‘management approach’ to segment 
reporting and becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2009 
consolidated financial statements. IFRS 8 will require the 
presentation and disclosure of segment information to be 
based on the internal reports regularly reviewed by the 
Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker in order to assess 
each segment’s performance and to allocate resources to 
them. Currently the Group presents segment information  
in respect of its business and geographical segments  
(see Note 2). The Group is currently assessing the impact  
that this standard will have on the presentation of the 
consolidated results.

The Group continues to monitor the potential impact of other 
new standards and interpretations which may be endorsed 
by the European Union and require adoption by the Group in 
future accounting periods.
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2. Segmental information
Segmental information is presented in the primary format by the Group’s business Sectors and, in the secondary format,  
analysed by geography. Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those  
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise corporate costs, net financial expense, and corporate 
assets and liabilities.

(A) Sector analysis
The Sector analysis is based on the Group’s management and reporting structure. A detailed explanation of each Sector is 
included in the Business and Financial Review.

 Year ended 30 September 2008

 Mainstream Sector
        Joint   
    Total   Online Ventures   
 Central Northern Western Mainstream Specialist Activity Destination and Eliminations Total 
 Europe Region Europe Sector Sector Sector Services Associates /Corporate  Group 
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m

Revenue           
Total revenue 4,714.1  4,532.2  2,753.0  11,999.3  819.5  779.5  701.0  –  (367.5) 13,931.8 
Inter segment revenue (12.3) (155.1) (0.5) (167.9) (0.2) –  (199.4) –  367.5  – 
External revenue          
– continuing operations 4,701.8  4,377.1  2,752.5  11,831.4  807.8  705.4  495.0  –  –  13,839.6 
– acquired operations –  –  –  –  11.5  74.1  6.6  –  –  92.2 
Total external 
revenue 4,701.8  4,377.1  2,752.5  11,831.4  819.3  779.5  501.6  –  –  13,931.8 
          
Operating (loss)/profit (112.5) (104.2) 19.8  (196.9) 1.1  (4.4) 41.9  12.0  (37.8) (184.1)
Amortisation of business  
combination intangibles 0.6  58.3  2.2  61.1  7.7  8.1  10.0  –  –  86.9 
Separately disclosed items 62.6  223.6  15.3  301.5  17.3  45.8  5.5  –  10.6  380.7 
Impairment of goodwill 111.7  –  –  111.7  –  –  –  –  –  111.7 
Taxation on profits  
of joint ventures  
and associates –  –  –  –  –  –  –  2.8  –  2.8 
Underlying operating 
profit/(loss) 62.4  177.7  37.3  277.4  26.1  49.5  57.4  14.8  (27.2) 398.0 
 
Analysed as:          
– continuing operations 62.4  177.7  37.3  277.4  26.2  41.9  56.6  14.8  (27.2) 389.7 
– acquired operations –  –  –  –  (0.1) 7.6  0.8  –  –  8.3 
          398.0 

Net financing expenses excluding separately disclosed finance charge of £4.2m      (78.3)
Underlying profit before tax          319.7 

 Pro forma year ended 30 September 2007 (unaudited)

 Mainstream Sector
        Joint   
    Total   Online Ventures   
 Central Northern Western Mainstream Specialist Activity Destination and Eliminations Total 
 Europe Region Europe Sector Sector Sector Services Associates /Corporate  Group 
 unaudited  unaudited  unaudited  unaudited  unaudited  unaudited  unaudited  unaudited  unaudited  unaudited 
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m

Total external revenue 4,253.6  4,317.4  2,439.6  11,010.6  729.6  658.4  441.3  –  –  12,839.9 
          
Operating (loss)/profit 13.5  (18.6) (19.3) (24.4) 9.1  18.8  36.1  10.5  6.0  56.1 
Amortisation of business  
combination intangibles 0.2  0.1  –  0.3  4.0  3.5  9.7  –  –  17.5 
Separately disclosed items 27.8  91.2  26.7  145.7  2.9  17.3  3.4  –  (22.0) 147.3 
Impairment of goodwill –  23.4  –  23.4  13.9  –  –  –  –  37.3 
Taxation on profits  
of joint ventures  
and associates –  –  –  –  –  –  –  2.3  –  2.3 
Underlying operating 
profit/(loss) 41.5  96.1  7.4  145.0  29.9  39.6  49.2  12.8  (16.0) 260.5 
Net financing expenses           (37.7)
Underlying profit before tax          222.8 
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 9-month period ended 30 September 2007

 Mainstream Sector
        Joint   
    Total   Online Ventures   
 Central Northern Western Mainstream Specialist Activity Destination and Eliminations Total 
 Europe Region Europe Sector Sector Sector Services Associates /Corporate  Group 
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m

Revenue 
Total revenue 3,277.7  2,340.7  1,711.5  7,329.9  194.7  284.1  310.9  –  (144.2) 7,975.4 
Inter segment revenue (4.3) (2.7) (13.3) (20.3) –  –  (123.9) –  144.2  – 
Total external 
revenue 3,273.4  2,338.0  1,698.2  7,309.6  194.7  284.1  187.0  –  –  7,975.4 
          
Operating profit 40.1  31.5  25.4  97.0  4.1  9.5  26.8  6.9  17.6  161.9 
Amortisation of business  
combination intangibles –  8.3  0.2  8.5  0.3  0.4  0.8  –  –  10.0 
Separately disclosed items 14.5  40.3  5.4  60.2  0.2  0.1  1.1  –  (27.7) 33.9 
Impairment of goodwill –  22.9  –  22.9  –  –  –  –  –  22.9 
Taxation on profits  
of joint ventures  
and associates –  –  –  –  –  –  –  1.9  –  1.9 
Underlying operating 
profit/(loss) 54.6  103.0  31.0  188.6  4.6  10.0  28.7  8.8  (10.1) 230.6 
Net financing expenses           (9.4)
Underlying profit before tax          221.2 

 30 September 2008 and the year then ended

 Mainstream Sector
        Joint   
    Total   Online Ventures   
 Central Northern Western Mainstream Specialist Activity Destination and  Total 
 Europe Region Europe Sector Sector Sector Services Associates Corporate  Group 
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m

Balance Sheet          
Segment assets 1,230.3  3,636.3  1,184.3  6,050.9  597.4  813.9  1,252.4  114.4  498.2  9,327.2 
Segment liabilities (1,609.9) (1,975.1) (934.2) (4,519.2) (266.0) (279.1) (468.7) –  (1,197.8) (6,730.8)

Other disclosures          
Capital expenditure 20.3  102.7 37.4  160.4 3.4  26.3  18.0  –  –  208.1 
Depreciation and  
amortisation of software 43.7  114.7  58.1  216.5  2.5  13.1  11.9  –  –  244.0
Impairment of goodwill  
and other intangibles 112.5  –  –  112.5  –  1.6  –  –  –  114.1 
Impairment of property, 
plant and equipment 5.6  17.9  –  23.5  –  8.2  –  –  –  31.7 

 30 September 2007 and the 9-month period then ended

 Mainstream Sector
        Joint   
    Total   Online Ventures   
 Central Northern Western Mainstream Specialist Activity Destination and  Total 
 Europe Region Europe Sector Sector Sector Services Associates Corporate  Group 
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m

Balance Sheet 
Segment assets 1,182.0  3,626.7  1,190.7  5,999.4  509.1  627.5  929.2  92.5  1,491.7  9,649.4 
Segment liabilities (1,216.7) (2,015.8) (864.9) (4,097.4) (204.6) (196.8) (360.9) –  (2,158.9) (7,018.6)

Other disclosures          
Capital expenditure 14.8  39.5  17.7  72.0  0.3  3.3  4.5  –  –  80.1 
Depreciation and  
amortisation of software 27.9  64.6  24.7  117.2  0.3  3.3  4.0  –  –  124.8 
Impairment of goodwill 
and other intangibles –  22.9  –  22.9  –  –  –  –  –  22.9

The segmental assets and liabilities above do not include intercompany balances or investments that are eliminated at Group 
level, and therefore the analysis does not necessarily represent the net equity positions of the Sectors as if they were  
standalone entities.
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(B) Geographical analysis of business
In presenting information on the basis of secondary geographic segments, segment revenue is based on the geographic location 
of the customer that generated that revenue. Segment assets and capital expenditure are based on the geographical location 
of the assets. Other Europe is defined as Continental Europe and Eire excluding UK, Germany and France. This information is 
presented for the year ended 30 September 2008. Comparative information is for the 9-month period ended 30 September 2007.

    Other  Rest of 
 UK Germany France Europe the World Total

 2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Revenue from  
external customers 4,392.3  2,035.5  3,689.0  2,444.0  1,424.2  692.8  3,681.6  2,346.6  744.7  456.5  13,931.8  7,975.4 
Segment assets 3,550.5  3,579.9  1,033.8  900.6  839.6  729.1  2,210.2  1,810.0  1,080.5  1,045.6  8,714.6  8,065.2 
Capital expenditure 80.8  42.2  15.6  11.6  16.2  9.6  72.1  16.0  23.4  0.7  208.1  80.1 

Segment assets excludes non-operating assets relating to corporate entities and the Group’s joint ventures and associates, 
totalling £612.6m (2007: £1,584.2m).

3. Separately disclosed items

      Pro forma   
      year ended  9-month 
      Year ended  30 September  period ended  
     30 September  2007  30 September  
     2008 unaudited  2007 
     £m  £m  £m 

Restructuring expenses     65.3  126.1  21.1 
Merger related integration costs     164.3  20.9  18.8 
Aircraft     151.1  (10.7) (16.8)
Other      –  11.0  10.8 
Total     380.7  147.3  33.9 

Separately disclosed items are included within the income statement as follows:

      Pro forma   
      year ended  9-month 
      Year ended  30 September  period ended  
     30 September  2007  30 September  
     2008 unaudited  2007 
     £m  £m  £m 

Revenue     12.7  –  2.0 
Cost of sales     228.2  53.4  5.1 
Administrative expenses     139.8  93.9  26.8 
Total     380.7  147.3  33.9 

Restructuring expenses
Costs incurred in the year ended 30 September 2008 relate to restructuring programmes that were already underway in both the 
First Choice and TUI Tourism businesses prior to the business combination as well as subsequent restructuring activities across 
all Sectors. Costs also relate to the integration of acquired businesses into the Group. Principal restructuring projects include the 
integration of the Sunsail and The Moorings businesses and the restructuring of Le Boat in TUI Marine, the rationalisation of  
the Nouvelles Frontières tour operator product and Corsair scheduled flying programme in France and an impairment charge  
in respect of the Thomson Alfresco assets.

The pro forma year ended 30 September 2007 includes major restructuring costs in the TUI Tourism businesses which were provided 
for in the quarter to 31 December 2006. These costs are therefore not reflected in the 9-month statutory comparative period.

Merger related integration costs
These relate primarily to the costs of integration of the UK businesses, combined with other one-time costs incurred as a result 
of the merger. The majority of costs arise from the integration of First Choice and Thomson in the UK, and in particular from the 
formation of one airline and an integrated retail estate. A combined Mainstream UK head office has been established in Luton. 
Costs also arise from bringing together former Thomson Specialist businesses into the First Choice Activity and Specialist Sectors, 
notably Ski and UK specialist brands. In the ODS Sector separate First Choice and TUI Tourism incoming agencies have been 
combined in a number of key destinations.

Costs include amounts paid or provided for redundancy and integration remuneration costs (including the cost of the Value 
Creation Share Plan and rolled over First Choice share options (Note 5)), property closures and lease obligations, and professional  
fees relating to the integration project.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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IFRS 3 business combination fair value adjustments in respect of First Choice customer deposits held at 3 September 2007 
reduced deferred income by £13.7m at that date, reducing statutory revenues for the year ended 30 September 2008.  
This amount is included within separately disclosed integration items for the year ended 30 September 2008 in order to  
better present the underlying trading performance of the Group in the current year.

Aircraft
Aircraft costs relate to the restructuring of the aircraft fleet. In the year ended 30 September 2008 costs principally include  
sale and leaseback losses of £101.7m (see Note 10) and write-downs on aircraft held for sale of £23.5m (see Note 10).  
Other items include fuel and related currency option premium costs and ineffectiveness on aircraft order book hedging,  
further details of which are set out in Note 25; adjustments to prior period maintenance provision assumptions; and other  
fleet reorganisation costs.

In the pro forma comparative period, the costs include £13.9m to bring TUI UK’s accounting policy for maintenance provisions 
in line with the Group’s accounting policy. These costs are offset by sale and leaseback credits of £26.5m with remaining costs 
relating to the early termination of an aircraft lease in First Choice Airways. In the 9-month statutory comparative period ended 
30 September 2007, the net credit of £16.8m is the result of sale and leaseback profits of £30.7m offset by the £13.9m charge 
incurred as a result of the change in maintenance provisioning in TUI UK.

Other costs (prior periods)
Other costs relate primarily to the cost of Airline Passenger Duty which was irrecoverable by the Group under the terms of the 
related, retrospective legislative change in 2006.

4. Net financial expenses

 
       9-month 
      Year ended period ended 
       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Financial income
Bank interest receivable      42.5  13.1 
Interest on pension scheme assets      68.2  44.8 
Interest receivable in respect of loans to parent      3.5  34.4 
Other financial income      7.8  7.6 
Total      122.0  99.9 
  
Financial expenses  
Bank interest payable on loans and overdrafts      (45.2) (16.6)
Interest payable in respect of loans from parent      (66.8) (26.8)
Interest on pension scheme liabilities      (71.8) (47.1)
Finance lease charges on leases       (11.7) (5.7)
Unwinding of discount on provisions       (4.0) (2.0)
Other financial expenses      (5.0) (11.1)
Total      (204.5) (109.3)
Net financial expenses      (82.5) (9.4)

Net financial expenses (as above)      (82.5) (9.4)
Non-underlying acquisition-related financial expenses      4.2  – 
Net underlying financial expenses      (78.3) (9.4)

The non-underlying acquisition-related financial expenses relate to the revaluation of a put option written by the Group in respect 
of a minority shareholder of L’TUR Tourismus AG. This option is exercisable until 2012. Further details are given in Note 19.
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5. Employees
 
       9-month 
      Year ended period ended 
       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      Number  Number 

(A) Average number of employees  
By Sector  
Mainstream Sector      35,726  28,445 
Specialist Sector      2,903  1,344 
Activity Sector      4,199  836 
Online Destination Services Sector       6,951  3,267 
Corporate      222  174 
Total      50,001  34,066 

 
       9-month 
      Year ended period ended 
       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

(B) Staff costs 
Wages and salaries      1,262.8  583.9 
Social security costs      216.8  147.9 
Pension costs      54.8  34.3
Share-based payments (Note 5D)      14.2  4.9 
Total      1,548.6  771.0 

Included within wages and salaries are £81.5m (9-month period ended 30 September 2007: £18.0m) of redundancy and 
integration costs. These costs are included within separately disclosed items (Note 3).

(C) Pension costs
The Group operates pension schemes for employees eligible and wishing to participate in the schemes. These comprise both 
defined contribution and defined benefit schemes. Pension obligations vary reflecting the different legal and market conditions 
in each country of operation. Defined contribution schemes are funded by the payment of contributions to private and state-run 
organisations, whilst defined benefit schemes comprise both funded and unfunded schemes. The assets of all the funded defined 
benefit schemes are held separately from the assets of the Group.

Defined contribution schemes for employees and Directors 
Current contributions are recognised as an expense in the period, and once paid the Group has no further liability. Pension costs 
of £24.5m (9-month period ended 30 September 2007: £10.6m) relating to defined contribution schemes were charged to the 
income statement.

Defined benefit pension schemes 
The movement of defined benefit pension obligations and assets is detailed below, summarised as UK, Germany and Other 
territories. Other territories includes funded schemes in Ireland, the Netherlands, Switzerland and Norway, and unfunded 
arrangements in Austria. Almost all UK schemes are funded whilst German schemes are unfunded. Similar obligations comprise 
early retirement, ill health retirement and statutory retirement lump sum provisions.

The principal funded schemes in the UK are shown in the table below. These are closed to new members, with the exception of 
existing employees working towards their entry qualification date:

   Date of last full  Average Group Average employee 
Scheme Name actuarial valuation  contribution rate contribution rate

Britannia Airways Limited Superannuation 
 and Life Assurance Scheme 31 March 2006 40.2% plus £46.3m per annum 8.25%
TUI Pension Scheme (UK) 31 March 2005 11.7% plus £16.4m per annum 5.3%
Air 2000 Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme 1 November 2006 24.5% plus £1.4m per annum 9.7%
Unijet Group Plc Final Salary Scheme 1 November 2006 24.7% plus £1.3m per annum 10.0%

Where there is more than a single class of membership, contribution rates reflect weighted average values within the scheme.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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The principal unfunded schemes in Germany are shown below. These were all subject to a full actuarial valuation within three 
months preceeding the balance sheet date:

Scheme Name Status

Versorgungsordnung’ Hapag-Lloyd Fluggesellschaft mbH Open to new members
Versorgungsordnung’ TUI Deutschland GmbH Closed to new members
Versorgungsordnung’ TUI Leisure Travel GmbH Closed to new members

Valuations of the schemes are made by qualified actuaries using market-based valuations for the assets and the projected unit 
method for the liabilities. The Group recognises all actuarial gains or losses in the consolidated statement of recognised income 
and expense.

The assets of each scheme have been taken at market value and liabilities in each territory have been calculated using the 
following principal assumptions:

 UK3 Germany Other 
 per annum per annum per annum
  2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 
  % % % % % %

Inflation  3.6 3.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Salary inflation  5.12 4.9 2.1-3.51  2.0-2.51 0.0-2.01 0.0-2.01

Discount Rate  6.9 5.6 6.75 5.5 4.14 4.94

1 In Germany the salary inflation assumption is a percentage increment relative to inflation. 
2  5.1% is applicable across all UK Schemes with the exception of the Britannia Airways Limited Superannuation and Life Assurance Scheme which has assumed  

salary inflation of 4.6% plus 0.8% to reflect annual service increments.
3 Pension increases in the UK Schemes reflect the general inflation assumption, subject to minimum and maximum increase limits.
4 The discount rate for Other territories is a weighted average.

The mortality assumptions underlying the value of the accrued liabilities for each territory are set out in the tables below.  
The mortality assumptions are based on relevant standard mortality tables in each country:

      2008 2007 
UK life expectancy       Years  Years

Males
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    22.9  22.0 
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   24.1  23.1 
Females  
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    25.3  24.8 
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   26.3  25.9 

      2008 2007 
Germany life expectancy       Years  Years

Males  
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    18.0  17.9 
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   20.7  20.6 
Females  
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    22.1  22.0 
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   24.7  24.6 

      2008 2007 
Other life expectancy (weighted average)      Years  Years

Males  
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    18.8  17.5 
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   20.0  18.1
Females  
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, on the balance sheet date    21.7  21.3 
Life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring aged 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date   22.4  22.0 



Financial  
Statements

TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 200880

The fair value of assets of the schemes in each territory at 30 September 2008 and 30 September 2007 are set out below. 

 UK Germany Other Total
   2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Equities   427.1  550.3  –  –  38.2  38.2  465.3  588.5 
Bonds   268.1  282.9  –  –  48.8  45.5  316.9  328.4 
Property   14.5  7.8  –  –  0.8  0.1  15.3  7.9 
Other   99.9  50.4  –  –  26.3  19.4  126.2  69.8 
Total   809.6  891.4  –  –  114.1  103.2  923.7  994.6 

The expected rates of return on each category of assets in each territory are as follows:

  UK Germany Other
     2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 
     %  % % %  % % 

Equities     8.2  7.9  N/A  N/A  8.0  8.0 
Government debt     4.7  4.7  N/A  N/A  4.3  4.3 
Corporate bonds     7.3  5.9  N/A N/A  4.3  4.3 
Property     8.2  7.2  N/A N/A  6.7  6.7 
Other     5.0  5.1  N/A N/A  2.5-4.7  2.5-4.7 

The fair value of the schemes’ assets are not intended to be realised in the short-term and may be subject to significant change 
before they are realised. 
 
Changes in the fair value of scheme assets in each territory are as follows:

 UK Germany Other Total
   2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Balance at beginning of year/period  891.4  781.5  –  –  103.2  95.7  994.6  877.2 
Expected return on plan assets   62.5  41.1  –  –  5.7  3.7  68.2  44.8 
Company contributions   67.7  31.1  –  –  2.5  1.4  70.2  32.5 
Member contributions   5.8  4.9  –  –  1.2  0.7  7.0  5.6 
Benefits paid   (39.7) (33.9) –  –  (3.5) (0.7) (43.2) (34.6)
Settlements and curtailments   –  –  –  –  (0.3) (1.6) (0.3) (1.6)
Experience losses   (178.1) (7.0) –  –  (14.7) (1.0) (192.8) (8.0)
Amounts arising from acquisitions   –  73.7  –  –  –  1.7  –  75.4 
Amounts arising from transfers in   –  –  –  –  4.4  –  4.4  – 
Exchange difference   –  –  –  –  15.6  3.3  15.6  3.3 
Balance at end of year/period   809.6  891.4  –  –  114.1  103.2  923.7  994.6 
Actual return on plan assets   (115.6) 34.1  –  –  (9.0) 2.7  (124.6) 36.8 

Employer contributions in the next year are expected to be £87.7m in respect of the UK and £2.6m in respect of Other territory.

The composition of the fair value of plan assets in each territory is as follows:

 UK Germany Other Total
   2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Schemes with surplus of assets   1.4  1.7  –  –  91.2  88.9  92.6  90.6 
Schemes with deficit of assets   808.2  889.7  – –  22.9  14.3  831.1  904.0 
Total   809.6  891.4  –  –  114.1  103.2  923.7  994.6 
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Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations in each territory are as follows:

    Similar 
 UK Germany Other obligations Total
 2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 2008  2007 
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m   £m  £m 

Balance at beginning of year/period 1,144.2  1,125.1  47.9  53.3  85.1  91.7  11.5  10.9  1,288.7  1,281.0 
Current service cost 25.2  19.9  2.1  1.5  2.8  1.6  0.6  0.8  30.7  23.8 
Past service cost –  –  0.1  (0.1) –  –  – –  0.1  (0.1)
Interest cost on obligation 63.9  42.2  2.9  1.9  4.5  2.8  0.5  0.2  71.8  47.1 
Benefits paid (40.1) (33.8) (1.5) (0.8) (3.6) (0.8) (0.4) (0.2) (45.6) (35.6)
Member contributions 5.8  4.9  – –  1.2  0.7  – –  7.0  5.6 
Experience gains (184.2) (94.6) (7.8) (11.1) (3.6) (13.2) (1.9) (0.5) (197.5) (119.4)
Curtailment (0.1) –  – –  (0.3) (1.6) (0.4) –  (0.8) (1.6)
Amounts arising from acquisitions – 80.5  – –  –  1.2  – –  – 81.7 
Amounts arising from transfers in – –  0.4  1.3  2.4  –  – –  2.8  1.3 
Exchange difference –  –  6.1  1.9  13.2  2.7  1.3  0.3  20.6  4.9 
Balance at end of year/period 1,014.7  1,144.2  50.2  47.9  101.7  85.1  11.2  11.5  1,177.8  1,288.7 

Amounts arising from acquisitions in the comparative period relate to the acquisition of First Choice Holidays PLC. 

The amounts recognised in the income statement for the year ended 30 September 2008 and for the 9-month period ended  
30 September 2007 for each territory are as follows:

    Similar 
 UK Germany Other obligations Total
 2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 2008  2007 
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m   £m  £m 

Current service cost 25.2  19.9  2.1 1.5  2.8  1.6  0.6  0.8  30.7  23.8 
Gains on curtailments and settlements (0.1) –  –  –  –  –  (0.4) –  (0.5) – 
Past service cost –  –  0.1  (0.1) –  –  –  –  0.1  (0.1)
Interest on defined benefit pension  
plan obligation 63.9  42.2  2.9  1.9  4.5  2.8  0.5  0.2  71.8  47.1 
Expected return on defined benefit
pension plan (62.5) (41.1) –  –  (5.7) (3.7) –  –  (68.2) (44.8)
Total 26.5  21.0  5.1  3.3  1.6  0.7  0.7  1.0  33.9  26.0 

These amounts are included within the following expense/(income) categories in the consolidated income statement:

    Similar 
 UK Germany Other obligations Total
 2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 2008  2007 
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m   £m  £m 

Cost of sales 15.2  12.5  1.3  1.0  1.5  0.8  0.2  0.8  18.2  15.1 
Administrative expenses 9.9  7.4  0.9  0.4  1.3  0.8  –  –  12.1  8.6 
Financial expenses 63.9  42.2  2.9  1.9  4.5  2.8  0.5  0.2  71.8  47.1 
Financial income (62.5) (41.1) –  –  (5.7) (3.7) –  –  (68.2) (44.8)
Total 26.5  21.0  5.1  3.3  1.6  0.7  0.7  1.0  33.9  26.0 
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The amounts recognised directly in equity for the year ended 30 September 2008 and for the 9-month period ended  
30 September 2007 for each territory are as follows:

    Similar 
 UK Germany Other obligations Total
 2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 2008  2007 
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m   £m  £m 

Cumulative losses/(gains) brought forward 210.1  297.7  (0.3) 10.9  (10.0) 2.5  0.5  1.0  200.3  312.1 
Gains recognised during the year/period (5.8) (87.6) (7.8) (11.1) 11.1  (12.2) (1.9) (0.5) (4.4) (111.4)
Exchange adjustments –  –  (0.1) (0.1) (1.2) (0.3) –  –  (1.3) (0.4)
Cumulative losses/(gains)
carried forward 204.3  210.1  (8.2) (0.3) (0.1) (10.0) (1.4) 0.5  194.6  200.3 

Trend analysis information in respect of the UK, Germany and Other territories is as follows:

UK

   2008  2007  2006  2005  2004  
UK Balance Sheet   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Fair value of scheme assets   809.6  891.4  781.5  697.6  562.1 
Present value of scheme liabilities   (1,014.7) (1,144.2) (1,125.1) (1,181.1) (880.8)
Deficit   (205.1) (252.8) (343.6) (483.5) (318.7)

   2008  2007  2006  2005  2004  
UK Experience adjustments   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Experience loss/(gain) on plan assets   (178.1) (7.0) 10.9  68.5  13.7 
Experience gain/(loss) on plan liabilities   184.2  94.6  107.6  (239.8) (17.3)

Germany

   2008  2007  2006  2005  2004  
Germany Balance Sheet   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Fair value of scheme assets   –  –  –  –  – 
Present value of scheme liabilities   (50.2) (47.9) (52.8) (48.5) (44.5)
Deficit   (50.2) (47.9) (52.8) (48.5) (44.5)

   2008  2007  2006  2005  2004  
Germany Experience adjustments   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Experience gain/(loss) on plan assets   –  –  –  –  – 
Experience gain/(loss) on plan liabilities   7.8 11.1  (0.6) (2.2) (6.6)

Other

   2008  2007  2006  2005  2004  
Other Balance Sheet   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Fair value of scheme assets   114.1  103.2  91.0  76.8  72.8 
Present value of scheme liabilities   (101.7) (85.1) (87.3) (79.9) (75.9)
Surplus/(Deficit)   12.4  18.1  3.7  (3.1) (3.1)

   2008  2007  2006  2005  2004  
Other Experience adjustments   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Experience loss/(gain) on plan assets   (14.7) (1.0) (0.2) 3.4  2.1 
Experience gain/(loss) on plan liabilities   3.6  13.2  10.1  (3.8) (4.5)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Total

   2008  2007  2006  2005  2004  
All Territories’ Balance Sheet   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Fair value of scheme assets   923.7  994.6  872.5  774.4  634.9 
Present value of scheme liabilities   (1,166.6) (1,277.2) (1,265.2) (1,309.5) (1,001.2)
Deficit   (242.9) (282.6) (392.7) (535.1) (366.3)

The present value of scheme liabilities excludes liabilities relating to similar obligations of £11.2m (2007: 11.5m).

   2008  2007  2006  2005  2004  
All Territories’ Experience adjustments   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Experience loss/(gain) on plan assets   (192.8) (8.0) 10.7  71.9  15.8 
Experience gain/(loss) on plan liabilities   195.6  118.9  117.1  (245.8) (28.4)
 
The experience adjustments exclude losses relating to similar obligations of £1.9m (2007: £0.5m).

The movement in the net deficit for pensions and similar obligations is as follows:

    Similar 
 UK Germany Other obligations Total
 2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 2008  2007 
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m   £m  £m 

Balance at beginning of period 252.8  343.6  48.0  53.4  (18.1) (4.0) 10.2  9.6  292.9  402.6 
Provisions made during the period –  –  5.1  3.3  0.8  –  1.2  1.1  7.1  4.4 
Provisions used during the period (41.6) (10.0) (1.5) (0.8) (1.8) (0.8) (1.0) (0.3) (45.9) (11.9)
Amounts arising from acquisitions  
and disposals –  6.8  –  –  –  (0.5) –  –  –  6.3 
Amounts arising from transfers in and out –  –  0.4  1.3  (2.0) –  –  –  (1.6) 1.3 
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss recognised in equity (5.8) (87.6) (7.8) (11.1) 11.1  (12.2) (1.9) (0.5) (4.4) (111.4)
Exchange difference –  –  6.1  1.9  (2.4) (0.6) 1.3  0.3  5.0  1.6 
Balance at end of period 205.4  252.8  50.3  48.0  (12.4) (18.1) 9.8  10.2  253.1  292.9 
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Reconciliation of defined benefit obligations and plan assets to values recognised in the Balance Sheet:

    Similar 
 UK Germany Other Obligations Total
 2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 2008  2007 
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m   £m  £m 

Present value of funded defined  
benefit obligations 1,013.5  1,142.6  –  –  100.1  83.4  –  –  1,113.6  1,226.0 
Fair value of plan assets (809.6) (891.4) –  –  (114.1) (103.2) –  –  (923.7) (994.6)
Present value of unfunded defined  
benefit obligations 1.2  1.6  50.2  47.9  1.6  1.7  11.2  11 .5  64.2  62.7 
Unrecognised past service benefit/(cost) –  –  0.1  0.1  –  –  (1.4) (1.3) (1.3) (1.2)
Asset recognition limited under IAS 19 0.3  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  0.3  – 
Recognised liability for defined 
benefit obligation 205.4  252.8  50.3  48.0  (12.4) (18.1) 9.8  10.2  253.1  292.9 
Analysed as:          
Employee benefit non-current assets –  –  –  –  (16.9) (20.8) –  –  (16.9) (20.8)
Employee benefit current liabilities –  –  2.0  1.9  –  0.8  –  0.2  2.0  2.9 
Employee benefit non-current liabilities 205.4  252.8  48.3  46.1  4.5  1.9  9.8  10.0  268.0  310.8 
Total 205.4  252.8  50.3  48.0  (12.4) (18.1) 9.8  10.2  253.1  292.9

Due to financial market volatility since the year end, the Directors have considered the potential impact on the net pension  
deficit as reported at 30 September 2008. It is anticipated that in respect of the most material UK schemes, the market value  
of assets has fallen due to decreases in equity values. However, it is estimated that this fall will be materially offset by lower 
pension liabilities due to an increase in the effective liability discount rate. The effective liability discount rate increase is due  
to the combined effect of an increase in AA bond yields and a fall in expected future inflation indicated by the gilts market.

An indication of the sensitivity of the fair value of the defined pension deficit to the key financial and demographic assumptions  
is illustrated by the following estimates which are in respect of the Group’s UK obligations. An increase or decrease in the discount 
rate of 0.2 basis points would decrease or increase the UK pension deficit by £36m. The addition of a 1% per annum mortality 
underpin to future improvements would increase the UK pension deficit by an estimated £15m. 

If endorsed by the European Union, IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and 
their Interaction will be applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 and will therefore be applicable for the 
Group in the year ending 30 September 2009. IFRIC 14 may limit the value of net pension surpluses which are recognisable and it 
may require an additional pension liability to be recognised. The Group is currently assessing the impact that this standard would 
have on the presentation of the consolidated balance sheet.
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(D) Share award and option schemes
The Company operates three principal share award schemes which are designed to link remuneration to the future performance 
of the Group. The schemes are the Performance Share Plan (PSP), the Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme (DABS) and the Value 
Creation Synergy Plan (VCSP). All three schemes are described on pages 49 to 59, along with the relevant vesting criteria.

At 30 September 2008 the awards granted and outstanding in respect of ordinary shares, were as follows:

Share award scheme Number of shares  Date first exercisable 

Performance Share Plan 881,283  14 December 2008 
 632,961  14 December 2008 
 79,292  19 June 2009 
 439,255  13 February 2010 
 1,236,180  13 February 2010 
 1,263,821  13 February 2010 
 1,951,561  13 September 2010 
 657,114  19 December 2010 
 2,958,977  19 December 2010 
 136,821  19 May 2011 
  
Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme 597,782 14 December 2008 
 846,090 13 February 2010 
 3,574,672 19 December 2010 
  
Value Creation Synergy Plan – N/A
Total 15,255,809 

The number of share awards/options at the beginning and end of the year/period is as follows:

 Number of  Number of 
 awards/options  awards/options  
 30 September 2008  30 September 2007 

Outstanding at beginning of the year/period 12,863,958  – 
Forfeited during the year/period (699,465) – 
Exercised during the year/period (4,368,347) – 
Rolled over from First Choice Holidays PLC –  8,269,225 
Granted during the year/period 7,459,663  4,594,733 
Outstanding at the end of the year/period 15,255,809  12,863,958 

At the end of the year ended 30 September 2008, no awards/options were immediately exercisable (2007: 4,142,777). 

On 3 September 2007, First Choice Holidays PLC was acquired by TUI Travel PLC. The terms of the First Choice Holidays PLC 
schemes resulted in many awards/options vesting and becoming immediately exercisable on the change of control. Certain share 
awards in First Choice Holidays PLC’s Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme and the First Choice Holidays PLC’s Performance Share 
Plan were rolled forward to become awards in respect of shares in TUI Travel PLC. The income statement charge for these awards 
is based on their fair value as at 3 September 2007 charged over the remaining vesting period. No material awards have been 
made to date under the Group’s HMRC-approved Share Incentive Plan which is an all-employee share plan.
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The fair value of services received in return for share awards granted during the year is measured by reference to the fair value 
of the share awards granted. The fair value at the date of grant of shares awarded during the year has been estimated using a 
binomial methodology for all schemes except where there is a market-based performance condition attached to vesting, in which 
case a Monte Carlo simulation was used. The principal assumptions required by these methodologies were: 

  2008  2007  2006 

Information relating to fair values of share options and awards granted    

Fair value at measurement date  £1.05-£2.42  £1.09-£2.71  £1.35-£2.56 
Share price  £2.51-£2.70  £2.60-£2.86  £2.17-£2.29 
Exercise price  –  –  – 
Expected volatility  30.4%-34.8%  25.7%-28.4%  23.4%-27.8% 
Award/option life  3 years  3 years  3 years 
Expected dividends  3.6%  3.8%  4.0% 
Risk free interest rate  4.52%-4.75%  5.05%-5.35%  4.29%-4.32% 

Participants are not entitled to dividends prior to vesting. Expected volatility is based on historic volatility adjusted for changes  
to future volatility indicated by publicly available information. Share options/awards were granted under a service condition.

Employee expenses for the year
Employee expenses for the current year and prior period relating to share-based schemes are:
 
       9-month 
      Year ended period ended 
       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Share options granted in 2006      1.3  0.1 
Share awards granted in 2007      6.1  0.2 
Share awards granted in 2008      6.1  – 
Expense arising for share appreciation rights      0.7 4.6 
Total      14.2  4.9 

Included in the charge for equity awards made in 2008 is £2.9m relating to the VCSP. The shares this charge corresponds to will 
be awarded after the date of these accounts. 

Of the £14.2m total employee expenses relating to share-based schemes incurred in the year ended 30 September 2008 £8.7m 
(9-month period ended 30 September 2007: £nil) is included within separately disclosed items (Note 3) as relating to specific 
remuneration incurred for post merger integration.

The future estimated expense for share award schemes outstanding at 30 September is:

       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

To be incurred within one year      13.0  8.4 
To be incurred after more than one year      10.8  8.5 
Total      23.8  16.9 

(E) Remuneration of Directors

       9-month 
      Year ended period ended 
       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Emoluments      11.8  0.6 
Pensions and other retirement benefits      1.2  0.1 
Total      13.0  0.7 

In the comparative period, the Directors were only directors of TUI Travel PLC for one month (post business combination);  
the amounts disclosed in this note for the 9-month period therefore represent their remuneration for that 1 month. 

Further information is provided in the Remuneration Report on pages 49 to 59.
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6. Income, expenses and auditors’ remuneration

       9-month 
      Year ended period ended 
       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Included in the income statement for the year/period are the following charges/(credits)   
Operating lease income, aircraft      (5.5) (6.3)
Operating lease rentals, land and buildings      166.9  60.1 
Operating lease rentals, aircraft and other equipment      326.9 181.0 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment      206.4  101.9 
Amortisation of intangible assets      124.5  32.9 
Charge for share-based payments      14.2  4.9 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment      71.4  12.3 
Loss on foreign currency retranslation      25.1  3.4 
Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles      114.1  22.9 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment      31.7  – 

Operating lease rentals, land and buildings, includes £18.8m of costs included in separately disclosed items (Note 3) as  
provisions for onerous leases, primarily related to the integration of the UK Thomson/First Choice retail estate and other 
leasehold obligations. In addition to the operating lease rentals disclosed above, charges of £77.0m (9-month period ended  
30 September 2007: £50.0m) were incurred in respect of hotel accommodation rentals which are disclosed as operating leases 
under IFRIC 4: Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease.

       9-month 
      Year ended period ended 
       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Auditors’ remuneration
Auditors’ remuneration for these financial statements and other Group   
 subsidiary financial statements pursuant to legislation      2.4  1.4 
Other services pursuant to legislation (including regulatory reporting)     0.6  0.1 
Other services (including corporate finance transactions)      0.5  1.8 

Auditors’ remuneration refers to fees paid to the Group’s auditors, KPMG Audit Plc and its associates and does not include fees  
paid to other auditors who audit subsidiaries of the Group. Auditors’ remuneration in the comparative period relates solely to 
subsidiary financial statements.

Other services (including corporate finance transactions) in the 9-month period ended 30 September 2007 includes £1.3m relating 
to the Company’s listing and share issue. These fees are included in the share issue costs debited to equity in the prior period  
(Note 24).
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7. Taxation
The tax (credit)/charge can be summarised as follows: 

       9-month 
      Year ended period ended 
       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

(i) Analysis of (credit)/charge in the year/period  
  
Current tax charge:  
UK corporation tax on profits of the year/period      –  9.7 
Non-UK tax on profits of the year/period      54.1  29.7 
Adjustments in respect of previous periods      0.3  5.6 
      54.4  45.0 
  
Deferred tax (credit)/charge:  
Origination and reversal of timing differences:  
Current year/period UK      (42.8) (0.8)
Current year/period non-UK      (11.9) 31.6 
Adjustments in respect of previous periods      0.2  3.7 
      (54.5) 34.5 
  
Total income tax (credit)/charge in income statement      (0.1) 79.5 

(ii) Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The total tax (credit)/charge for the year is lower (9-month period ended 30 September 2007: higher) than the standard rate of 
corporation tax in the UK of 29% (9-month period ended 30 September 2007: 30%). The differences are explained below:
  
     Year ended 9-month period ended 
      30 September 30 September
    2008  2008  2007  2007  
    £m  %  £m  % 

(Loss)/profit before tax reported in the income statement    (266.6)  152.5  
Less share of profit in joint ventures and associates    (12.0)  (6.9) 
    (278.6)  145.6  

Income tax on (loss) / profit before tax excluding share of profit of joint ventures  
and associates at the standard rate of UK tax of 29% (9-month period ended  
30 September 2007: 30%)    (80.8) 29.0% 43.7  30.0% 
    
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes    39.0  (14.0)% 10.3  7.1% 
Utilisation of tax losses    –  –  (0.8) (0.5)%
Non-utilisation of tax losses    44.3  (15.9)% 1.3  0.9% 
Higher tax rates on overseas earnings    (0.2) 0.1%  18.8  12.9% 
Lower tax rates on overseas earnings    (2.9) 1.0%  (3.1) (2.1)%
Adjustments to taxation in respect of previous periods     0.5  (0.2)% 9.3  6.4% 
Total income tax (credit)/charge in income statement    (0.1) 0.0%  79.5  54.6% 

In the year ended 30 September 2008 expenses not deductible for tax purposes included the tax effect (at 29%) of the £111.7m 
goodwill impairment charge in respect of TUIfly (Note 9). Also in the current year, non-utilisation of tax losses principally arose 
from restructuring and integration costs. 

The underlying effective rate of taxation for the year ended 30 September 2008 is calculated based on underlying profit before 
tax (excluding separately disclosed items, amortisation of IFRS 3 business combination intangibles, goodwill impairment charges 
and financing expenses on income arising on the revaluation of minority put options liabilities) and is calculated as 28%. The 
actual tax rate of 0% differs from the underlying effective tax rate due to actual tax reflecting the non-deductibility for tax 
purposes of goodwill impairment and certain separately disclosed items. This actual tax rate also reflects non-utilisation of tax 
losses arising on certain separately disclosed items due to uncertainty as to the timing of their utilisation. 
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(iii) Deferred tax recognised directly in equity
The following taxation has been recognised directly in equity within the statement of recognised income and expense:

       9-month 
      Year ended period ended 
       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Property, plant and equipment      0.3  0.2
Receivables and other assets      (0.3) – 
Cash flow hedges      58.4  2.4 
Equity-settled transactions      1.2  – 
Defined benefit pension plans      3.0  28.1 
Total      62.6  30.7 

 
8. Dividends
The following dividends relating to ordinary shares have been deducted from equity in the year/period: 

       9-month 
      Year ended period ended 
       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Initial interim dividend paid for 2007 of 5.9p per share (2007: interim 2.5p per share)    65.4  13.2 

The interim dividend in respect of the 6-month period to 31 March 2008 of 2.8p was paid on the 1 October 2008 and this 
dividend of £30.9m will be recognised as a deduction from equity in the year ending 30 September 2009.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Directors have proposed a final dividend of 6.9p per share (2007: initial interim 
dividend of 5.9p per share) payable on 6 April 2009 to the holders of relevant shares on the register at 13 March 2009. The 
final proposed dividend amounts to £76.3m and will, after approval by shareholders, be recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ending 30 September 2009. The final ordinary dividend of 6.9p per share, together with the interim 
dividend of 2.8p per share, makes a total dividend of 9.7p per share relating to the year ended 30 September 2008. The dividend 
for the 9-month period ended 30 September 2007 comprises an interim dividend of 2.5p per share, which taken together with 
the dividend paid prior to the business combination would result in a total dividend for the year ended September 2007 of 8.4p 
per share.

A dividend reinvestment plan is in operation. Those shareholders who have not elected to participate in this plan, and who would 
like to participate with respect to the 2008 final dividend, may do so by contacting Equiniti direct on 0871 384 2030. The last day 
for election for the final proposed dividend is 23 March 2009 and any requests should be made in good time ahead of that date.
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9. Intangible assets

   Customer  Computer   Software in  
 Goodwill  Brands  relationships  software  Licences  development  Other  Total  
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Cost         
At 1 January 2007 2,252.3  1.7  1.7  194.6  31.1  1.3  0.8  2,483.5 
Additions 0.7  2.5  0.2  14.9  0.9  1.5  0.2  20.9 
Acquisition through business combinations 1,680.4  351.9  156.5  66.3  10.0  –  126.5  2,391.6 
Disposals (0.2) –  –  (3.3) –  –  –  (3.5)
Reclassification to assets held for sale (95.5) –  –  –  –  (1.0) –  (96.5)
Effect of movement in exchange rates 45.4  6.3  2.8  (2.9) 1.0  2.1  5.2  59.9 
At 30 September 2007 3,883.1  362.4  161.2  269.6  43.0  3.9  132.7  4,855.9 
        
Additions 1.8  0.4  0.4  33.7  3.0  18.4  –  57.7 
Acquisition through business combinations 81.5  29.9  22.5  –  6.6  –  3.4  143.9 
Disposals (2.6) –  (0.5) (0.8) (1.2) (4.6) –  (9.7)
Effect of movement in exchange rates 230.1  22.3  19.2  6.1  6.1  0.1  1.9  285.8 
At 30 September 2008 4,193.9  415.0  202.8  308.6  57.5  17.8  138.0  5,333.6 
        
Amortisation and impairment losses         
At 1 January 2007 (468.2) (0.3) (0.2) (136.9) (21.2) –  (0.8) (627.6)
Acquisitions through business combinations –  –  –  (24.7) (3.8) –  –  (28.5)
Amortisation for the period –  (1.9) (1.7) (19.9) (1.7) –  (7.7) (32.9)
Impairment loss (22.9) –  –  –  –  –  –  (22.9)
Disposals –  –  –  1.1  0.7  –  –  1.8 
Reclassification to assets held for sale 74.4  –  –  –  –  –  –  74.4 
Effect of movement in exchange rates (3.2) –  –  0.4  (0.7) –  0.2  (3.3)
At 30 September 2007 (419.9) (2.2) (1.9) (180.0) (26.7) –  (8.3) (639.0)
        
Amortisation for the year –  (20.4) (13.8) (37.6) (4.0) –  (48.7) (124.5)
Impairment loss (111.7) –  (0.5) (0.3) (1.6) –  –  (114.1)
Disposals 0.2  –  0.5  –  1.1  –  –  1.8 
Effect of movement in exchange rates (23.0) (0.7) (1.0) –  (3.5) –  (0.9) (29.1)
At 30 September 2008 (554.4) (23.3) (16.7) (217.9) (34.7) –  (57.9) (904.9)
        
Net book value        
At 1 January 2007 1,784.1  1.4  1.5  57.7  9.9  1.3  –  1,855.9 
At 30 September 2007 3,463.2  360.2  159.3  89.6  16.3  3.9  124.4  4,216.9 
At 30 September 2008 3,639.5  391.7  186.1  90.7  22.8  17.8  80.1  4,428.7 

Amortisation of intangible assets is recognised within cost of sales in the income statement.

The goodwill impairment losses incurred in 2008 relate to TUIfly, the Group’s airline in Germany and the impairment  
losses incurred in 2007 relate primarily to the write down to fair value less costs to sell of the Group’s Irish retail business,  
Budget Travel Limited. This was presented as a disposal group held for sale at 30 September 2007 and subsequently sold  
in October 2007. Both impairment charges are disclosed within administrative expenses and shown separately on the face  
of the income statement. 

Amortisation of business combination intangibles totalling £86.9m (9-month period ended 30 September 2007: £10.0m) shown 
on the face of the income statement relates primarily to the amortisation of brands, the order book (shown within other, above) 
and customer relationships. The remaining useful economic lives of these assets is up to 19 years.

Amortisation of business combination intangibles, and depreciation combined with amortisation of other intangible assets  
is disclosed by segment in Note 2. Impairment of intangible assets by segment is also disclosed in Note 2.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued



TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2008 91

 The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each principal cash generating unit (CGU) are as follows:

       30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
CGU Sector     £m  £m 

UK and Ireland  Mainstream Northern Region 1,500.9  1,494.3 
Incoming agencies/Hotelbeds Online Destination Services 435.6  381.2
Germany (integrated tour operations and TUIfly) Mainstream Central Europe Region 352.0  416.3 
Nordics Mainstream Northern Region 242.5  240.9 
LateRooms Online Destination Services 111.5  111.1 
Marmara Mainstream Western Europe 103.2  90.5 
Nouvelles Frontières Mainstream Western Europe 97.2  81.8 
Multiple CGUs  All sectors 796.6  647.1 
Total goodwill  3,639.5  3,463.2 

Once every year or more frequently if events or a change in the economic environment indicate a risk of impairment, the Group 
assesses the recoverable amount of goodwill allocated to its CGUs as required by IAS 36: Impairment of assets. The recoverable 
value of goodwill for all CGUs has been determined based on value in use.

The multiple CGUs not separately listed above do not individually represent more than 3% of total Group goodwill. All CGUs have 
been individually tested for impairment.

IAS 36 requires that impairment tests are carried out on CGUs, following the level at which the Group’s management measures 
returns on operations.

The calculation of recoverable amount uses the following assumptions:

•  Cash flow projections based on the Group’s latest approved five-year business plan.
•  Cash flows beyond the plan period are extrapolated using an inflationary only growth rate of 1%. This growth rate is lower  

than the forecast medium-term GDP growth rates of the key geographic markets in which the Group operates at the time  
the projections are prepared. 

•  Cash flows are discounted using the Group’s weighted average cost of capital, adjusted as appropriate for business specific 
factors of sector risk, business size and geographic risk. 

•  The Group’s weighted average cost of capital has been based on the range of historical values of the Group’s weighted  
average cost of capital to avoid distortion due to short-term volatility in the UK stock market; the Group consider this  
approach is reasonable since the cash flow projections have been sensitised to take account of the estimated impact of the 
global downturn on consumer demand. 

•  Since determination of an appropriate Group weighted average cost of capital was judgemental, sensitivities also addressed 
how increases in the base Group weighted average cost of capital might impact the results of the impairment tests.

•  Central group overheads are borne in full by CGUs and are allocated pro rata to the CGU’s underlying operating profit. 
•  Where draft 2009 budgets indicate lower underlying operating profit than the five-year business plan for any CGU, cash flow 

projections were re-run based on the lower underlying operating profit information to confirm that initial findings remained valid.

The calculation of recoverable amount is sensitive to forecast future earnings and, particularly, the discount rates used:

•  A 20 percent decrease in future planned earnings for both the year ending 30 September 2009 and the year ending  
30 September 2010 would still result in significant headroom positions for all the principal CGUs detailed in the table above.

•  For the principal CGUs detailed in the table above, an increase of 1 – 1.5 percentage points in the discount rates used would 
not change the conclusion that the carrying value of goodwill is supported by its recoverable amount.

The sensitivities disclosed immediately above do not take account of any mitigating action that management would take should 
earnings decrease.

Other key assumptions are in respect of the short and medium-term post-acquisition earnings of acquired operations within 
the Activity, Online Destination Services and Specialist Sectors. The forecast earnings of these newly acquired businesses are 
inherently more judgemental over these timeframes.
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The pre-tax discount rates used for each CGU or group of similar CGUs are as follows:

Sector Cash generating units (CGUs) Pre-tax discount rate used

Mainstream UK and Ireland  8.5%
 Germany 9.5%
 Nordics 10.5%
 Marmara 9.5%
 Nouvelles Frontières 9.5%
 Other CGUs* 10.5%
Specialist & Emerging Markets European Specialist businesses* 11%
 American Specialist businesses* 11%
Activity Marine businesses* 11.5%-12.5%
 Sport, Adventure, Student and Ski businesses*    13%
Online Destination Services Incoming agencies/Hotelbeds      10.75%
 LateRooms       11.5%
 Other CGUs*      11.5% - 12.5%

* multiple individual CGUs

Based on the calculations undertaken, the Directors consider that the recoverable amount of goodwill in each CGU exceeds its 
carrying value.
 
Impairment charges
Impairment charges have arisen as a result of the Group’s restructuring post business combination.

TUIfly
A £111.7m impairment charge in respect of goodwill in Germany has been recorded in the year, relating to TUIfly, the Group’s 
airline in the German source market, part of the Central European Mainstream Sector.

The goodwill impairment arose as a result of the reclassification of TUIfly as a disposal group held for sale during the current 
financial year, as at 30 June 2008. This reclassification was undertaken based on the plan to dispose of the airline into a new joint 
venture undertaking which would continue to provide flying capacity to the German source market tour operator. The goodwill 
impairment charge was calculated based on the fair value less costs to sell of TUIfly under the terms of the planned joint venture 
arrangement, which was on a commercial arms length basis. 

As at 30 September 2008, TUIfly has since been declassified as a disposal group held for sale and reclassified within the Group’s 
ongoing non-current and current assets and liabilities. This is on the basis that a disposal transaction is no longer considered 
sufficiently probable. The impairment charge recorded during the year has not been reversed at 30 September 2008, based on 
management’s ongoing strategic review of TUIfly which may result in future restructuring and associated costs. 

At the year end, an assessment of the value in use of the Group’s German business has also been undertaken, including TUIfly. 
The German business has been assessed as one CGU due to the current integration and shared source market of the German 
tour operator and TUIfly airline. This calculation has been undertaken using the methodology and assumptions disclosed above 
and supports the carrying value of goodwill carried forward at 30 September 2008.

Budget Travel, Ireland
In the 9-month period ended 30 September 2007, an impairment charge of £22.9m was recorded against the carrying value of 
goodwill in the Group’s Irish retail business, Budget Travel Limited, following the reclassification of this business as a disposal 
group held for sale. The impairment charge was calculated based on the fair value of the business, less costs to sell. Subsequent 
to 30 September 2007, in October 2007 the business was disposed for its book value. Budget Travel Limited formed part of the 
Northern Europe Mainstream sector.
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10. Property, plant and equipment

   Yachts     
  Land and  and motor  Aircraft and  Computer  Other  
  buildings   boats  equipment  equipment  equipment  Total  
  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Cost       
At 1 January 2007  190.0  –  878.8  77.7  299.7  1,446.2 
Exchange adjustments  5.3  2.1  28.3  1.8  6.1  43.6 
Acquisitions through business combinations  90.6  160.3  91.4  77.8  59.0  479.1 
Transfer from ultimate parent company  –  –  624.8  –  –  624.8 
Additions  5.9  2.5  25.1  7.1  19.3  59.9 
Disposals  (7.2) (0.3) –  (7.9) (16.0) (31.4)
Transferred to assets held for sale  (8.0) (0.9) (67.0) (1.9) (4.2) (82.0)
At 30 September 2007  276.6  163.7  1,581.4  154.6  363.9  2,540.2 
      
Exchange adjustments  21.5  9.7  106.5  5.3  33.1  176.1 
Acquisitions through business combinations  15.2  –  –  0.8  7.8  23.8 
Additions  31.2  10.0  45.1  15.2  50.7  152.2 
Disposals  (15.7) (8.6) (749.3) (3.8) (28.4) (805.8)
Transferred to assets held for sale  –  (5.1) (102.6) –  (15.9) (123.6)
At 30 September 2008  328.8  169.7  881.1  172.1  411.2  1,962.9 
      
Depreciation and impairment      
At 1 January 2007  (99.5) –  (401.0) (58.0) (187.6) (746.1)
Exchange adjustments  (3.3) –  (5.2) (1.4) (4.0) (13.9)
Acquisitions through business combinations  (38.8) (39.9) (43.5) (54.6) (34.5) (211.3)
Transfer from ultimate parent company  –  –  (211.3) –  –  (211.3)
Provided in the period  (8.1) (0.9) (65.0) (7.4) (20.5) (101.9)
Disposals  7.2  0.3  –  7.6  12.3  27.4 
Transferred to assets held for sale  2.9  –  27.9  1.5  2.1  34.4 
At 30 September 2007  (139.6) (40.5) (698.1) (112.3) (232.2) (1,222.7)
      
Exchange adjustments  (12.0) (2.3) (19.7) (9.8) (13.8) (57.6)
Acquisitions through business combinations  (10.9) –  0.3  (0.5) (2.8) (13.9)
Provided in the year  (16.0) (8.1) (119.1) (17.6) (45.6) (206.4)
Disposals  8.4  3.5  396.3  3.7  20.2  432.1 
Impairments  –  (1.2) (23.5) –  (7.0) (31.7)
Transferred to assets held for sale  –  2.4  48.0  –  13.1  63.5 
At 30 September 2008  (170.1) (46.2) (415.8) (136.5) (268.1) (1,036.7)
      
Net book value      
At 1 January 2007  90.5  –  477.8  19.7  112.1  700.1 
At 30 September 2007  137.0  123.2  883.3  42.3  131.7  1,317.5 
At 30 September 2008  158.7  123.5  465.3  35.6  143.1  926.2 

Impairment charges
Impairment charges in the year ended 30 September 2008 relate to aircraft (£23.5m), yachts and motor boats (£1.2m) and  
other assets (£7.0m). These impairments have been calculated following the reclassification of the related assets as held for sale 
(Note 18). The disposal of owned aircraft forms part of the integration of the aircraft fleet post business combination and the  
sale and leaseback transaction described below. The impairment charges have been calculated based on the fair value of the 
assets less costs to sell. In respect of aircraft, external market values have been used in assessing fair values. Other assets have 
been impaired based on their estimated net disposal proceeds. The impairment charge is disclosed within cost of sales and as  
a separately disclosed item (Note 3). Segmental analysis of the impairment charge is presented in Note 2.

Sale and leaseback transactions
During the year ended 30 September 2008, the Group sold and leased back 24 aircraft on operating leases as part of its aircraft 
fleet strategy. Of these aircraft, 20 were previously owned and held within Plant, Property and Equipment and the sale was 
accounted for as a disposal. The remaining 4 aircraft were purchased, sold and leased back within the year. The loss on sale and 
leasebacks was £101.7m including the recognition of opening maintenance provision (9-month period ended 30 September  
2007: profit of £14.7m) which is included within cost of sales and also within separately disclosed items (Note 3). Future 
commitments in respect of aircraft fleet operating leases are disclosed in Note 27.
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Changes in estimates
During the year ended 30 September 2008, the Group reviewed the residual value of its remaining owned aircraft and the 
estimated useful economic lives of these aircraft. As a result the expected residual values of certain assets have been revised 
downwards. The effect of these changes on depreciation expense, recognised in cost of sales, in the year and in future years  
is an increase in the annual charge of £5.2m.

Other disclosures 
Other property, plant and equipment with a combined net book value as at 30 September 2008 of £143.1m (2007: £131.7m) 
includes £95.3m (2007: £106.2m) of fixtures and fittings and £26.5m (2007: £17.5m) of motor vehicles.

Land and buildings comprise freehold and short leasehold properties with net book values of £98.1m (2007: £75.8m) and  
£60.6m (2007: £61.2m) respectively.

The net book value of assets held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts at 30 September 2008 was £193.2m  
(2007: £198.5m).

The net book value of property, plant and equipment with restrictions on title, being pledged as security for bank loans, 
amounted to £39.0m (2007: £46.3m).
 

11. Investment in joint ventures, associates and other investments
The Group’s equity investment in its joint ventures and associates is recorded in the financial statements as follows: 

     Share of net  Share of net  Total  
     assets of  assets of  share of  
     joint ventures  associates  net assets  
     £m  £m  £m 

Cost   
At 1 October 2007     64.2  11.8  76.0 
Share of profits/(losses) before tax for the year     15.0  (0.2) 14.8 
Share of tax charge     (2.8) –  (2.8)
Increase in investment     9.5  –  9.5 
Dividends paid     (7.6) (1.8) (9.4)
Exchange adjustments     6.4  1.7  8.1 
At 30 September 2008     84.7  11.5  96.2 
   
Goodwill   
At 1 October 2007     12.6  3.9  16.5 
Exchange adjustments     1.1  0.6  1.7 
At 30 September 2008     13.7  4.5  18.2 
   
Net book value   
At 1 October 2007     76.8  15.7  92.5 
At 30 September 2008     98.4  16.0  114.4 

The Group’s share of joint venture and associate profit after tax was £12.0m (9-month period ended 30 September 2007: £6.9m). 
The increase in investment in share of net assets of joint ventures of £9.5m arose from the joint venture parties injecting new capital 
into Atlantica Hellas SA with no change to the proportion of the entity held by any party.
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The principal joint ventures and associates and the proportion held are shown below:

   Country of registration/ 
Name of company Proportion held  Nature of business incorporation 

Joint ventures   
Travco Group Holding SAE 50.0%  Incoming agency Egypt
Sunshine Cruises Limited 50.0%  Cruise operator England and Wales
Le Passage to India Tours and Travel Pvt Ltd 50.0%  Incoming agency India
Atlantica Hellas SA 50.0%  Hotel operator Greece
Atlantica Hotels and Resorts Ltd 50.0%  Hotel operator Cyprus
Associates   
Turismo Asia Company Limited 49.0%  Incoming agency Thailand

As disclosed in Note 34, subsequent to 30 September 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 50% stake in Sunshine Cruises 
Limited for consideration of £29.4m on 4 October 2008 and will consolidate the company from this date.

A summary of the results for the year ended 30 September 2008 and of the assets and liabilities at this date of the Group’s joint 
ventures and associates is shown below:

     Joint ventures  Associates  Total  
100% values     £m  £m  £m 

Revenue     488.0  340.4  828.4 
   
Operating profit     32.3  3.1  35.4 
Net interest (payable)/receivable     (2.3) 0.2  (2.1)
Profit before taxation     30.0  3.3  33.3 
Taxation     (5.6) (2.8) (8.4)
Profit after taxation for the year     24.4  0.5  24.9 
   
Non-current assets     183.4  12.1  195.5 
Current assets     168.4  41.3  209.7 
Non-current liabilities     (151.9) (20.9) (172.8)
Current liabilities     (30.5) (16.4) (46.9)
Net assets     169.4  16.1  185.5 

Other investments
Other investments comprise trade investments and non-consolidated entities.

Trade investments represent the Group’s 14.3% shareholding in The Airline Group Limited, which in turn has a 42% shareholding in 
National Air Traffic Services Limited, and a 10% holding in the Atlantica Leisure Group. No material change in the fair value of these 
investments has been recorded in the year.

Non-consolidated entities are recorded at cost and reflect the Group’s net investment held in 100 subsidiaries which, due to the 
immaterial size of their revenues, result and financial position, have not been consolidated. Balances between these entities and 
consolidated subsidiaries have not been eliminated.

      Non- 
     Trade   consolidated   
     investments  entities  Total  
     £m  £m  £m 

At 1 October 2007     22.9 30.1 53.0 
Foreign exchange movements     – 2.8 2.8 
At 30 September 2008     22.9 32.9 55.8 
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12. Investments
Acquisitions
(a) Acquisitions in the year ended 30 September 2008
Acquisitions were made in the year for a total of £108.6m, including £1.4m of acquisition expenses. These acquisitions gave rise to 
provisional goodwill of £81.5m. The acquired businesses and their acquisition dates were:

Business Description Date Country

Mainstream Sector – Western Europe   
Société Polynésienne Promotion Hotelière (SPPH) Hotel operator July 2008 French Polynesia
   
Specialist & Emerging Markets Sector   
National Events Inc. Tour operator November 2007 USA
Travelmood Limited Long-haul travel June 2008 UK
   
Activity Sector   
CHS Tour Services Limited Tour operator December 2007 UK
Australian Pinnacle Tours Pty Limited Tour operator December 2007 Australia
Active Safari Pty Limited (Planet Perth) Tour operator January 2008 Australia
Gullivers Sport Travel Limited Tour operator February 2008 UK
Your Sporting Challenge Limited Tour operator March 2008 UK
Real Travel Limited Tour operator April 2008 UK
World Challenge Holdings Limited Tour operator April 2008 UK
Sportsworld Holdings Limited Tour operator May 2008 UK
FanFirm Pty Limited Tour operator August 2008 Australia
Events International Limited Tour operator September 2008 UK
   
Online Destination Services Sector   
Cruiselink II Limited Cruise services November 2007 USA
Destination Florida – New England, Inc. Cruise services January 2008 USA
Hotels London Limited Online hotel accommodation September 2008 UK

The Group acquired 100% of the voting equity instruments in respect of each acquisition completed during the year with the 
exception of SPPH, where the Group previously held 50% and acquired all the remaining shares in the year. 

The relative size of the acquisitions made is set out in the table below:

Consideration   Number of acquisitions  Total Consideration  Total Goodwill  
£m   Number  £m  £m 

0 – 5  10  23.3  18.3 
10 – 15  4  49.9  29.4 
>15  2  35.4  33.8 
Total 16  108.6  81.5 
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The total net assets/(liabilities) acquired are set out below:

       Fair value of  
    Book value  Accounting   net assets/ 
    prior to  policy  Fair value  (liabilities)  
    acquisition  adjustments  adjustments  acquired  
Net assets/(liabilities) acquired   Note  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Intangible fixed assets   1  5.4  –  57.0  62.4 
Tangible fixed assets   2  10.5  –  (0.6) 9.9 
Current assets (excluding cash)   3  32.7  (1.0) (0.7) 31.0 
Cash    23.0  –  –  23.0 
Current liabilities (excluding debt)   4  (53.6) (11.2) (0.8) (65.6)
Deferred tax provision   5  –  –  (17.8) (17.8)
Other non-current liabilities (excluding debt)    (0.2) –  –  (0.2)
Interest-bearing liabilities    (15.6) –  –  (15.6)
Total     2.2  (12.2) 37.1  27.1 
     
Total consideration       108.6 
Net assets acquired (as above)       (27.1)
Provisional goodwill arising       81.5 

All acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method, as required by IFRS 3. It should be noted that certain fair 
value adjustments and the value of contingent consideration have necessarily been prepared on a provisional basis due to the 
recent timing of certain acquisitions and the periods over which contingent consideration may become payable. Experience may 
result in revisions to fair values in the subsequent accounting period.

Notes:
Accounting policy and fair value adjustments arise from:
1.   Elimination of goodwill existing in balance sheets at acquisition and inclusion of the fair value of IFRS 3 business combination intangible assets principally 

comprising brands and customer relationships (Note 9).
2. Revaluation of property plant and equipment.
3. Accounting policy alignment for revenue recognition; recognition of provisions against receivables.
4.  Accounting policy alignment for revenue recognition in respect of World Challenge Holdings Limited’s trading subsidiaries, Gullivers Sport Travel Limited  

and Sportsworld Group Limited; recognition of provisions for other liabilities.
5. Recognition of deferred taxation liabilities relating to other adjustments, including intangible assets recognised.

The consideration payable is made up of:

 £m 

Cash 74.3 
Deferred consideration 5.9 
Contingent consideration 24.3 
Loan notes issued 2.7 
 107.2 
Expenses 1.4 
Total consideration 108.6 
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(b) Cash flows arising in respect of acquisitions
Total cash flows relating to acquisitions in the year, including amounts paid in respect of deferred and contingent consideration 
arising on prior period acquisitions are as follows:

      2008  2008  
      Maximum  Paid  
      £m  £m 

Acquisitions in the year      74.3  74.3 
Deferred and contingent consideration arising and loan notes issued     53.6  0.6 
      127.9  74.9 
Acquisition expenses paid in the year      1.4  1.4 
Total consideration      129.3  76.3 
    
Cash acquired with acquisitions       (23.0)
Cash paid relating to purchase of minority interest       19.8 
Cash paid relating to prior period acquisitions and redemption of acquisition loan notes    37.0 
Net cash outflow in the year relating to acquisitions       110.1 

Maximum consideration payable represents the maximum consideration that the Group would be obliged to pay if all contingent 
consideration were to become payable.
 
Movements in deferred and contingent consideration in the year were as follows:

    Deferred  Contingent  Loan   
    consideration  consideration  notes  Total  
    £m  £m  £m  £m 

At 1 October 2007    27.3  21.3  28.3  76.9 
Recognised in the year relating to current year acquisitions    5.9  24.3  2.7  32.9 
Adjustments to amounts recognised in respect of prior period acquisitions  2.6  (0.5) (2.1) – 
Cash paid    (10.2) (5.9) (21.5) (37.6)
Exchange differences    3.0  1.0  1.1  5.1 
At 30 September 2008    28.6  40.2  8.5  77.3 

Further details of deferred and contingent consideration payable in less than one year and after more than one year is given in 
Notes 20 and 22 respectively.

The contingent consideration payable arising in the year is in respect of the acquisitions listed below. It is dependent on the 
results of the businesses over the following periods or the balance of working capital at the acquisition date, and the Directors 
believe the amounts provided reflect the most likely outcome in each case:

 Basis of  Period for  
 calculation calculation Maximum 
 of contingent of contingent contingent 
Acquisition consideration consideration consideration

National Events Inc. Earnings Up to 31 Dec 2010 USD 0.8m
Cruiselink II Limited Earnings Up to 31 Dec 2010 USD 2.5m
Gullivers Sport Travel Limited Earnings Up to 30 Sep 2012 GBP 4.0m
Real Travel Limited Earnings Up to 31 Dec 2009 GBP 12.0m
World Challenge Holdings Limited Earnings Up to 30 Sep 2011 GBP 5.3m
Sportsworld Holdings Limited Earnings Up to 30 Sep 2012 GBP 13.5m
FanFirm Pty Limited Earnings Up to 31 Oct 2011 AUD 18.0m
Total contingent consideration recognised in these accounts   GBP 24.3m
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(c) Acquisitions in the 9-month period ended 30 September 2007
(i) First Choice Holidays PLC
On 3 September 2007, the TUI Travel PLC Group was formed through a business combination of the tourism division of TUI AG 
with First Choice Holidays PLC. For accounting purposes, the tourism division of TUI AG was identified as the acquirer of TUI 
Travel PLC and First Choice Holidays PLC. 

The determination of the assets and liabilities acquired was finalised within 12 months of the acquisition date in 
accordance with IFRS 3. The table below shows the finalised acquisition values. Residual goodwill will not be deductible for 
taxation: 

       Fair value of  
    Book value  Accounting   net assets/ 
    prior to  policy  Fair value  (liabilities)  
    acquisition  adjustments  adjustments  acquired  
   Note  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Intangible fixed assets   1  806.9  –  (152.8) 654.1 
Tangible fixed assets   2  268.0  –  (0.6) 267.4 
Investments    35.2  –  –  35.2 
Current assets (excluding cash)   3  681.5  (4.3) (3.7) 673.5 
Cash    322.4  –  –  322.4 
Trade and other payables   4  (1,226.8) –  11.5  (1,215.3)
Provisions   5  (53.1) –  (19.9) (73.0)
Deferred tax provision   6  (23.1) –  (152.8) (175.9)
Interest-bearing liabilities    (559.9) –  –  (559.9)
Total     251.1  (4.3) (318.3) (71.5)
     
Total consideration       1,556.3 
Increase in fair value of pre-acquisition share-based payment       3.4 
Net liabilities acquired      
 Total net liabilities       71.5 
 Minority interest share of assets       0.9 
Goodwill arising       1,632.1 
 
The consideration for First Choice Holidays PLC was valued as the current market value of the shares acquired on the date of 
purchase, as listed on the London Stock Exchange, together with acquisition costs of £1.8m. 

Accounting policy and fair value adjustments arise from:
1.  Recognition of acquisition-related intangible assets, including brands, customer relationships, order backlogs and other assets.  

Further information is set out in Note 9.
2.  Revision to the carrying value of property, plant and equipment.
3.   Adjustment to deferred income for agent commissions which are recognised as intra-group transactions post acquisition (on departure)  

and lease cost recognition alignment; fair value provision against receivables.
4. Fair value adjustment in respect of deferred income.
5. Fair value adjustment in respect of provisions for contingent and other liabilities.
6. Deferred taxation relating to the above items.

Provisional goodwill recognised at 30 September 2007 in respect of First Choice was £1,590.9m. This value was indicative  
due to the timing of the acquisition on 3 September 2007 and has been finalised during the year ended 30 September 2008.
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(ii) Other acquisitions in the comparative period
In addition to the acquisition of First Choice Holidays PLC, the Group also acquired 7 subsidiaries during the comparative period. 
Total consideration paid was £63.0m and residual goodwill in respect of these acquisitions was £48.3m.

(d) Residual goodwill
A consistent process is undertaken at each acquisition to identify the fair value of separable assets and liabilities acquired, 
including the fair value of intangible assets, being brands, order books, licences, customer relationships and other intangible 
assets. The residual goodwill on acquisition represents the value of assets and earnings that do not form separable assets under 
IFRS 3 but nevertheless are expected to contribute to the future results of the Group.

Residual goodwill in respect of current year acquisitions represents principally:
• Market knowledge of particular geographic areas.
• Knowledge of particular market segments, for example sports travel and volunteer/educational experiences.
• Involvement of existing management and employees and transfer of their knowledge of the operation of the business model.
•  Integration synergies particularly within the Activity Sector. 
•  The ability to sell acquired product through existing channels and existing product through acquired channels, in Activity, ODS 

and Specialist.

In respect of the acquisition of First Choice, residual goodwill of £1,632.1m arose. Management consider that this amount 
principally represents:

•  The present value of ongoing integration synergies specific to the acquirer. The latest forecast of ongoing post integration 
synergies for the combined group is £175m per annum (being the exit rate forecast from the end of the third year post 
business combination). Further details are set out on pages 28 to 29 of the Business and Financial Review. These are  
principally Mainstream Sector cost synergies, with a significant proportion arising in the UK airline and tour operations  
support functions.

•  The engagement of former First Choice management in the combined TUI Travel Group, including Directors and senior 
management.

•  The ability to sell acquired First Choice specialist product through TUI Travel’s controlled distribution network in new markets  
(for example, selling TUI Marine product in Germany).

(e) Income statement
If the businesses that were acquired at various times during the year ended 30 September 2008 had been part of the Group 
since 1 October 2007, Group revenue and loss after tax would have been increased by £93.2m and £12.6m respectively including 
amortisation of business combination intangibles of £6.2m net of tax.

The acquired businesses contributed revenues of £92.2m and profit after tax (including amortisation of business combination 
intangibles) of £1.8m.

(f) Acquisitions post balance sheet date
Subsequent to 30 September 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 50% stake in Sunshine Cruises Limited for consideration of £29.4m 
on 4 October 2008 and will consolidate the company from this date. A further four smaller acquisitions were completed in October and 
November 2008 (Travel Adventures Inc, Teamlink Travel Ltd, Edwin Doran Travel Ltd and Master Yachting GmbH) for total consideration of 
£13.7m. The accounting under IFRS 3 for these recent acquisitions has not yet been finalised.

13. Non-current trade and other receivables

      30 September  30 September 
      2008   2007  
      £m  £m 

Loans and advances to related parties      1.6  9.3 
Other receivables      98.5  114.5 
Prepayments      110.2  108.1 
Total      210.3  231.9 
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14. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

  Assets  Assets  Liabilities  Liabilities  Net  Net  
  30 Sep  30 Sep  30 Sep  30 Sep  30 Sep  30 Sep  
  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 

Intangible assets  3.2  4.5  (190.3) (194.7) (187.1) (190.2)
Finance lease transactions  11.8  6.9  –  –  11.8  6.9 
Property, plant and equipment  10.9  2.7  (13.7) (34.8) (2.8) (32.1)
Receivables and other assets  4.0  0.5  (7.4) (2.7) (3.4) (2.2)
Financial instruments and foreign exchange  27.1  47.6  (50.2) (5.8) (23.1) 41.8 
Inventories  6.1  5.4  –  –  6.1  5.4 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  5.7  4.0  (7.2) (6.6) (1.5) (2.6)
Employee benefits  62.4  63.5  (4.3) (4.5) 58.1  59.0 
Other short-term temporary differences  57.8  61.7  (9.3) (4.2) 48.5  57.5 
Tax value of losses carried forward  63.8  40.5  –  –  63.8  40.5 
Total  252.8  237.3  (282.4) (253.3) (29.6) (16.0)
Set off of deferred tax within the same jurisdiction  (47.6) (69.5) 47.6  69.5  –  – 
Net tax liabilities  205.2  167.8  (234.8) (183.8) (29.6) (16.0)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (reported at the applicable tax rate):

      30 September 30 September 
      2008 2007 
      £m £m

Capital losses      2.5  2.7 
Other losses      142.4  97.4 
Total losses      144.9  100.1 

These assets have not been recognised principally because the Directors are not certain of the timing of any benefits that might 
arise in the future. These losses are not subject to time expiry and are available for utilisation against profits arising in future 
periods in the territories in which they have arisen. There are no other unprovided deferred tax liabilities nor unrecognised 
deferred tax assets.

Movements in temporary differences during the current year:

  Balance at   Recognised/ Recognised/ Foreign  Balance at  
  1 October  Arising on  (charged) in  (charged) in  exchange  30 September  
  2007  acquisition  income  equity  retranslation  2008  
  £m  £m £m  £m  £m  £m 

Intangible assets  (190.2) (17.8) 21.8  –  (0.9) (187.1)
Finance lease transactions  6.9  –  3.4  –  1.5  11.8 
Property, plant and equipment  (32.1) –  32.0  (0.3) (2.4) (2.8)
Receivables and other assets  (2.2) –  (1.1) 0.3  (0.4) (3.4)
Financial instruments and foreign exchange  41.8  –  (4.3) (58.4) (2.2) (23.1)
Inventories  5.4  –  (0.1) –  0.8  6.1 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  (2.6) –  1.4  –  (0.3) (1.5)
Employee benefits  59.0  –  (3.6) (4.2) 6.9  58.1 
Other short-term temporary differences  57.5  – (11.9) –  2.9 48.5 
Tax value of losses carried forward  40.5  –  16.9  –  6.4  63.8 
Total  (16.0) (17.8) 54.5  (62.6) 12.3  (29.6)
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Movements in temporary differences during the prior period are analysed as follows:

  Balance at   Recognised/ Recognised/ Foreign  Balance at  
  1 January  Arising on  (charged) in  (charged) in  exchange  30 September  
  2007  acquisition  Income  equity  retranslation  2007  
  £m  £m £m  £m  £m  £m 

Intangible assets  4.1  (195.2) 0.7  –  0.2  (190.2)
Finance lease transactions  7.3  –  (0.6) –  0.2  6.9 
Property, plant and equipment  (29.1) (8.0) 6.3  (0.2) (1.1) (32.1)
Receivables and other assets  2.7  –  (4.9) –  –  (2.2)
Financial instruments and foreign exchange  35.8  11.9  (4.7) (2.4) 1.2  41.8 
Inventories  3.4  –  1.9  –  0.1  5.4 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  (1.5) –  (1.0) –  (0.1) (2.6)
Employee benefits  89.5  6.3  (11.5) (28.1) 2.8  59.0 
Other short-term temporary differences  35.4  34.0  (13.5) –  1.6  57.5 
Tax value of losses carried forward  45.2  1.3  (7.2) –  1.2  40.5 
Total  192.8  (149.7) (34.5) (30.7) 6.1  (16.0)

Intangible asset temporary differences arise in respect of assets recognised on acquisition, principally in respect of the acquisition 
of First Choice. Property, plant and equipment temporary differences principally relate to tax depreciation in the UK, France 
and Germany. Employee benefits temporary differences arise in respect of defined benefit pension scheme liabilities and future 
deductions available on the vesting of employee awards. Financial instruments and foreign exchange temporary differences arise 
in respect of financial instruments accounted for under IAS 39 and principally reflect the fair value at 30 September 2008 of 
cash flow hedging derivatives that will be settled against future transactions. Other short-term temporary differences relate to 
operating expenses and related accruals and provisions for which a tax deduction has not yet been recognised. 

15. Inventories

      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Marine inventories      16.3  12.8 
Airline spares and operating equipment      19.9  15.3 
Other operating inventories      15.0  11.6 
Total      51.2  39.7 

No inventory amounts are expected to be recovered after more than 12 months.
The write-down of inventories to net realisable value amounted to £0.5m (9-month period ended 30 September 2007: £nil).  
The write-down is included within underlying operating profit in cost of sales.

16. Trade and other receivables

      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Trade debtors      629.6  468.6 
Amounts owed by related parties      133.5  184.1 
Other debtors      340.6  245.4 
Prepayments      549.8  479.8 
Total      1,653.5  1,377.9 

17. Cash and cash equivalents

      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Cash      11.9  298.9 
Short-term liquid assets      396.3  522.3 
Deposits       721.6  1,137.5 
Cash and cash equivalents      1,129.8  1,958.7 

Cash and cash equivalents includes £45.9m (2007: £54.7m) that is not available for immediate use by the Group. This represents 
monies held to meet regulatory requirements. Other investments disclosed on the balance sheet comprise cash balances held on 
a restricted basis by the Group’s captive insurance funds as part of ongoing operations.
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18. Assets classified as held for sale

      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Yachts and motor boats      2.7  0.9 
Land and buildings      1.4  5.1 
Aircraft      125.8  39.1 
Disposal groups – assets      24.1  40.4 
Other      2.8  2.5 
Total assets classified as held for sale      156.8  88.0 
Disposal groups – liabilities      (22.4) (18.8)
Net assets classified as held for sale      134.4  69.2 

The disposal group assets and liabilities held for sale included Société d’Investissement Aérien S.A. (Jet4You) at 30 September 
2008 and Budget Travel Limited at 30 September 2007.

Aircraft held for sale relate to the Northern Europe and Central Europe Mainstream segments. Jet4You is included within the 
Western Europe segment. Budget Travel Limited was included within the Northern Europe segment at 30 September 2007.  
Assets held for sale are expected to be sold within 12 months. As described in Note 34, one aircraft has been sold and leased 
back under an operating lease subsequent to the year end.

In the year ended 30 September 2008 an impairment charge of £31.7m (9-month period ended 30 September 2007: £22.9m) has 
been taken to record these plant, property and equipment assets at the lower of their carrying value and fair value less costs to 
sell. The impairment charge is included within separately disclosed restructuring and aircraft items (Note 3). Further details are 
included in Note 10.

19. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Current liabilities  
Bank loans and overdrafts       31.5  72.1 
Loan notes      2.7  12.0 
Finance leases (and hire purchase contracts)      20.4  34.5 
Other financial liabilities      44.7  33.4
Total      99.3  152.0 

Other financial liabilities comprise the fair value of a put option written by the Group to a minority interest shareholder in L’TUR 
Tourismus AG (L’TUR) that may require the Group to purchase the minority shareholding. At 30 September 2008, the Group 
controlled a 51% shareholding in L’TUR and the put option was exercisable at any point until 2012. Subsequent to the year end it 
has been agreed that the put option will be exercised by the minority shareholder over 19% of his shareholding. The put option 
over the remaining shares has been extended and may be exercised at any time until 2015. Fair value changes in the put option 
liability are included within financial expenses or financial income.

      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Non-current liabilities  
Amounts owed to related parties      840.0  1,400.0 
Bank loans      154.3 480.6 
Loan notes      5.8  16.3 
Finance leases (and hire purchase contracts)      167.0  143.5 
Other financial liabilities      –  3.7 
Total      1,167.1  2,044.1 

The bank loans and loan notes are repayable:

      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Within one year      34.2 84.1 
Between one and five years      155.7 484.4 
After five years      4.4  12.5 
Total      194.3  581.0 
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Certain loans are secured on the underlying assets of the company in whose name the borrowings are made.
At 30 September 2008 and 30 September 2007 the related party loans were all repayable within one to five years.

Finance lease liabilities relate primarily to the leasing of aircraft and boats. Group obligations under finance leases and hire 
purchase contracts are payable as follows:

    Minimum    Minimum  
    lease    lease  
    payments    payments  
    30 September    30 September  
  Principal  Interest  2008  Principal  Interest  2007  
  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

In respect of aircraft, yachts and equipment payable within:      
One year  20.4  9.0  29.4  34.5  8.7  43.2 
One to five years  158.5  14.3  172.8  130.9  19.6  150.5 
After five years  8.5  0.3  8.8  12.6  0.7  13.3 
Total  187.4  23.6  211.0  178.0  29.0  207.0 

20. Current trade and other payables

      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Trade creditors      1,141.9  1,138.5 
Deferred and contingent consideration (Note 12(b))      19.6  15.7 
Other creditors      233.3  79.8 
Amounts owed to related parties      77.4  127.3
Other taxes and social security costs      57.4  74.6 
Accruals and deferred income      1,032.9  865.9 
Client money received in advance      1,494.0  1,252.7 
Preference share capital      –  0.1 
Total      4,056.5  3,554.6 

21. Provisions for liabilities and charges

    Aircraft     
    maintenance  Restructuring  Other  Total  
    £m  £m  £m  £m 

At 1 October 2007    161.9  23.1  144.1  329.1 
Provided in the year    161.2  48.3  90.4  299.9 
Released in the year    (0.6) (2.9) (13.0) (16.5)
Unwinding of discounted amount    4.0  –  –  4.0 
Costs incurred    (131.8) (24.9) (69.0) (225.7)
Exchange movements    9.6  2.2  12.6  24.4 
At 30 September 2008    204.3  45.8  165.1  415.2 
Analysed as:    
Non-current    154.3  1.2  24.8  180.3
Current    50.0 44.6  140.3  234.9
At 30 September 2008    204.3  45.8  165.1  415.2 

Aircraft maintenance
In respect of aircraft, provision is made for maintenance, overhaul and repair costs of operating leased airframes, engines and 
certain other components based on total anticipated costs over the useful economic life of the asset calculated by reference 
to costs experienced and published manufacturers’ data. The charge to the income statement is calculated by reference to the 
number of hours and cycles flown and by reference to the length of the full overhaul cycle. Costs incurred are charged against the 
provision. Neither the timing nor the value of the expenditure can be precisely determined but they can be averaged over time 
and over a fleet.

The cost of major overhauls of owned airframes and engines is capitalised and depreciated over the period until the next 
scheduled major overhaul.
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Restructuring
Restructuring relates to provisions arising as a result of reorganisation and restructuring plans that are irrevocably committed and 
includes severance payments. Further details of restructuring projects in the current year are set out in Note 3. Provisions are 
forecast to be utilised within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Other
Other provisions relate to onerous lease contracts that have been entered into in the ordinary course of business, litigation 
(including provisions for contingent liabilities recorded on acquisition of First Choice) and other future obligations, the amount or 
timing of which is uncertain. The majority of the provision is anticipated to be utilised within 12 months of the balance sheet date, 
although the timing and payments related to individual litigation claims is estimated and is inherently uncertain.

22. Non-current trade and other payables

      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Trade creditors      0.8  – 
Deferred and contingent consideration (Note 12(b))      49.2  32.9 
Other creditors      5.4  26.0 
Amounts owed to related parties      0.1  – 
Accruals and deferred income      92.8  127.2
Total      148.3  186.1 

23. Share capital

      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Authorised  
1,999,500,020 (2007: 1,999,500,020) ordinary shares of 10p each     199.9  199.9 
49,998 (2007: 49,998) redeemable preference shares of £1 each     0.1  0.1 
Total      200.0  200.0 
Allotted, called up and fully paid  
1,118,010,670 (2007: 1,118,010,670) ordinary shares of 10p each     111.8  111.8 
Nil (2007: 49,998) redeemable preference shares of £1 each      –  0.1 
Amounts recorded within creditors falling due in less than one year     –  (0.1)
Total      111.8  111.8 

The Company was incorporated on 29 January 2007 with an initial share capital of 2 ordinary shares of £1 each. These were 
issued to TUI AG and a nominee of First Choice Holidays PLC and fully paid.

On 19 June 2007 the authorised share capital was divided into 50,002 ordinary shares of £1 each and 49,998 redeemable 
preference shares of £1 each. The redeemable preference shares were issued at par to TUI AG and fully paid. 

On 28 June 2007 the authorised share capital was increased to £200m divided into 1,999,500,020 ordinary shares of 10p each 
and 49,998 redeemable preference shares of £1 each. At this time the 2 ordinary shares of £1 each were converted to 20 ordinary 
shares of 10p each.

On 3 September 2007 a total of 547,825,228 ordinary shares of 10p each were allotted to the shareholders of First Choice 
Holidays PLC on a share for share exchange basis, 570,185,422 ordinary shares of 10p each were allotted to TUI AG and  
10 ordinary shares of 10p each were transferred to TUI AG from the First Choice Holidays PLC’s nominee. This resulted in an 
issued and fully paid share capital of 1,118,010,670 ordinary shares of 10p each.

On 18 March 2008 the 49,998 redeemable preference shares of £1 each held by TUI AG were redeemed in full. These were not 
redeemed automatically upon admission to the Official List of the London Stock Exchange (pursuant to right (iv) below) since 
there were insufficient distributable reserves at that time.
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Redeemable preference shares
The following is a summary of the rights and provisions in the Articles relating to the non-voting, non-dividend bearing  
Redeemable Preference Shares which were classified as liabilities within creditors falling due in less than one year on the  
balance sheet at 30 September 2007:

(i)  Income: the holders of the Redeemable Preference Shares shall not be entitled to receive a dividend;
(ii) Capital: on a return of capital £1 per share;
(iii)  Voting: no right to vote at any general meeting of the Company unless (a) the meeting is to consider any resolution  

approving the purchase by the Company of its own shares, a reduction in the capital of, or the winding up of the  
Company, or (b) the meeting is to consider any resolution which abrogates or varies the rights attaching to the  
Redeemable Preference Shares;

(iv)  Redemption: subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the Redeemable Preference Shares shall be redeemed 
automatically upon Admission. 

24. Capital and reserves 

         Equity    
        Retained  holders   
 Share  Share  Capital  Merger  Revaluation  Translation  Hedging  (deficit)/ of  Minority   
 capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  earnings   parent  interest  Total  
 £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

At 1 January 2007 276.3  1,273.6  –  –  –  –  (82.7) (57.7) 1,409.5  6.9  1,416.4 
Total recognised income/(expense)  
for the period –  –  –  –  –  45.0  (0.4)  154.1  198.7  2.7  201.4 
Share-based payment –  –  –  –  –  –  –  0.3  0.3  –  0.3 
Acquisition of own shares –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (12.8) (12.8) –  (12.8)
Issue of preference shares 0.1  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  0.1  –  0.1 
Reclassify preference shares  
to liabilities (0.1) –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (0.1) –  (0.1)
Share issue expenses –  –  –  (23.3) –  –  –  –  (23.3) –  (23.3)
Reclassification to TUI Travel PLC (219.3) (1,273.6) –  993.2  –  –  –  –  (499.7) –  (499.7)
Pre-merger dividends –  –  –  –  –  –  –  23.4  23.4  –  23.4 
Acquisition of First Choice  
Holidays PLC 54.8  –  –  1,520.1  –  –  (23.4) 3.4  1,554.9  0.9  1,555.8 
Acquisition in stages –  –  –  –  0.2  –  –  –  0.2  0.1  0.3 
Dividends –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (13.2) (13.2) (2.0) (15.2)
Acquisition of minority interest –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (14.6) (14.6) (1.2) (15.8)
At 30 September 2007 111.8  –  –  2,490.0  0.2  45.0  (106.5) 82.9  2,623.4  7.4  2,630.8 
Total recognised income/(expense) 
for the year –  –  –  –  –  187.4  133.6  (270.5) 50.5  5.0  55.5 
Share-based payment –  –  –  –  –  –  –  13.5  13.5  –  13.5 
Redemption of shares –  –  0.1  –  –  –  –  (0.1) –  –  – 
Acquisition of own shares –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (7.1) (7.1) –  (7.1)
Dividends –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (65.4) (65.4) (4.5) (69.9)
Acquisition in stages –  –  –  –  – –  –  (7.6) (7.6) –  (7.6)
Acquisition of minority interest –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (16.3) (16.3) (2.5) (18.8)
At 30 September 2008 111.8  –  0.1  2,490.0  0.2 232.4  27.1  (270.6) 2,591.0  5.4  2,596.4 

Merger reserve
The merger reserve arose on the business combination of TUI Travel PLC (TUI Travel), First Choice Holidays PLC (First Choice)  
and the Tourism Division of TUI AG on 3 September 2007. The merger reserve arising from the acquisition of First Choice 
represents the excess of the fair value of the shares issued as consideration for the acquisition over the nominal value of the  
shares issued. The merger reserve arising from the reclassification to TUI Travel represents the difference between the nominal 
value of the share capital and share premium of the combined businesses in the Tourism division of TUI AG and the nominal  
value of the shares issued in TUI Travel. The merger reserve has also been charged with the costs of issuing the shares in  
TUI Travel and with the cash payment comprising a distribution of the difference between the net debt position of TUI Tourism  
at the date of the business combination and the target net debt as set out in the Prospectus dated 29 June 2007. The merger 
reserve is non-distributable.
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Acquisition of minority interest
During the year ended 30 September 2008, the Group acquired the minority interest shareholding in respect of a number of 
group subsidiaries. The principal acquisition was in respect of the minority interest shareholdings in TUI Österreich GmbH and 
TUI Österreich GmbH and Co KG.

Acquisition in stages
Equity adjustments in the year ended 30 September 2008 relating to acquisitions in stages are for the Group’s acquisition of 
the remaining 50% shareholding in Société Polynésienne Promotion Hotelière, a hotel operator within the Western Europe 
Mainstream sector and the remaining 60% shareholding of Jet4You, a Moroccan airline. Both were previously equity accounted 
entities for which a share of net liabilities had not been recognised under IAS 28 and IAS 31.

Acquisition of own shares
During the year the Group purchased own shares for £7.1m (9-month period ended 30 September 2007: £12.8m) which has  
been debited to equity. The number of shares held by the Group’s Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) at 30 September 2008 and at  
30 September 2007 is disclosed in the Remuneration Report on page 59. The associated cash outflow is presented as an 
operating cash flow as the Group anticipates an annual level of own share purchases as part of its employee remuneration policy.

Other reserves
Exchange gains or losses arising on the translation to the Group’s reporting currency are recorded in the translation reserve.  
Gains or losses arising on cash flow hedges are initially recorded in the hedging reserve and are recycled to the income statement 
in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 1. The capital reserve is non-distributable.

25. Financial instruments
(a) Treasury risk overview
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks:

• Market risk (in respect of foreign currency rate risk, fuel price risk and interest rate risk).
• Liquidity risk (in respect of the Group’s ability to meet its liabilities).
• Credit risk (in respect of recovery of amounts owing to the Group). 

The Group’s key financial market risks are in relation to foreign currency rates and jet fuel price. Currency risk results from the 
substantial cross-border element of the Group’s trading, and arises on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currencies of individual Group businesses. The risk is managed by the use of foreign exchange 
forward, swap and option contracts. The Group’s exposure to jet fuel prices results from the aircraft fleet operations and is 
managed using commodity swaps and options.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk that arises principally from the Group’s floating rate aircraft leases, and floating rate 
bank loans and cash balances. Certain finance leases and loans have fixed interest rates.

Credit risk and liquidity risk are considered in Notes 25(d) and 25(f) respectively.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework 
and to ensure that the Group has adequate policies, procedures and controls to successfully manage the financial risks that it 
faces. These form part of the Group’s overall Risk Management Framework.

Incorporated within the framework’s terms of reference are the determination of all treasury policies and the monitoring of 
the effectiveness of those policies. Group Treasury implements the agreed policies on a day-to-day basis. The procedures also 
stipulate the levels of authority applied to dealing and to approving the types of hedging financial instrument used to manage 
these exposures. Transactions are only undertaken to hedge underlying exposures. Financial instruments are not traded, nor are 
speculative positions taken.

The Treasury position of the Group, including liquidity, foreign exchange and fuel hedging exposure, is managed centrally in 
accordance with policies appropriate to cover specific risks faced by each business unit, and is the responsibility of the Group 
Finance Director and Group Treasurer. Group Treasury conducts regular reviews of financial risks with business unit management 
teams. Reports and forecasts are submitted monthly to the Group Management Board and to each PLC Board meeting.

In line with its established policy, the Group has monitored throughout the year its counterparty exposure with individual financial 
institutions. Such counterparty risk can arise by way of cash deposited or derivative instruments traded.
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(b) Currency risk management
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currencies of individual Group businesses (which are principally Sterling, Euro, US Dollar, Canadian Dollar and Swedish 
Kronor). 

The Group publishes its consolidated financial statements in Sterling and as a result, it is also subject to foreign currency exchange 
translation risk in respect of the translation of the results and underlying net assets of its foreign operations into Sterling.

The Group hedges its foreign currency exposures on a seasonal basis, that is, winter season and summer season with each 
season comprising a six-month period. At the start of a season the Group will have hedged substantially all of its foreign currency 
exposure (forecast sales and purchases and related assets and liabilities) for that season, using predominantly forward exchange 
contracts, most with a maturity of less than one year from the reporting date. When necessary, forward contracts are rolled over 
at maturity to match the payment date.

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group ensures that its net exposure 
is kept to an acceptable level principally by using forward contracts in respect of non-Sterling denominated airline maintenance 
provision balances, loan balances and deposits.

The following significant exchange rates to the Group’s Sterling presentation currency (excluding the impact of hedged 
transactions) are illustrative of the rates applied during the current year and prior period:

  Average rate Mid-spot rate
     9-month  
    Year ended  period ended    
    30 September  30 September  30 September  30 September  
£1 GBP equivalent    2008  2007  2008   2007 

US Dollar    1.992  1.981  1.801 2.039 
Euro    1.324  1.475  1.256 1.433 
Canadian Dollar    1.991  2.188  1.885 2.026 
Swedish Kronor    12.374  13.612  12.301 13.173 

(c) Commodity risk 
Fuel commodity risk arises from the Group’s operation of aircraft in Europe.

The Group hedges its fuel commodity exposures on a seasonal basis, being the winter season and summer season with each 
season comprising a six-month period. At the start of a season the Group will have hedged substantially all of its fuel commodity 
exposure for that season, using predominantly forward exchange contracts, most with a maturity of less than one year from the 
reporting date. When necessary, forward contracts are rolled over at maturity to match the payment date.

During the current year, the Group has used option instruments in order to manage short-term volatility in respect of fuel 
hedging, whilst still continuing to apply the Group’s documented hedging policies. The charge for option premiums is included 
within separately disclosed items (within cost of sales) as they relate to 2009 seasonal hedging and arose directly as a result of 
the exceptional level of fuel price volatility during 2008.

Details of fuel forward derivative instruments are set out in Note 25(i). 

(d) Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. 
Credit risk arises from cash balances (including bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents) and derivative financial instruments, 
as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables, financial guarantees and committed transactions. 
Credit risk is managed separately for treasury and operating related credit exposures. 

The Group minimises its financial credit risk through the application of risk management policies approved and monitored 
by the Board. While counterparties are limited to major banks and financial institutions, Group policy ensures that individual 
counterparty limits are adhered to and that there are no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Group monitors the credit 
ratings of its counterparties (where applicable) as part of its ongoing assessment of its credit exposure. Financial instruments are 
only transacted with major financial institutions with strong credit ratings of A1/P1 or better. 

Loans and other receivables exposures are managed locally in the operating units where they arise and credit limits are set as 
deemed appropriate for the customer. There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade and other receivables as the 
Group has a large number of internationally dispersed customers. 
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The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date was:

      Carrying value Carrying value 
      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Loans and receivables (due within one year)
 Trade receivables      629.6  468.6
 Other debtors       474.1 429.5 
Loans and receivables (due after more than one year)
 Other loans and advances      100.1  123.8 
      1,203.8  1,021.9 
    
Cash and cash equivalents      1,129.8  1,958.7 
Derivatives – contracts used for hedging      321.0 44.0
Trade investments      22.9 22.9
Total      2,677.5 3,047.5

Loans and receivables exclude prepaid accommodation and other prepayments which do not meet the definition of a  
financial instrument. The maximum exposure to credit risk for total loans and receivables at the reporting date by geographic 
region was:

      30 September  30 September 
      2008  2007 
      £m  £m

United Kingdom      287.5  301.1 
Germany      183.8  230.0 
France      174.6  83.4 
Other European countries      384.9  350.6 
Rest of World      173.0  56.8 
Total      1,203.8  1,021.9 
 
The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

      30 September  30 September 
      2008  2007 
      £m  £m

Not overdue      1,015.7 942.4 
Overdue 1 – 30 days      115.0  42.4 
Overdue 31 – 90 days      53.6  34.6 
Overdue 91 – 180 days      33.7  20.6 
Overdue more than 180 days      21.5  17.3
      1,239.5  1,057.3 
Provisions for bad and doubtful debts      (35.7) (35.4)
Total      1,203.8  1,021.9 

No material bad debt provision movements or changes have been recorded in the financial year. Based on past experience and 
the post balance sheet period to the date of these financial statements, the Group considers that the impairment allowance 
recorded is adequate. Within the impairment allowance there are no individually material amounts held. Trade receivables not 
overdue and not impaired include amounts due from travel agencies in respect of Mainstream, Specialist, Activity and Online 
Destination Services. Credit exposure to individual passengers booking holidays directly is limited by the Group’s policy that full 
payment is required before the issue of tickets and holiday departure.

Cash, cash equivalents and other interest-bearing deposits principally comprise money market deposits and other short-term 
investments. The investments are with counterparties with a strong credit rating of at least A1/P1 or better. At 30 September 
2008, approximately 48% (30 September 2007: 54%) of the Group’s unrestricted cash and cash equivalents were invested with 
counterparties based in the United Kingdom.

In addition, the Group makes prepayments for hotel accommodation. Whilst such prepayments do not meet the definition of a 
financial asset under IAS 39, such prepayments give rise to a risk similar to credit risk due to the inherent risk of the Group not 
recovering the prepayment through full delivery of the related goods and services. Prepayments from time to time can concentrate 
risk with specific counterparties which are based overseas. The carrying amount of prepayments (which are presented within current 
and non-current assets) forms the maximum credit exposure, before taking into account any security or collateral held by the Group. 
Where appropriate, the Group obtains security collateral over the related accommodation property, to mitigate credit risk. At 30 
September 2008, prepaid accommodation which is recoverable after more than one year was £88.8m (30 September 2007: £89.4m).
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(e) Interest rate risk 
The Group has exposure to interest rate risk arising principally on Sterling, US Dollar, and Euro floating interest rates that are 
attached to the Group’s floating rate aircraft leases, and floating rate bank loans and cash balances.

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss and the Group does not 
designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model.

An analysis of interest-bearing financial instruments (floating and fixed) and applicable interest rates as at 30 September 2008 is 
set out below. The Group’s loans and borrowings are measured at amortised cost with the exception of put option liabilities which 
are carried at fair value:

    Face value Face value 
    and carrying and carrying 
    amount amount 
    30 September 30 September 
  Nominal Year of 2008 2007 
Financial instrument Currency interest rate maturity £m £m

Shareholder loan EUR 5.8% 2011 840.0  1,400.0 
 
Secured bank loans Sterling 5.4% - 9.1% 2010 – 2013 24.0  28.4 
 EUR 5.4% - 6.8% 2009 – 2014 1.4  0.6 
 USD 3.7% 2011 9.1  10.8 
 Australian Dollar N/A N/A –  0.7 
 
Unsecured bank loans Sterling N/A N/A –  441.0 
 USD 3.4% 2012 132.2  50.3 
 EUR 4.6% - 7.0% 2012 – 2018 19.1  20.9 
    185.8  552.7 
 
Finance leases Sterling 6.6% - 7.0% 2008 – 2009 0.1  0.5 
 EUR 4.3% - 7.0% 2008 – 2015 180.6  175.4 
 USD 6.6% 2009 – 2011 4.7  2.1 
 MAD 5.9% - 6.0% 2014 – 2015 2.0  – 
      187.4  178.0 
 
Loan notes Sterling 5.0% - 6.5% 2009 – 2011 2.1  16.8 
 USD 5.0% 2008 – 2010 6.1  11.1 
 CAD 5.0% 2009 – 2010 0.3  0.4 
    8.5  28.3 
 
Put option liabilities EUR 5.0% Current 44.7  37.1 
Total interest-bearing liabilities    1,266.4  2,196.1 
 
Analysed between: 
Fixed rate instruments    208.3  217.6 
Variable rate instruments    1,058.1 1,978.5
Total    1,266.4  2,196.1 

The future commitment under the Group’s floating rate aircraft operating leases at 30 September 2008 was £34.1m  
(30 September 2007: £50.0m).

(f) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach  
is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed circumstances. 

The Group’s liquidity peaks in July and August, during the European summer holiday season, with the liquidity low point being  
in December and January. To manage the liquidity position the Group is able to draw cash advances under its existing bank 
facilities which principally comprise two main sources of long-term debt funding, both of which have a number of years remaining 
before maturity:

• The shareholder loan from TUI AG of €1.0 billion which is fully drawn and matures in January 2011.
• The external bank revolving credit facility of £770m which is £223.9m drawn at 30 September 2008 and matures in August 2012.
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The external bank revolving credit facility is used to manage the seasonality of the Group’s cash flows and liquidity. Cash positions, 
liquidity and available facility headroom are monitored daily by the Group treasury department.

The Board remains satisfied with the Group’s funding and liquidity position. Fixed charges cover and the ratio of net debt to 
EBITDA, which the Board believes to be the most useful measures of cash generation and gearing, as well as being the main 
basis for covenants in our credit facilities, were met at the year end. Fixed charges cover is defined as earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation, amortisation and operating lease rentals charge (EBITDAR) divided by net interest plus operating lease rentals. 
EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.
 
The following are the undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities, including interest payments calculated using 
interest rates in force at each balance sheet date:

  Carrying Contractual Within 1-2 2-5 More than 
  amount cash flows 1 year years years 5 years 
30 September 2008  £m £m £m £m £m £m

Non-derivative financial liabilities        
Shareholder loan  840.0  998.1  52.7  52.7  892.7  – 
Secured bank loans  34.5  42.4  8.1  7.0  15.5  11.8 
Unsecured bank loans  151.3  185.8  7.8  8.8  150.8  18.4 
Finance leases  187.4  210.7  30.3  28.1  143.1  9.2 
Loan notes  8.5  9.0  5.6  3.1  0.3  – 
Other financial liabilities  44.7  44.7  44.7  –  –  – 
Trade and other payables  2,606.6  2,606.6  2,553.8  52.8  –  – 

Derivative financial liabilities        
Contracts used for hedging  227.7  210.8  166.0  37.3  7.5  – 
Total  4,100.7  4,308.1  2,869.0  189.8  1,209.9  39.4 

  Carrying Contractual Within 1-2 2-5 More than 
  amount cash flows 1 year years years 5 years 
30 September 2007  £m £m £m £m £m £m

Non-derivative financial liabilities        
Shareholder loan  1,400.0  1,695.0  78.8  76.6  1,539.6  – 
Secured bank loans  40.5  46.7  9.5  14.0  10.2  13.0 
Unsecured bank loans  512.2  668.3  103.2  33.1  532.0  – 
Finance leases  178.0  207.0  43.2  37.6  112.9  13.3 
Loan notes  28.3  31.3  15.3  3.8  12.2  – 
Other interest-bearing liabilities  37.1  37.1  37.1  –  –  – 
Trade and other payables  2,110.1  2,110.1  2,048.1  58.2  3.8  – 

Derivative financial liabilities        
Contracts used for hedging  162.6  164.8  102.1  20.7  39.6  2.4 
Total  4,468.8  4,960.3  2,437.3  244.0  2,250.3  28.7 

The actual repayment of revolving credit facilities will vary. The timing reflected in the tables is based on the first date that the 
Group can be required to settle the liability.

Trade and other payables exclude customers monies paid on account and deferred income.

As at 30 September 2008 the Group had available undrawn committed borrowing facilities of £546.1m (30 September 2007: 
£249.3m), comprising letters of credit, guarantees and revolving, floating rate credit facilities for cash borrowings. Any non-compliance 
with covenants underlying the Group’s financing arrangements could, if not waived, constitute an event of default with respect to any 
such arrangements. The Group was in full compliance with its financial covenants throughout each of the periods presented.

Undrawn facilities are analysed as follows:
 
      30 September  30 September 
      2008  2007 
      £m  £m

Expiring:  
Within one year      –  – 
In more than one year but less than five years      546.1  249.3 
Total      546.1  249.3 
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(g) Analysis of total financial assets and financial liabilities
The tables below set out the Group’s IAS 39 classification for each of its financial assets and liabilities:

       Total  
   Held for  Available  Loans and  Amortised  carrying  
   trading  for sale  receivables  cost  value  
At 30 September 2008   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Cash and cash equivalents   –  1,129.8  –  –  1,129.8 
Borrowings due within one year   –  –  –  (54.6) (54.6)
Borrowings due after more than one year   –  –  –  (1,167.1) (1,167.1)
Derivative assets   321.0  –  –  –  321.0 
Derivative liabilities   (227.7) –  –  –  (227.7)
Other financial assets   –  22.9  1,203.8  –  1,226.7
Other financial liabilities   –  –  –  (2,651.3) (2,651.3)
Total   93.3  1,152.7  1,203.8  (3,873.0) (1,423.2)

       Total  
   Held for  Available  Loans and  Amortised  carrying  
   trading  for sale  receivables  cost  value  
At 30 September 2007   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Cash and cash equivalents   –  1,958.7  –  –  1,958.7 
Borrowings due within one year   –  –  –  (118.6) (118.6)
Borrowings due after more than one year   – –  –  (2,040.4) (2,040.4)
Derivative assets   44.0  –  –  –  44.0 
Derivative liabilities   (162.6) –  –  –  (162.6)
Other financial assets   –  22.9 1,021.9  –  1,044.8
Other financial liabilities   –  –  –  (2,147.2) (2,147.2)
Total   (118.6) 1,981.6  1,021.9  (4,306.2) (1,421.3)

Other financial assets comprise trade receivables and other debtors which are receivable within and after more than one year. 
Other financial liabilities comprise trade payables and accruals which are payable within and after more than one year.

(h) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet at  
30 September 2008 and at 30 September 2007, are as follows:

 30 September 2008 30 September 2007
    Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
    amount value amount  value 
    £m £m £m  £m 

Cash and cash equivalents    1,129.8  1,129.8  1,958.7  1,958.7 
Borrowings
Shareholder loan    (840.0) (840.0) (1,400.0) (1,400.0)
Bank loans     (185.8) (185.8) (552.7) (552.7)
Loan notes    (8.5) (8.5) (28.3) (28.3)
Finance lease liabilities    (187.4) (178.7) (178.0) (176.6)
Derivative financial instruments    
Interest rate swaps used for hedging – liabilities    –  –  (0.2) (0.2)
Forward exchange contracts used for hedging    
 assets    263.8  263.8  32.0  32.0 
 liabilities    (111.7) (111.7) (161.3) (161.3)
Commodity contracts used for hedging    
 assets    57.2  57.2  12.0  12.0 
 liabilities    (116.0) (116.0) (1.1) (1.1)
Other financial assets
Trade receivables    1,203.8  1,203.8  1,021.9  1,021.9 
Trade investments    22.9 22.9 22.9 22.9
Other financial liabilities    
Other financial liabilities    (44.7) (44.7) (37.1) (37.1)
Trade and other payables    (2,553.8) (2,553.8) (2,048.1) (2,048.1)
Other long-term payables    (52.8) (52.8) (62.0) (62.0)
Total    (1,423.2) (1,414.5) (1,421.3) (1,419.9)

The basis for fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities is set out in Note 1(Y) to the financial statements.
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(i) Derivative instruments
At the balance sheet date the fair value of the Group’s derivative financial assets and liabilities was as follows:

  30 September  30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 
  2008   2008  2008  2007  2007  2007  
  Assets  Liabilities  Total  Assets  Liabilities  Total  
  Fair  Fair  Fair  Fair  Fair  Fair  
  value  value  value  value  value  value  
Cash flow hedges  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Interest rate swaps  –  –  –  –  (0.2) (0.2)
Foreign exchange forwards  229.2  (86.6) 142.6  29.2  (151.4) (122.2)
Foreign exchange options  19.9  (4.0) 15.9  2.1  (3.4) (1.3)
Commodity options  15.2  (16.1) (0.9) 2.5  (1.0) 1.5 
Commodity swaps  42.0  (99.9) (57.9) 9.5  (0.1) 9.4 
  306.3  (206.6) 99.7  43.3  (156.1) (112.8)
Hedges held for trading      
Foreign exchange forwards  14.7  (21.1) (6.4) 0.7  (6.5) (5.8)
Total  321.0  (227.7) 93.3  44.0  (162.6) (118.6)
Analysed as:      
Current  273.5  (177.7) 95.8  37.6  (137.1) (99.5)
Non-current  47.5  (50.0) (2.5) 6.4  (25.5) (19.1)
Total  321.0  (227.7) 93.3  44.0  (162.6) (118.6)

All derivatives are held as cash flow hedges or to offset changes in the value of items recognised in the balance sheet. Speculative 
positions are not undertaken.

The maturity profile of these derivative financial assets and liabilities (analysed by fair value) was as follows:

 Maturity profile
   Less than 1 Between 1 Between 2 Over 5  
   year and 2 years and 5 years years Total 
30 September 2008   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m

Derivative financial assets     
Foreign exchange forwards   207.7  30.0  6.2  –  243.9 
Foreign exchange options   14.0  5.5  0.4  –  19.9 
Commodity options   12.3  2.3  0.6  –  15.2 
Commodity swaps   39.5  2.4  0.1  –  42.0 
   273.5  40.2  7.3  –  321.0 
Derivative financial liabilities    –  
Foreign exchange forwards   (75.2) (16.7) (15.8) –  (107.7)
Foreign exchange options   (2.2) (1.5) (0.3) –  (4.0)
Commodity options   (11.6) (4.4) (0.1) –  (16.1)
Commodity swaps   (88.7) (11.2) - –  (99.9)
   (177.7) (33.8) (16.2) –  (227.7)
Total    95.8  6.4  (8.9) –  93.3 

 Maturity profile
   Less than 1 Between 1 Between 2 Over 5  
   year and 2 years and 5 years years Total 
30 September 2007   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m

Derivative financial assets     
Foreign exchange forwards   28.0  1.9  –  –  29.9 
Foreign exchange options   0.3  0.8  1.0  –  2.1 
Commodity options   –  2.5  –  –  2.5 
Commodity swaps   9.3  0.2  –  –  9.5 
   37.6  5.4  1.0 –  44.0 
Derivative financial liabilities     
Interest rate swaps   (0.2) –  –  –  (0.2)
Foreign exchange forwards   (135.0) (19.9) –  (3.0) (157.9)
Foreign exchange options   (1.8) (0.6) (1.0) –  (3.4)
Commodity options   –  (1.0) –  –  (1.0)
Commodity swaps   (0.1) –  –  –  (0.1)
   (137.1) (21.5) (1.0) (3.0) (162.6)
Total    (99.5) (16.1) –  (3.0) (118.6)
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The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with derivatives (which are principally cash flow hedges) 
are expected to occur:

 Projected cash flows
    Less than 1  Between 1  Between 2  Over 5  
    year  and 2 years  and 5 years  years  
30 September 2008    £m  £m  £m  £m 

Derivative financial assets    
Foreign exchange forwards    193.3  37.2  50.6  – 
Foreign exchange options    3.4  –  –  – 
Commodity options    8.0  –  –  – 
Commodity swaps    42.2  2.1  –  – 
    246.9  39.3  50.6  – 
Derivative financial liabilities    
Foreign exchange forwards    (68.1) (18.7) (7.5) – 
Foreign exchange options    –  –  –  – 
Commodity options    (8.3) (3.2) –  – 
Commodity swaps    (89.6) (15.4) –  – 
    (166.0) (37.3) (7.5) – 
Total    80.9  2.0  43.1  – 

 Projected cash flows
    Less than 1  Between 1  Between 2  Over 5  
    year  and 2 years  and 5 years  years  
30 September 2007    £m  £m  £m  £m 

Derivative financial assets    
Foreign exchange forwards    18.4  2.2  (0.4) – 
Foreign exchange options    (0.7) –  –  – 
Commodity options    4.9  0.8  –  – 
Commodity swaps    19.8  0.3  –  – 
    42.4  3.3  (0.4) – 
Derivative financial liabilities    
Foreign exchange forwards    (96.3) (20.7) (39.6) (2.4)
Foreign exchange options    (3.2) –  –  – 
Commodity options    –  –  –  – 
Commodity swaps    (2.6) –  –  – 
    (102.1) (20.7) (39.6) (2.4)
Total     (59.7) (17.4) (40.0) (2.4)

Ineffectiveness 
Ineffectiveness in respect of cash flow hedges has been recognised in the income statement for the year ended 30 September 
2008. Ineffectiveness in the year to 30 September 2008 comprised £7.4m (9-month period to 30 September 2007: £3.8m) 
relating to fuel hedging and this is included within underlying operating profit. 

Aircraft order book derivatives
In addition, separately disclosed gains of £27.9m have been recorded in the current year income statement resulting from fair 
value movements of derivatives undertaken to hedge the Group’s future aircraft order book. Due to uncertainty over the timing 
of future aircraft deliveries, cash flow hedge accounting to equity has been adopted for the intrinsic value of these derivative 
instruments but the forward or ‘time’ element of changes to the derivatives’ fair values is recognised each period in the income 
statement as separately disclosed items. 

The Directors have included the fair value gains arising in the current year as separately disclosed items (Note 3) because they 
do not form part of the Group’s underlying trading result and because in October 2008 the hedges were unwound and settled 
early in a planned process. This early settlement has arisen because post the business combination forming TUI Travel, the Board 
has determined the Group’s asset ownership strategy is ‘asset right’. In terms of aircraft ownership and financing this means that 
the Group’s preferred solution is to sell and leaseback new aircraft under operating leases at the time of delivery. Consequently, 
payments for new aircraft in US dollars are now planned to be funded by way of proceeds from sale and leaseback transactions 
and future US dollar currency requirements are not required to be forward hedged.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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(j) Amounts recognised directly in equity
The following amounts have been recognised directly in equity during the year/period:

        9-month 
      Year ended  period ended 
      30 September  30 September 
      2008  2007 
      £m  £m

Hedging reserve  
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedge      162.7  (22.5)
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit and loss      37.1  25.8 
      199.8  3.3 
Translation  
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations recorded in the statement of  
 recognised income and expense      180.4  44.4 
Net charge to equity      380.2  47.7 

(k) Capital management
The Board’s policy has been to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and  
to sustain future development of the business. The Group has a roadmap to deliver sustainable long-term value to shareholders 
with a return on invested capital greater than the Group’s weighted average cost of capital. Progress in achieving this objective  
has been made during this year, by improving underlying operating margins by 0.9ppts to 2.9%, increasing return on invested 
capital to 8.4%.

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the levels of debt borrowings undertaken and the advantages and security 
afforded by a sound capital position. An analysis of net debt at the year end is in Note 26.

51.36% of the Group’s share capital is held by TUI AG, please refer to Note 35.

From time to time the Group purchases its own shares on the market; the timing of these purchases depends on market prices. 
Primarily the shares are intended to be used for issuing shares under the Group’s share award programme. Buy and sell decisions 
are made on a specific transaction basis by the Board; the Group does not have a defined share buy-back plan.

Certain subsidiaries have external capital requirements as a result of applicable travel industry regulations in their jurisdictions, 
though none are individually significant to the Group.
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(l) Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis is for illustrative purposes only and should not be considered a projection of likely future events and gains 
or losses.

The sensitivity analysis includes the following assumptions:
•  Change in market interest rates only affect interest income or expense of variable financial instruments.
•  Changes in market interest rates only affect interest income or expense in relation to financial instruments with fixed interest 

rates if these are recognised at fair value.
•  Changes in market interest rates affect the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments and 

all interest rate hedges are expected to be highly effective.
•  Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments and other financial assets or liabilities are estimated by discounting 

the future cash flows to net present values using appropriate market rates prevailing at the period end.
•  All foreign currency and fuel cash flow hedges are expected to be highly effective.

The Group has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the estimated change to the income statement and equity 
of a 1% (100 basis points) difference in market interest rates or a 10% strengthening or weakening in Sterling against all other 
currencies and in fuel prices from the rates applicable at the balance sheet date, with all other variables remaining constant.

Interest rate risk

 30 September 2008 30 September 2007
 Income statement Equity (before tax) Income statement Equity (before tax)
   100bp 100bp  100bp  100bp  100bp 100bp  100bp  100bp  
   increase decrease increase decrease increase decrease increase decrease 
Interest rate instruments   £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Variable rate instruments   (5.1) 5.1 – – 1.5 (1.5) – –
Fixed rate instruments   – – – – – – – –
Interest rate swaps   – – – – – – 0.8 (0.8)
Total   (5.1) 5.1 – – 1.5 (1.5) 0.8 (0.8)

Currency risk
Under these assumptions, with a 10% strengthening or weakening of Sterling against all other currencies, loss before tax would 
have reduced by £23.7m (9-month period ended 30 September 2007: profit reduced by £10.8m) or increased by £28.9m  
(9-month period ended 30 September 2007: profit increased by £13.2m), respectively (principally relating to the translation  
of the income statement of overseas subsidiaries). Equity (before tax) would have decreased by £203.6m (2007: £153.4m) or 
increased by £248.8m (2007: £183.0m), respectively.

Fuel price risk
The sensitivity analysis is based on a 10% increase or decrease in fuel prices and the sensitivity will differ correspondingly if  
the fuel markets are more or less volatile. Under these assumptions, with a 10% increase or decrease in the unit price of fuel, 
profit before tax would neither increase nor decrease materially, because of the fuel price hedging policy. Equity (before tax)  
would increase by £107.6m (2007: £78.4m), or decrease by £142.1m (2007: £55.7m), respectively.

26. Movements in cash and net debt

  30 September  Cash  Non-cash  Foreign  Arising on  30 September  
  2007  movement  movement  exchange  acquisition  2008  
  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,958.7  (950.6) –  121.7  –  1,129.8 
Amounts due to related parties   (1,400.0) 778.8  (23.4) (195.4) –  (840.0)
Bank loans   (552.7) 400.0  –  (17.5) (15.6) (185.8)
Loan notes  (28.3) 21.5  (0.6) (1.1) –  (8.5)
Finance leases  (178.0) 25.6  (10.5) (24.5) –  (187.4)
Other financial liabilities  (37.1) –  (4.2) (3.4) –  (44.7)
Net debt  (237.4) 275.3  (38.7) (120.2) (15.6) (136.6)

Non-cash movements in respect of loan notes arise from the issue of loan notes by the Group as consideration for acquisitions 
made during the year. Cash movements in respect of loan notes are presented in the cash flow statement within cash flows 
arising on acquisition of subsidiaries.
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27. Operating lease commitments
Total Group obligations under non-cancellable operating lease contracts are payable as follows:

    Land  Aircraft,  Land  Aircraft,  
    and  yachts and  and   yachts and  
    buildings  equipment  buildings  equipment  
    30 September  30 September 30 September 30 September 
    2008 2008  2007  2007  
    £m  £m  £m  £m 

Total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring:    
Within one year    152.5  340.8  153.4  282.4 
Between one and five years    414.2  825.5  356.0  671.6 
Later than five years    275.3  165.9  296.6  124.7 
Total    842.0  1,332.2  806.0  1,078.7 

Operating lease commitments in respect of land and buildings principally comprise commitments in respect of the Group’s  
retail estate.

The increase in total aircraft lease commitments year-on-year reflects the sale and operating leaseback of 24 aircraft during the 
current year. In total the Group operates 128 aircraft on operating leases at 30 September 2008 (2007: 121 aircraft). Yachts are 
held on operating leases in TUI Marine as part of the Group’s Sunsail and The Moorings fleets.

28. Capital commitments

      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Contracted but not provided for      60.2  31.1 

In addition to the above items, the Group has contracted to purchase sixty aircraft, initial deliveries of which will start from the 
last quarter of 2008. The Group intends to refinance these aircraft in advance of their delivery dates and therefore does not 
expect to use its own cash resources for their purchase. At list price, the total order value is US$6,611m.

The Group’s joint ventures and associates had no material capital commitments at 30 September 2008 (2007: £nil).

29. Contingent liabilities
The Group is at any time defending a number of actions against it arising in the normal course of business. Provision is made  
for these actions where this is deemed appropriate. No actions which are outstanding at 30 September 2008 are expected to  
have a material effect on these accounts. The Directors consider that adequate provision has been made for all known liabilities.

30. Related party transactions
Apart from with its own subsidiaries which are included in the consolidated financial statements, TUI Travel PLC, in carrying out 
its ordinary business activities, maintained direct and indirect relationships with related parties including consolidated or related 
companies of its ultimate parent company, TUI AG. These companies delivered services to TUI Travel PLC companies.

The Group also undertook transactions with its joint ventures and associated companies. These transactions related primarily to 
incoming agencies and hotel companies used by the Group’s tour operators. The income and expenses arising from transactions 
with associates and joint ventures are included within the appropriate sector revenue or costs as presented in the segmental 
analysis.

All transactions with related parties were executed on an arms length basis and as customary with independent third parties.

Shareholder loan
A shareholder loan was advanced to TUI Travel PLC by TUI AG on 3 September 2007. The loan is repayable in full on 16 January 
2011 and bears interest at EURIBOR plus a margin, currently 1.1% per annum, increasing six-monthly by 0.2% to a maximum of 
2.0% per annum. The Company can make voluntary repayments at any time during the term of the loan subject to a minimum 
repayment of €10.0m and the giving of 30 days’ notice. The drawn balance of the loan at 30 September 2008 was €1,019.0m  
(30 September 2007: €2,000.0m), not including accrued interest payable.
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Hotel Framework Agreement
As part of the relationship arrangements between TUI Travel PLC and TUI AG at the time of the merger, both parties entered  
into the Hotel Framework Agreement, which governs the commercial relationship between TUI AG and TUI Travel PLC in  
respect of the distribution of hotel beds forming part of the hotel portfolio interests retained by TUI AG. Under the Hotel 
Framework Agreement, TUI Deutschland (TUI Travel PLC’s tour operating business) continues to have access to the Robinson 
hotel portfolio and to the distribution of such portfolio’s hotel beds in Europe on the basis of the existing levels of exclusivity  
and seasonal arrangements between TUI Deutschland and Robinson, as practised prior to the merger. In addition, TUI 
Deutschland agrees to provide the same services in relation to the distribution of the beds as it did prior to the merger and  
shall be entitled to use certain Robinson trademarks in connection with these services. The Hotel Framework Agreement  
expires on 31 October 2011, provided that one year prior to such expiry the parties shall discuss in good faith and endeavour  
to agree a replacement agreement.

Trademark Licence Agreement
The Trademark Licence Agreement incorporates trademark licences granted from TUI AG to members of the TUI Tourism Group 
in relation to TUI Tourism’s use of the TUI name and logo and other trademarks from within TUI AG’s portfolio of trademarks 
used in the former TUI Tourism’s business. Licence fees payable under each licence are an annual fee equal to 0.02 percent of  
the average annual gross turnover of the relevant licensee under the relevant trademarks measured over a three year period. 
Total licence fees charged in the year ended 30 September 2008 were £3.2m (9-month period ended 30 September 2007: £2.0m). 
Each licence’s standard terms are for five years with an option for the relevant licensee to extend for a further five years on the 
same terms.

Details of transactions with related parties and balances outstanding at the balance sheet date are set out in the tables below:

 Revenue Expenses
     9-month  9-month 
    Year ended period ended Year ended period ended 
     30 September  30 September  30 September  30 September  
    2008  2007  2008  2007  
Related Party    £m  £m  £m  £m 

Ultimate parent TUI AG    3.6  2.6  78.3  85.4 
Hotel and resort subsidiaries of TUI AG    2.4  1.2  349.2  194.5 
Other subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates of TUI AG    18.5  1.6  31.1  4.7 
Joint ventures and associates of the Group    18.1 2.3  20.8 19.6 
Total    42.6  7.7  479.4  304.2 

 Receivables outstanding Payables outstanding
     30 September  30 September  30 September  30 September  
    2008  2007  2008  2007  
Related Party    £m  £m  £m  £m 

Ultimate parent TUI AG    106.8  169.1  840.0  1,433.0 
Hotel and resort subsidiaries of TUI AG    3.7 5.3  52.6  41.1 
Other subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates of TUI AG    4.9  2.3 12.0  18.0 
Joint ventures and associates of the Group    19.7 16.7 12.9  35.2 
Total    135.1 193.4 917.5  1,527.3 

In accordance with IAS 24, key management functions within the Group and the Executive Board were related parties whose 
remuneration had to be listed separately. The compensation paid in respect of key management personnel (including directors) 
was as follows:

       9-month  
      Year ended  period ended  
      30 September  30 September  
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Short-term employee benefits      18.0  1.5 
Post-retirement benefits      1.8  0.1 
Share-based payments      7.5 0.2 
Total      27.3 1.8 

In the comparative period, the amounts disclosed are for the one month post-merger period. Details of Directors’ Remuneration 
are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 49 to 59. 
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31. Key accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of consolidated financial statements under Adopted IFRSs requires the Group to make estimates and judgements 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported 
amount of revenue and expenses during the year/period. The Group evaluates its estimates and judgements on an on-going basis. 
Such estimates and judgements are based upon historical experience and other factors it believes to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results may differ from estimates.

Management has discussed with the Audit Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting 
policies and estimates and the applications of these policies and estimates. Key estimates and judgements have been made in 
respect of the following areas:

Intangible assets – Goodwill carrying value
A full impairment review has been performed of all goodwill balances held across the Group on a cash generating unit basis. 
The impairment review is performed on a ‘value in use’ basis, which requires estimation of future net operating cash flows, the 
time period over which they will occur, an appropriate discount rate and an appropriate growth rate. Further details, including 
sensitivity analysis, are given in Note 9 and the accounting policy is set out in Note 1(P).

Other asset carrying values
Management perform an assessment at each balance sheet date of all material assets across the Group for signs of impairment. 
Key judgement areas include the carrying values of land and buildings, aircraft, ships, yachts and motorboats, trade receivables, 
and prepaid accommodation. The recovery of these assets is dependent on estimated future cash flows receivable and the 
provision of future services or goods by third parties. Useful economic lives and residual values are subject to regular  
management review.

Business combinations
Judgement and estimation is required in the identification and valuation of separable assets and liabilities on acquisitions. In 
particular, judgement and estimation is required in the identification and valuation of separable intangible assets, being brands, 
orders books and customer databases, and determining appropriate useful economic lives for these assets. Judgement and 
estimation is also required in determining contingent consideration payable in respect of acquisitions. Details of acquisitions are 
set out in Note 12.

Provisions
Judgement and estimation is required in determining aircraft maintenance, restructuring and onerous lease provisions. Details of 
provisions made and the basis on which the provision has been calculated is disclosed in Note 21 and the accounting policy is set 
out in Note 1(T).

Defined benefit pension plans
A qualified independent actuary undertakes the estimation of the present value of the Group’s obligations under defined benefit 
pension schemes using assumptions taken from a range of possible actuarial assumptions. These assumptions may not be borne 
out in practice, especially due to the long timescales involved. In particular, the valuation of scheme assets is based on the fair 
value at the balance sheet date. As these assets are not intended to be sold in the short-term, their value may change significantly 
prior to realisation. In reviewing the work of the qualified independent actuary management were required to exercise judgement 
to satisfy themselves that appropriate weight had been afforded to macroeconomic factors. Details of the actual assumptions 
used, including sensitivity analysis, are set out in Note 5.

Share-based payments
Judgement and estimation is required in determining the fair value of share awards/options when granted. The fair value is 
estimated using valuation techniques which take into account the award/option’s exercise price, its term, the risk-free interest rate 
and the expected volatility of the market price of the Company’s shares. Details of share-based payments and the assumptions 
applied are disclosed in Note 5 and the accounting policy is set out in Note 1(I).

Derivative financial instruments
Judgement is required in the assessment of prospective effectiveness and specifically in the assessment of the probability of 
forecast transactions, both at hedge inception and during the period over which hedge accounting is adopted. The fair value 
of derivative financial instruments can involve judgement. Where appropriate, external valuations from financial institutions are 
undertaken to support the carrying value of such items.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
The classification of non-current assets and disposal groups as ‘held for sale’ requires judgement in determining whether the 
planned disposal is highly probable and able to be realised within 12 months. The measurement of held for sale assets at their fair 
value less costs to sell can also require significant judgement if there is no active market.
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Lease accounting
Judgement is required in the initial classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases and, in respect of finance 
leases, determining the appropriate discount rate implicit in the lease to discount minimum lease payments. In respect of certain 
leases classified as finance leases, it has not been possible to reliably estimate lessors’ residual values and management has been 
required to independently estimate an appropriate discount rate. Judgement is also required in respect of the treatment of gains 
and losses arising on the sale and leaseback of assets (see Note 10). The accounting policy for leases is set out in Notes 1(G) and 
1(H).

Taxation
The Group has, from time to time, contingent tax liabilities arising from trading and corporate transactions in the UK and overseas 
jurisdictions. After taking appropriate external advice, the Group makes provision for these liabilities based on the probable level 
of economic loss that may be incurred and which is reliably measurable. Judgement is also required in the assessment of the 
future recoverability of tax losses and recognition of deferred tax assets. Details of unrecognised tax losses are given in Note 14.

32. Principal operating subsidiaries
Other than stated below, all the principal operating subsidiaries listed are wholly owned. Principal operating subsidiaries are those 
which, in the opinion of the Directors, significantly affected the Group’s results and net assets during the year. The Directors 
consider that those companies not listed are not significant in relation to the Group as a whole. All of the subsidiaries have only 
ordinary share capital except for First Choice Canada Inc., which also has unlimited preference shares all of which are owned by 
the Group. TUI UK Limited is presented within the Mainstream Sector, Northern Region to reflect its principal operations but the 
company also includes certain UK Activity and Specialist businesses at 30 September 2008.

Subsidiary Country Nature of business

Mainstream – Northern Region  
Falcon Leisure Group (Overseas) Limited Eire Tour operator
First Choice Holidays & Flights Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
First Choice Airways Limited United Kingdom Airline
First Choice Holidays Finance Limited United Kingdom Treasury operation
First Choice Retail Limited United Kingdom Travel agent
First Choice Canada Inc Canada Tour operator
Thomson Airways Limited United Kingdom Airline
TUI Nordic Holding AB Sweden Tour operator
TUI UK Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
TUIfly Nordic AB Sweden Airline
  
Mainstream – Central Europe  
Berge und Meer Touristik GmbH Germany Tour operator
Hapag-Lloyd Express GmbH Germany Airline
Hapag-Lloyd Fluggesellschaft mbH Germany Airline
L’TUR Tourismus AG (51%) Germany Tour operator
TUI (Suisse) AG Switzerland Tour operator
TUI Austria Holding GmbH Austria Tour operator
TUI Aviation GmbH Germany Leasing company
TUI Deutschland GmbH Germany Tour operator
TUI Leisure Travel GmbH Germany Travel agent
TUI Österreich GmbH Austria Tour operator
 
Mainstream – Western Europe  
First Choice Nederland B.V. Netherlands Tour operator
Groupe Marmara SAS France Tour operator
Groupe Nouvelles Frontières S.A.S. France Tour operator
JetAir N.V. Belgium Tour operator
TUI Airlines Belgium N.V. Belgium Airline
TUI Airlines Nederland B.V. Netherlands Airline
TUI Travel Belgium N.V. Belgium Tour operator
TUI Nederland N.V. Netherlands Tour operator
Société d’Investissement Aérien S.A. (Jet4You) Morocco Airline

Jet4You is held for sale at 30 September 2008.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued
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Subsidiary Country Nature of business

Specialist & Emerging Markets Sector  
Aventuria SA France Tour operator
Boss Tours Quebec Inc Canada Tour operator
Caradonna Dive Adventures, Inc USA Tour operator
Citalia Holidays Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Country Walkers, Inc USA Tour operator
Educational Tours, Inc USA Tour operator
EEFC, Inc USA Tour operator
Hayes & Jarvis (Travel) Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
I Viaggi del Turchese Srl Italy Tour operator
International Expeditions, Inc USA Tour operator
Les Tours Jumpstreet Tours Inc Canada Tour operator
Meon Travel Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
National Events Inc. USA Tour operator
Royal Vacaciones SL Spain Tour operator
Educatours Limited Canada Tour operator
Starquest Expeditions, Inc USA Tour operator
StudentCity.com, Inc USA Tour operator
TCS Expeditions, Inc USA Tour operator
Tourinter SA France Tour operator
TRAVCOA Corporation USA Tour operator
Travelmood Limited United Kingdom Long-haul Travel
Your Man Tours, Inc USA Tour operator

Activity Sector  
Adventures Worldwide Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Australian Pinnacle Tours Pty Limited Australia Tour operator
Australian Sports Tours Pty Ltd Australia Tour operator
CHS Tour Services Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Clipper Cruise Line, LLC USA Cruise vessel operator
Crown Blue Line Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Events International Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Exodus Travels Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Fanatics Sports & Party Tours Pty Limited Australia Tour operator 
Gullivers Sport Travel Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Hannibal Travel Group A/S Denmark Tour operator
Mariner International Travel, Inc USA Tour operator
MyPlanet International A/S Denmark Tour operator
Peregrine Adventures Pty Ltd Australia Tour operator
Quark Expeditions, Inc USA Tour operator
Real Travel Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Sawadee Amsterdam BV Netherlands Tour operator
Ski Bound Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Sportsworld Group Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Sunsail Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Sunsail Worldwide Sailing Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
The Imaginative Traveller Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
The Moorings Limited British Virgin Islands Tour operator
World Challenge Holdings Limited United Kingdom Tour operator
Yachts International Limited British Virgin Islands Tour operator
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

Subsidiary Country Nature of business

Online Destination Services Sector  
Asiarooms Pte Limited Singapore Online accommodation
Cruiselink II Limited USA Cruise services
Destination Florida – New England, Inc. USA Cruise services
Hotelbeds (Shanghai) Commercial Services Co, Limited People’s Republic of China Destination services
Hotelbeds SLU Spain Online accommodation
Hotelbeds Spain SLU Spain Destination services
Hotelbeds USA, Inc USA Destination services
Hotelopia SL Spain Online accommodation
Hotels London Limited United Kingdom Online accommodation
Late Rooms Limited United Kingdom Late accommodation
Pacific World Limited Hong Kong Destination services
Pacific World Singapore Pte Limited Singapore Destination services
Trina Tours Limited United Kingdom Destination services
TUI España Turismo S.A. Spain Destination services

33. Earnings per share 
The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the result attributable to ordinary shareholders by the applicable weighted 
average number of shares in issue during the year, excluding those held in the employee share ownership trusts. The diluted 
earnings per share is calculated on the result attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by the adjusted weighted average 
number of ordinary shares, which takes account of the outstanding share awards, where their conversion is dilutive. The additional 
earnings per share measures have been given to provide the reader of the accounts with a better understanding of the results.

As the majority of the Group’s share capital was not in issue for eight months of the prior period, the weighted average number of 
shares would not give a meaningful result and hence the number of shares outstanding at 30 September 2007 has been used to 
calculate the prior period earnings per share.

Basic earnings per share

        Pro forma    
   Weighted  (Loss)/  Pro forma  No. of shares  earnings     
  (Loss)/ average no.  earnings  earnings 30 September per share  No. of shares  Earnings 
  earnings  of shares per share  2007  2007  2007  Earnings  30 September per share  
   2008  2008  2008 £m  Millions  Pence  2007  2007  2007  
  £m  Millions  Pence unaudited  unaudited  unaudited  £m Millions  Pence

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (270.7) 1,108.7  (24.4) 6.6  1,109.3  0.6  71.1  1,109.3  6.4 
Amortisation of business  
combination intangibles, and  
impairment of goodwill (net of tax) 173.6   15.6 50.8   4.6  30.0   2.7 
Basic (loss)/earnings per  
share before amortisation of  
business combination intangibles,  
and impairment of goodwill  
(net of tax)  (97.1) 1,108.7  (8.8) 57.4  1,109.3  5.2  101.1  1,109.3  9.1 
Separately disclosed items  
(net of tax)  323.1   29.2  102.0   9.2  25.5   2.3 
Basic underlying earnings 
per share  226.0  1,108.7  20.4  159.4  1,109.3  14.4  126.6  1,109.3  11.4 
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Diluted earnings per share

        Pro forma    
   Weighted  (Loss)/  Pro forma  No. of shares  earnings    
  (Loss)/ average no.  earnings  earnings 30 September per share  No. of shares  Earnings 
  earnings  of shares per share  2007  2007  2007  Earnings  30 September per share  
   2008  2008  2008 £m  Millions  Pence  2007  2007  2007  
  £m  Millions  Pence unaudited  unaudited  unaudited  £m Millions  Pence

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (270.7) 1,108.7  (24.4) 6.6  1,109.3  0.6  71.1  1,109.3  6.4 
Effect of dilutive options   9.3  0.2   8.7  –   8.7  – 
Basic (loss)/earnings per share  
adjusted for dilution  (270.7) 1,118.0  (24.2) 6.6  1,118.0  0.6  71.1  1,118.0  6.4 
Amortisation of business  
combination intangibles, and  
impairment of goodwill (net of tax) 173.6   15.5  50.8   4.5  30.0   2.6 
Diluted (loss)/earnings per  
share before amortisation of  
business combination intangibles,  
and impairment of goodwill  
(net of tax)  (97.1) 1,118.0  (8.7) 57.4  1,118.0  5.1  101.1  1,118.0  9.0 
Separately disclosed items  
(net of tax)  323.1   28.9  102.0   9.2  25.5   2.3 
Diluted underlying earnings 
per share  226.0  1,118.0  20.2  159.4  1,118.0  14.3  126.6  1,118.0  11.3 

In the year ended 30 September 2008 the effect of options is anti-dilutive due to the loss for the year. The anti-dilutive effect  
is not taken into account and basic loss per share and diluted loss per share are both disclosed as (24.4) pence. The effect of 
diluted options in 2008 is included solely to calculate diluted underlying earnings per share.

34. Post balance sheet events
The following events after 30 September 2008 are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements:

• Acquisitions: details of acquisitions since the balance sheet date are set out in Note 12.
• Close out of aircraft order book hedging derivatives: details are provided in Note 25.

In addition, on 23 October 2008 the Group sold and leased back one aircraft under an operating lease for sale proceeds of $42.5m.

35. Ultimate parent company
The ultimate parent company is considered to be TUI AG, a company registered in Berlin and Hanover (Federal Republic of 
Germany). At 30 September 2008 TUI AG is the beneficial owner of 51.36% of the ordinary share capital of the Company on a 
fully diluted basis. 

Prior to the business combination of First Choice Holidays PLC and the Tourism Division of TUI AG, TUI Travel PLC and  
TUI AG entered into a Relationship Agreement that would take effect at the time of the merger. The Relationship Agreement  
will remain in force until either the shares of the Company are no longer admitted to listing on the Official List and to trading  
on the London Stock Exchange, or TUI AG has less than 10% of the rights to vote at general meetings of TUI Travel PLC. This 
agreement determines that the relationship between the parties is an arms length, standard commercial relationship and that  
all transactions are effected on this basis. 

TUI AG prepares consolidated financial statements which include the results of the Company. The accounting reference date  
of TUI AG is 31 December. Copies of the TUI AG financial statements are publicly available and can be obtained from the 
registered office of this company situated at Karl-Wiechert-Allee 4, 30625 Hanover, Federal Republic of Germany.
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      30 September  31 July  
      2008  2007  
    Note  £m  £m 

Fixed assets   
Investment in subsidiary undertakings    D  706.0  – 
Total investments       706.0  – 
   
Current assets    
Derivative financial instruments      3.3  – 
Debtors    E  547.3  – 
Cash at bank and in hand      204.5  0.1 
      755.1  0.1 
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year    F  (69.8) (0.1) 

Net current assets      685.3  – 

Total assets less current liabilities      1,391.3  –
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year    G  (998.0) – 
Net assets      393.3  –
   
Capital and reserves   
Called up share capital    H  111.8  – 
Profit and loss account    I  267.6  – 
Capital reserve    I  0.1  – 
Other reserve    I  13.8 – 
Shareholders’ funds    I  393.3  –

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 November 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

Paul Bowtell
Chief Financial Officer 

Company balance sheet
at 30 September 2008
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A. Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to 
the Company’s financial statements.

Accounting convention
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable UK accounting standards and under the historical 
cost convention. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company will 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

In September 2007 the Company changed its accounting reference date from 31 July to 30 September and therefore draws up 
accounts for the 14-month period ended 30 September 2008. The comparative figures cover the period from incorporation (29 
January 2007) to 31 July 2007.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under Section 230(4) of the Companies Act 1985 from presenting its own 
profit and loss account. The profit after tax included in the financial statements of TUI Travel PLC, determined in accordance with 
the Act, was £376.3m (2007: £nil).

Under Financial Reporting Standard No 1 (revised), the Company is exempt from the requirement to prepare a cash flow 
statement as its cash flows are included within the published consolidated statement of cash flows of TUI Travel PLC.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained within FRS 8 and has not therefore disclosed transactions or 
balances with entities which form part of its Group.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained within FRS 29 and has not provided the required financial 
instruments disclosure on the basis that the Group’s consolidated financial statements include consolidated IFRS 7 disclosures 
which are compliant with the requirements of FRS 29.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to Sterling at the foreign exchange rate 
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at 
the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are 
translated to Sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair values were determined.

Leases
Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised and the outstanding future lease obligations are shown in creditors.  
Operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
Operating lease income is recognised in the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Investments
In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for impairment. Dividends 
received and receivable are credited to the Company’s profit and loss account.

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any differences between cost and redemption value 
being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest rate basis.

Classification of financial instruments issued
Financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following conditions: 
they include no contractual obligation upon the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange financial 
assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Company and; where 
the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that includes no 
obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the 
Company exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.
 

Notes to the Company’s financial statements
for the 14-month period ended 30 September 2008
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Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately 
in the income statement. However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss 
depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

Share-based payment
The Company operates share-based payment schemes for the employees of its subsidiaries. The fair value of options granted 
to employees of the Company is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. However, as the 
Company has no employees, there is no recognition of an employee expense nor the corresponding increase in equity. Rather 
the Company grants awards of its own shares to the employees of its subsidiaries and as such the Company recognises an 
increase in the cost of investment in its subsidiaries equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge recognised in its 
subsidiaries’ financial statements with the corresponding credit being recognised directly in equity. The fair value is measured at 
grant date and is spread over the period during which the employee becomes unconditionally entitled to the awards. Calculating 
the fair value takes into account various factors including the expected volatility of the shares, the dividend yield and the risk free 
interest rate. Further information on the share schemes is provided in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The increase in investments and credit to equity for the 14-month period ended 30 September 2008 is £13.8m, comprising  
£0.3m relating to the period ended 30 September 2007 and £13.5m relating the year ended 30 September 2008.

Transactions of the Group-sponsored Employee Benefit Trust are included in the Company’s financial statements. In particular, the 
trust’s purchases and sales of shares in the Company are debited and credited directly to equity.

Taxation
The charge for taxation is based on the profit or loss for the period and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing 
differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes.

Except as otherwise required by accounting standards, full provision without discounting is made for all timing differences, which 
have arisen but not reversed at the balance sheet date. Timing differences arise when items of income and expenditure are 
included in tax computations in periods different from their inclusion in the financial statements.

Dividend on shares presented within shareholders’ funds
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability and deducted from equity in the Group’s financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are appropriately authorised and approved for payment and are no longer at the 
discretion of the Company. Unpaid dividends that do not meet these criteria are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Auditors’ Remuneration
The Company’s 2008 audit fee was £25,000 (2007: £1,000).

B. Directors’ remuneration and employees
Details of Directors’ remuneration, gains made by them on vesting of share awards, amounts receivable by them under long-term 
incentive schemes and pension entitlements in the current period and prior period are contained in the audited section of the 
Remuneration Report on pages 54 to 59 and in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company had no employees 
(2007: nil). Details of all share awards issued by the Company are given in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

C. Dividends
Details of dividends paid and proposed by the Company in the current period and prior period and details of dividends proposed 
subsequent to the balance sheet date are given in Note 8 of the consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the Company’s financial statements
for the 14-month period ended 30 September 2008
continued
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D. Investments

       Shares in  
       Subsidiaries  
       £m 

Cost   
At 1 August 2007       – 
Acquisitions       988.4 
Additions       13.8 
Disposals       (296.2)
At 30 September 2008       706.0 
   
Provision for diminution in value   
At 1 August 2007 and at 30 September 2008       – 
   
Net book value   
At 30 September 2008       706.0 
At 31 July 2007       – 

Additions represent share-based payment liabilities incurred. The costs of the share-based schemes, which are operated  
for employees of the Company’s subsidiaries, are borne by the subsidiaries, subject to local accounting standards. The Company 
recognises an increase in the investment in the subsidiary and a credit to retained earnings, in accordance with FRS 20:  
Share-based Payment.

Details of the principal operating subsidiaries held directly and indirectly by the Company and of companies acquired in the 
period ended 30 September 2008 can be found in Notes 32 and 12 of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. Acquisitions 
include £296.2m in respect of new shares in TUI Travel Holdings Limited, a new intermediary group holding company.

During the year the Company disposed of its 100% shareholdings in various subsidiary companies to another subsidiary,  
TUI Travel Holdings Limited, by way of a share-for-share exchange. There has been no change in the underlying interests  
held by the Company following this Group reorganisation, no gain or loss has been recorded and the cost of the new shares  
in TUI Travel Holdings Limited has been recorded at the same value as the investments in the companies disposed of.

E. Debtors

      30 September  31 July 
      2008  2007 
      £m  £m 

Amounts owed by group undertakings      546.5  – 
Other debtors      0.8  – 
Total      547.3   – 

F. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

      30 September  31 July 
      2008  2007 
      £m  £m 

Preference share capital      –  0.1 
Loan notes      1.8  – 
Amounts owed to group undertakings      60.5  – 
Deferred and contingent consideration      4.4  –
Other creditors      0.2  – 
Accruals and deferred income      2.9  – 
Total      69.8  0.1 

As described more fully in Note H, the preference shares were redeemed on 18 March 2008.
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G. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

      30 September  31 July 
      2008  2007 
      £m  £m 

Loan notes      0.3  – 
Bank loans and overdrafts      132.2  – 
Amounts owed to group undertakings      3.2  –
Amounts owed to ultimate parent      840.0 – 
Deferred and contingent consideration      22.3  – 
Total      998.0  – 

Amounts owed to Group undertakings at 30 September 2008 comprise a shareholder loan from the ultimate parent, TUI AG.  
The shareholder loan was advanced to TUI Travel PLC by TUI AG on 3 September 2007. The loan is repayable in full on  
16 January 2011 and bears interest at EURIBOR plus a margin, currently 1.1% per annum, increasing six-monthly by 0.2% to a 
maximum of 2.0% per annum. The Company can make voluntary repayments at any time during the term of the loan subject to 
a minimum repayment of €10.0m and the giving of 30 days’ notice. The drawn balance of the loan at 30 September 2008 was 
€1,019.0m (30 September 2007: €2,000.0m), not including accrued interest payable. 

Loan notes repayable after more than one year are due within 1 to 2 years. Bank loans and overdrafts comprise bank loans 
repayable within 2 to 5 years.

H. Share capital

      30 September  31 July 
      2008  2007 
      £m  £m 

Authorised share capital  
1,999,500,020 (2007: 1,999,500,020) ordinary shares of 10p each     199.9  199.9 
49,998 (2007: 49,998) redeemable preference shares of £1 each     0.1  0.1 
Total      200.0  200.0 
 
Allotted, called up and fully paid share capital  
1,118,010,670 (2007: 1,118,010,670) ordinary shares of 10p each     111.8  – 
Nil (2007: 49,998) redeemable preference shares of £1 each      –  0.1 
Amounts recorded within creditors falling due in less than one year     –  (0.1)
Total      111.8  – 

The Company was incorporated on 29 January 2007 with an initial share capital of 2 ordinary shares of £1 each. These were 
issued to TUI AG and a nominee of First Choice Holidays PLC and fully paid.

On 19 June 2007 the authorised share capital was divided into 50,002 ordinary shares of £1 each and 49,998 redeemable 
preference shares of £1 each. The redeemable preference shares were issued at par to TUI AG and fully paid. 

On 28 June 2007 the authorised share capital was increased to £200m divided into 1,999,500,020 ordinary shares of 10p each 
and 49,998 redeemable preference shares of £1 each. At this time the 2 ordinary shares of £1 each were converted to 20 ordinary 
shares of 10p each.

On 3 September 2007 a total of 547,825,228 ordinary shares of 10p each were allotted to the shareholders of First Choice 
Holidays PLC on a share for share exchange basis, 570,185,422 ordinary shares of 10p each were allotted to TUI AG and  
10 ordinary shares of 10p each were transferred to TUI AG from the First Choice Holiday’s nominee. This resulted in an issued  
and fully paid share capital of 1,118,010,670 ordinary shares of 10p each.

On 18 March 2008 the 49,998 redeemable preference shares of £1 each held by TUI AG were redeemed in full. These were not 
redeemed automatically upon admission to the Official List of the London Stock Exchange (pursuant to right (iv) below) since 
there were insufficient distributable reserves at that time.

Notes to the Company’s financial statements
for the 14-month period ended 30 September 2008
continued
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Redeemable preference shares
The following is a summary of the rights and provisions in the Articles relating to the non-voting, non-dividend bearing 
Redeemable Preference Shares which were classified as liabilities within creditors falling due in less than one year on the balance 
sheet at 31 July 2007:
(i)  Income: the holders of the Redeemable Preference Shares shall not be entitled to receive a dividend;
(ii) Capital: on a return of capital £1 per share;
(iii)  Voting: no right to vote at any general meeting of the Company unless (a) the meeting is to consider any resolution 

approving the purchase by the Company of its own shares, a reduction in the capital of, or the winding up of the  
Company, or (b) the meeting is to consider any resolution which abrogates or varies the rights attaching to the  
Redeemable Preference Shares;

(iv)  Redemption: subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the Redeemable Preference Shares shall be redeemed 
automatically upon Admission. 

I. Capital and reserves 

   Share  Profit 
   capital   and loss  Capital  Other 
   account  account  reserve  reserve Total  
   £m  £m  £m  £m £m 

Profit for the period   –  376.3  –  – 376.3 
Issue of shares   111.8  –  –  – 111.8 
Share issue costs   –  (23.3) –  – (23.3)
Share-based payment costs   –  –  –  13.8 13.8 
Shares acquired to satisfy share-based payment schemes   –  (19.9) –  – (19.9)
Dividends paid   –  (65.4) –  – (65.4)
Redemption of preference share capital   –  (0.1) 0.1  – – 
At 30 September 2008   111.8  267.6 0.1  13.8 393.3 

At 30 September 2008 shareholders’ funds are all due to equity shareholders. The capital reserve and other reserve are not 
distributable.
 
J. Operating lease commitments
The Company’s obligations under operating lease contracts are as follows:

      Aircraft  Aircraft  
      30 September  31 July 
      2008  2007  
      £m  £m 

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring:    
Within one year       –  – 
Within two to five years       –  – 
After five years       7.0  – 
Total       7.0  – 

All operating lease commitments relate to aircraft. Aircraft leased by the Company are sub-leased to subsidiary undertakings on 
similar terms.

K. Contingent liabilities
Under the terms of guarantees given to the Civil Aviation Authority and other relevant authorities by the Company in respect 
of certain subsidiaries, in the event of default the Company could be held liable to the extent of the subsidiaries’ net trading 
liabilities at the time of default.

The Company, and its subsidiaries, is at any time defending a number of actions against it arising in the normal course of 
business. Provision is made for these actions where this is deemed appropriate.

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within its group, 
the Company considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such. In this respect, the Company treats 
the guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the Company will be required to make 
a payment under the guarantee.

L. Post balance sheet events
Details of post balance sheet events relevant to the Company and its Group are given in Note 34 to the consolidated  
financial statements.
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Shareholder discount

Eligible shareholders are entitled to the following discounts (which are subject to change) when booking holidays through our 
dedicated Shareholder Discount Line.

Company Discount

First Choice*   Best price on the www.firstchoice.co.uk website plus a further discount of £20 per adult (or £40 per booking) 
for cruise, short and mid-haul destinations or £40 per adult (or £80 per booking) for long-haul.

Thomson*   Best price on the www.thomson.co.uk website plus a further discount of £20 per adult (or £40 per booking) 
for cruise, short and mid-haul destinations or £40 per adult (or £80 per booking) for long-haul.

Thomson Airways   Best price on the www.thomson.co.uk website plus a further discount of £10 per person for a return journey 
for short and mid-haul destinations or £20 per person for a return journey for long-haul destinations

Thomson  Best price on the www.thomsonworldwide.com website plus a further discount of £20 per adult
Worldwide*  or £40 per booking (short/medium-haul) or £40 per person or £80 per booking (long-haul).

Citalia*   Best price on the www.citalia.com website plus a further discount of £20 per adult or £40 per booking  
(short/medium-haul) or £40 per person or £80 per person (long-haul).

Hayes & Jarvis*   Best price on the www.hayesandjarvis.co.uk website plus a further discount of £20 per adult or £40 per 
booking (short/medium-haul) or £40 per person or £80 per booking (long-haul).

Jetsave*   Best price on the www.jetsave.co.uk website plus a further discount of £20 per adult or £40 per booking 
(short/medium-haul) or £40 per person or £80 per booking (long-haul).

Meon Villas*   Best price on the www.meonvillas.com website plus a further discount of £20 per adult or £40 per booking 
(short/medium-haul) or £40 per person or £80 per booking (long-haul).

Sovereign*   Best price on the www.sovereign.com website plus a further discount of £20 per adult or £40 per booking 
(short/medium-haul) or £40 per person or £80 per booking (long-haul).

Hotelopia Best price on all hotels on the www.hotelopia.co.uk website plus an additional 13% discount.

*  Discounts are not valid on accommodation-only bookings and cannot be used in conjunction with any discretionary discounts, group savings or other  
promotional offers.

In order to qualify for the scheme, private shareholders (including those holding through a nominee account) must hold at least 
500 ordinary shares in the Company on the date of booking the holiday and must have been on the register of shareholders for a 
minimum period of one year on that date.

To register for your discount call Equiniti on 0871 384 2030. 
You will be required to provide details to confirm you are an 
eligible shareholder. Once confirmed, you will be given  
a unique code.

Equiniti: Monday to Friday, 0830-1730hrs
To make a booking call us on: 0844 800 3104. You will  
be asked for your unique code and your discount will  
be applied. Bookings Monday to Friday 0900-1800hrs 
Saturday 0900-1700hrs

Share-dealing service
An execution-only share-dealing service for the purchase 
and sale of TUI Travel PLC shares is available from NatWest 
Stockbrokers. NatWest Stockbrokers is authorised and 
regulated by the Financial Services Authority and is a 
member of the London Stock Exchange and PLUS. 

For details, please contact: 
NatWest Stockbrokers
Waterhouse Square, 38-142 Holborn 
London EC1N 2TH
Tel: 0808 208 4433

Find out more
TUI Travel PLC has a corporate website which can be 
accessed through www.tuitravelplc.com

Financial calendar
AGM:  5 February 2009
Interim results:  May 2009
Preliminary results:  November 2009



TUI Travel PLC Annual Report & Accounts 2008132

Further  
Information

Glossary of key terms

AGM
Annual General Meeting

Asset-right
Optimum mix of owned and leased 
assets

B2B
Business-to-Business

B2C
Business-to-Consumer

Bedstock
Accommodation

bn
billion

Business Combination
Merger of Tourism Division of TUI  
AG (excluding certain hotel assets)  
and First Choice Holidays PLC 
completed on 3 September 2007

CGU
Cash Generating Unit

CIS
Commonwealth of Independent States

Controlled distribution
Owned and franchised retail shops,  
call centre and web site

DABS
Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme

Differentiated content
Includes hotels and products that 
have been tailored to offer additional 
services and facilities to our customers

Direct distribution
Retail, call centre and website

EBT
Employee Benefit Trust

EPS
Earnings Per Share

GAS
Group Audit Services

GDP
Gross Domestic Product 

GMB
Group Management Board

JV
Joint Venture

KPIs
Key Performance Indicators

Lates market
8-10 weeks prior to departure

Load factor
Passenger volumes as a percentage  
of capacity

m
million

MOU
Memorandum of Understanding

ODS
Online Destination Services

PSP
Performance Share Plan

RCF
Revolving Credit Facility

ROIC
Return on Invested Capital

RPI
Retail Price Index

SEP
Senior Executive Plan

Sector
Subset of TUI Travel PLC whose 
businesses share similar characteristics, 
these include Mainstream Sector, 
Activity Sector, Specialist & Emerging 
Markets Sector and Online Destination 
Services Sector

Specialist Sectors
The Specialist Sectors are the  
Activity Sector, Specialist & Emerging 
Markets Sector and Online Destination 
Services Sector

Summer season
May to October

TSR
Total Shareholder Return

TUI AG
TUI Travel’s majority shareholder

The Board
TUI Travel PLC Board of Directors

The Group
The TUI Travel PLC Group of 
Companies

The Company
TUI Travel PLC

VCSP
Value Creation Synergy Plan

WACC
Weighted Average Cost of Capital

Winter season
November to April
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of First Choice Holidays PLC and the Tourism 
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has become one of the world’s leading 
international leisure travel groups operating  
in over 180 countries with more than 30 million 
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currently anticipated.
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